o, = | CATHAIR NA MART

Journal of The Westport Historical Society

T

S \

HISTORY IN ITSELF

in IsaY. the late Charles
Hughes started his drapeny

IHI apprenticeship and 1n 1906,

| with £100, he commenced In

{ business under his own name

.| at Lipper Bridge Street.

il! In 1916, he was jailed in

i . Frongoch with his brother,

:; and in 1921 his business and private house were burned by the

Black and Tans. :

Out of a turbulent history and from a small beginning. the
Hughes name has been associated with the [|I,_‘".'-:‘]|;‘:|':|t]‘||:;'_‘i'|l of
Westport for nearly a century.

To-day. our Retail Shop is still at Upper Bridge Street, providing
quality and value — but also to-day, the manufacturing companies
started by Charles Hughes Limited are selling their products into
many different countries.

Charles Hughes Limited is truely a part of the history and success

CHARLES HUGHES
LIVITED

WESTPORT, COUNTY MAYO.
Telephone: (098) 25177 / 25047.
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CLEW BAY BOATING DISASTER
by Kieran Clarke

Darby’s Point, Achill Island, June 14, 1894, Early morning as nearly 400
people gathered on the shore waiting their turn to board the currachs that
would ferry them from the pier to the four hookers at anchor in the channel
In turn the hookers would bring them to Westport and from there the
islanders would make their way by steamer to Glasgow or Liverpool to work
in the fields of Scotland or England.

To understand the reasons for this annual exodus of young islanders, one
must appreciate the extreme poverty which existed in Achill in the last half of
the nineteenth century. In 1894 the Westport correspondent of the Irish Dasly
Independent described the island as . . .

. a stretching patch of bog and barren soil, yielding only stones and
stunted weeds and hemmed in by tall hills, presenting here and there
rocky fronts to the Atlantic and making sunless valleys dark and rugged,
with scarce a vestage of grass - all hard rock - refusing to vield 1o labour
even the smallest return in fruit . . . The starved cattle prowl along the
roadside in search of food, and get more in all probability than their
owners. There are 6,000 people living in the most miserable hovels that
ever sheltered man or woman, worse than many a man builds for his dog
or fowl, getting not a penny, one might say with considerable truth, from
the land for which they neverthless pay rent . . . The villages of Achill
swarm with people living under such conditions. The few fowl, the pig, the
horses, the cow are only a wretched mimicry filling up the scene. They
bring in next to nothing but the Irish peasant will try every means of
turning a penny.'
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Darby's Point, Achill Sound (Photo by K. Clarke).
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This year the need to ‘turn a penny’ was greater than ever before. Two
years earlier the islanders had been in a ‘state of starvation so destitute that
they ate all the potatoes they had for seed and were unable to crop their
lands."?

In 1892, Mr. Balfour, then Chief Secretary, and accompanied by his
sister. had visited the island to ‘see the extent of the poverty at first hand.” As
a result the Seeds Act was framed, ‘under which a Government loan was
granted to the local Poor Law Guardians for the purchase of seed for the
unfortunate islanders. Repayment of the loan was to be made in two years or
at some future time as the Lord Lieutenant might decide. Upwards of £4,000
worth of seed was given in this way, but large quantities of seed failed’
resulting in many local people being unable to meet the repayments. The
Government persistently refused to have the time for repayments extended
and as the money became due ‘the unfortunate people were being harassed by

seizure of crops, milch cows and other belongings.”® Consequently in 1894

they were compelled to seek work in Scotland and England in even larger
numbers than usual. '

At Darby's Point on that Thursday morning, the first hooker to be
loaded was the Victory. Owned by Patrick Sweeney and John Healy, and
crewed by John Healy and his brother Patrick, the Victory appears to have
been the largest of the four hookers bound for Westport on that day. Indeed
next to the ‘monk’s boat’ the Victory at ‘16 Tons burden’ was probably the
largest hooker in Achill at that time.

Patrick Lavelle, who with John Patten crewed ‘Patten’s Hooker’,
watched as the Healy brothers helped the excited young islanders from the
currachs that had ferried them from the shore. Lavelle was later to testify that
‘he did not know how they got room in her’. He himself ‘took a boat load
after that. I said I would take no more but I did not refuse any’.*

The third boat to leave was owned and skippered by James Fadden and
he ‘left Achill the previous morning with about seventy passengers’.” Last to
leave was ‘Kilbane’s hooker’ and as it was weighing anchor at 9 a.m., the
Victory was off Currane and moving towards Mulrany where it would turn
south east for Westport Bay. _

There had been several days of rain and strong winds but the morning of
the 14th was ‘fairly fine with a nice gale blowing’. By mid-day Healy had
rounded the bar at Dorinish, where one witness described the sea as being
‘dead calm’. It was certainly calm enough for Jack Healy and Edward Scanlon
to squeeze between the passengers demanding their 6d. fare. Healy later
claimed to have collected £1-15-0, and thought that about five people had
avoided paying him. This was his method of estimating that the Victory was

cgrry::l:g' ying only 75 passengers, but the police were later to prove that there had
The

sengers on board.
5 _ fare was little in comparison to the 5/- fare from Westport to
Glasgow. Most of the islanders had to borrow this sum from the agent who
had recruited them for the Scottish farmers,"&ut yet as the hooker sailed up

Westport Bay the singing and laughter of the passengers rang across the
waler.

Soon John Healy could see the Laird Line steamer Elm ahead. It had run
aground on ‘the flats’ off Annagh Head. Registered in Glasgow and calling at
Westport on a regular basis, the Elm was unloading part of its cargo into a
lighter. On board was Captain Carswell, his crew, pilot Thomas Gibbons and
a number of men under stevedore Michael O'Malley.

It was now nearly 1.00 p.m. and as the Victory approached from the
west, a rowing boat carrying teenagers Edward O'Malley and Thomas Burke
was approaching from the opposite direction with a message for Captain
Carswell. In 1957, Edward O'Malley, then 80 years of age, recalled . . .

. . we had tied up our boat to the lighter and had boarded the steamer
where we were watching the transfer of part of the cargo 1o the lighter
[which was owned by Anthony Gill]. The sound of the singing attracted us
and we casually watched the approach of the hooker. All of a sudden as it
came nearer, it changed its course and we were struck almost lifeless as we
saw it capsize.®

Edward Cannon, one of the passengers on board the Victory described
what had happened.

| We| were coming along and had reached about half a mile from Westport
Quay, where the Glasgow steamer was anchored. A lot of those on board
were young things who had never seen a steamer before, and they stood
up. Healy ordered them to sit down several umes, but they all pushed to
one side to see the steamer. There was a number of people down in the
hold . . . He [John Healy] told them several times to sit down. They were
all standing up. He told them to sit down that ‘the boat was going to jibe.’
The wind was coming ahead of her. The boom and the sail brought the
boat over, and it went down in a sudden way, so that he did not know
what happened after. The boom did not carry any of the people over but it
caused the boat to go on it’s side.”

On the Elm, Edward O'Malley saw what happened:

. . at first glance, we were able to see that when the mast struck the
water, the mainsail and jib had imprisoned under them several of the poor
islanders. The water was a struggling screaming mass of human beings.
Some were grabbing their companions in order to iry and save
themselves; but the inevitable result was they were dragging one another
underncath. [Tom Burke] and I quickly recovered from our initial shock
and within a minute or two we had jumped into our boat and pulled away
from the steamer to help in the rescue operations. We kept hauling as
many as we could out of the water and into our beat, while several others
clung to the gunwhales. In a few moments, our boat was packed with
water-sodden people — men and woinen — we must have had over two
dozen of them. In the excitement we did not realise that we were near to
providing a further tragedy, for with our super-cargo and those clinging on
to the sides, the water was pouring over the gunwhales and the boat was
nearly awash. Fortunately a stevedore on the steamer was quick to realise
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our plight, and jumping into a boat he pulled over to us and took off some
of those on_our boat as well as those clinging to the side.®
The stevedore, Michael O'Malley, ‘would have gone down toe*as in the
space of a few minutes his ‘boat was in a very bad mess and she was filling’.*
He in turn was saved by John Gibbons, Innishlyre, whose boat had been
coming up the bay Y mile behind the hooker and who arrived at the scene
with the crew of the steamer in four of their boats coming close behind him.
Edward O'Malley continues, . . .

. . . [ saw some of the sailors try to release some of the unfortunate victims
who were imprisoned beneath the sails, and though they were successful
in extricating a few who were caught near the sail edges, they were
powerless — as everybody clse was - to release the others owing to the
weight of the sodden sails and the pressure of water. | remember looking
in that direction while we were rescuing others, and I could see the heads
of the submerged ones being pressed up against the sails in their brief but

vain struggle for survival. The bulge of each head in the sail reminded me
then of a football.™®

Edward O'Malley and Tom Burke rowed their load of survivors to
Westport Quay. Both were later rewarded with the gold medal of the Royal
Humane Society.

Michael O'Malley made for Rosmalley with his load, only to return again
to help the sailors bring the remaining survivors to the Elm, where according
to James Robertson, mate of the Elm, ‘three of the passengers who were
taken out of the water were believed to be dead, but by the efforts of the
steward of the steamer [Mr. Taylor] and Captain Carswell, they were
resuscitated.’ He added ‘the great bulk of the passengers on board the hooker
were girls and the remainder, with one or two exceptions, were young men.’

By now, more boats had arrived from Westport Quay to assist the
sailors. James Robertson continues . . .

. . We next commenced to take out the dead. Eighteen were taken out of
the hold. We did not get any out of the forecastle. When we took off those
who were clinging to the hull the hooker righted a little, and we were able
to get at the dead bodies in the hold with the boat-hooks. When we came
alongside first the sails were nearly below the water, and the belief is that
none of the ngers who were hanging on to the hooker, or who were
in the water free of the hooker were drowned.

News of the tragedy reached Westport. The first rumour was that a
hooker had been overturned by the cable of a steamer at anchor in Westport
Bay. Crowds hurried to the Quay anxious to obtain information of the
disaster, only to find when they reached there, boat after boat, at intervals,
bringing up the bodies which had been recovered. ‘Language fails utterly to
picture the almost indescribable horror of the scene. Tenderly and carefully
the bodies were removed from the boats to the slip near the Demesne . . .

Inside an hour and a half from the time of the occurrence — a little before
twelve o'clock — ‘eighteen bodies were recovered, a considerable number of

them being women — some young, and a few advanced in years.' The bodies
were moved to “one of the stores adjacent to the police barracks, but as others
arrived it was found that it did not afford sufficient accommodation for all,
and the store adjoining had to be forced open_ where one half of the bodies
were placed.’"* -

The hundreds of Achill people who hiad come in the other boats awaited
the H;TWEI' of the corpses. “As fond relatives were rcc:}gniﬁu:] the wailing rent
the air and the scene was heartrending.”® These islanders who had survived
remained walking the quay, watching intently the incoming boats, ‘weeping
and ringing [sic] their hands disconsolately.'"™ :

Stories and rumours of heroism passed from group to group. One such
story was that of the young man who had been pulled into a rescuing boat, but
on seeing his sister in danger, plunged into the water, seized his sister’s shawl
with his teeth and sank with her, only for both of them to be subsequently
rescued by another boat. )

By evening twelve more bodies had been added to the eighteen
previously found, making *a total of thirty corpses now lying in the improvised
dead-house at Westport Quay.” One of these had been found early in the
evening by the constabulary boat. Six were found by the Rosminna
coastguards and four by Clew Bay islanders who had hauled the scene of the
wrecks with grappling hooks.

Of the twelve now recovered, eight were female, none of whom ‘appears
to have been more than eighteen years old, amongst them a child of not more
than eight years who was on a visit from Scotland with some friends . . .
Amongst the males is a poor old man whom dire necessity alone could have
pulled from his home in Achill to earn wages in the harvest fields of
Scotland.'"

A relief committee had been quickly formed under the chairmanship of
Mr. P. J. Kelly, chairman of the Board of Guardians. He enlisted the help of
A. M. O'Malley, J.P., Mr. Horne, the Resident Magistrate, P. J. Dons,
assistant clerk of the Union, local clergy and many other prominent Westport
people, including Myles Stauton who became the hon. sec. of the committee.

P. J. Doris was given the responsibility of getting survivors in need of
medical assistance to Westport Hospital. A. M. O’Malley wired Mr. Tatlow,
manager of the Midlands Great Western Railway Company, asking if it would
be possible to have the bodies conveyed en the new and as yet unopened
railway line from Westport to Achill Sound. Mr. Tatlow in his reply offered to
put on a special train, but only as far as Newport, as the remainder of the line
had not yet been handed over to his company. This problem was overtome
when Mr. Horne dispatched a mounted policeman to Newport to persuade
the engineers there to allow the train to travel on to Achill.

By now large numbers of Achill people were arriving in Westport on foot
and in carts. Many remained walking about Westport all through Thursday
night ‘crying pitifully’.

The following morning saw a group of women ‘in scarlet home spun



petticoats and coloured kerchiefs crowded around the entrance to a yardway
on the quay at Westport. Without tears, without vehement gesticulation, they
sobbed a mournful wirrasthrue,"®
Later that day the Elm would set sail for Glasgow carrying 160 of the
islanders but first Mr. P. J. Kelly, the Coroner opened the_inguest on the
bodies that had been recovered.
In a large vard owned by Mr. McBride and Mr. Gill, 31 of the bodies lay
in plain deal cottins, the hd in each case being labelled with the name of
the person whose remains it contained. The relatives of the victims were
gathered about, some of them in silent grief, others wailing pitifully at the
loss of their loved ones. The spectacle conveyed a very sad impression.
The jury having been sworn, the Coroner, [Mr. Kelly] went through the
process of identification. Accompanied by the jury he passed from coffin to
coffin. As each lid was removed friends or relatives of the deceased were
called forward to identify them. Next they proceeded to an adjoining
outhouse, where nine bodies still lay uncoffined, the coffins for them not
having yet arrived. Here a similar system of identification was gone through.
“The process led to renewed scenes of grief.” The Coroner and jury then
moved to “Mrs. McBride’s establishment® where the inquest was continued. A
few witnesses having been examined, the police requested a postponement on
the grounds that they expected to be in a position to produce further evidence
on the following day. The Coroner adjourned the inquest for seven days."”

View in Clew Bay, Co. Mayo. (From a Lawrence Photograph).

Later that evening, all the bodies having been coflined they were moved
to the railway station at Westport Quay, loaded in wagons and sent to the
town station. Here it was announced that the train to Achill would leave at
10.18 a.m. the following morning, Saturday, and ‘long before the hour for
starting, the poor Achill people assembled at the Westport railway station,
most of them showing signs of the great mental strain which they had suffered
during the past few days.”' :

By ten o'clock news arrived that two additional bodies had been found
An inquest the following Monday would identify them as Joseph Cooney,
aged 18 of Bleanaskill, and Patrick Cafferkey, also aged 18, of Tonragee, but
on board the train now were the bodies of:-
Catherine Molloy, aged 30, of Achill Sound, who left behind a husband and
an aged mother and father.
Nancy and Martin Cooney, aged 20 and 15, sister and brother of Joseph
Cooney.
Sisters Mary (24), Margaret (18) and Annie (15) Malley, the Valley, whose
father Owen Malley was now childless.
75 year old Patrick O'Donnell and 20 year old Margaret O'Donneil of
Derreens. Margaret was dumb, as was her sister who had remained at home.
Brother and sister John and Mary Patten, aged 18 and 20, from Shraheens.
Their crippled father was left to mourn them. |
Mary Patten, 18, of Newillin, who was going to Scotland to provide for her
mother and five other children. o _
10 year old Mary McFarland from Scotland. Mary had been living with
relatives in Achill and was returning to her widowed mother in Glasgow. She
was a cousin of Patrick Cafferkey of Tonragee.
Mary Scanlon, 28, of Shraheens, who left behind her stepmother —a very old
and feeble woman. :
14 year old Mary Ann Lavelle, Shraheens, the oldest of a familv of seven
children. - A
Joseph and Bridget Weir, aged 18 and 15 from The Valley who left an invalid
father, their mother and six younger children. |
Bridget Lynchehan, 20, Shraheens, who left her father and six young
children. o~ . .
Thomas Caffrey, aged 37, of Belfarsad. His wife and 8 children had remained
in Achill. i
Both parents and two sisters of Bridget McLoughlin, 24, of Derreens, were
still alive. : ;
Catherine Gallagher of Currane, aged 17, left a widowed mother and several
younger children.
Sibby Quinn of Achill Sound was 15 years of age.
Honor Patten of Shraheens, was aged 20 and was the daughter of a farmer.
Mary Doogan of Dereens, was 40 and was the wife of a blind fiddler and

mother of 2 children.



Catherine Walsh was also aged 40 and had been living in Bleanaskill with her

married brother.

Winnie McAneely, aged 16, was also from Bleanaskill. Her mother had died
. only two weeks previously.

Sibby McAneely of Bleanaskill was aged 34. Sibby had been the sole support

of her bedridden mother.

Bridget Joyce, aged 18, of Tonragee West, was the eldest of 5 children.

19 year old Mary Cooney was also from Tonragee. Her two brothers had also

been on the Victory and were saved.

Honor English, aged 16, from Rosturk, was daughter of Martin English, and

was going to Scotland with her cousin Catherine English from Achill Sound.

Catherine was rescued.

Patrick Cafferkey of Belfarsad was 18, and was identified as a batchelor and

labourer.

John Healy was at the station when the train moved out at 10.30. The

touching. The coffin was placed on a bier in the centre of the road. The
immediate relatives lay prostrate upon it weeping frantically while other

knelt round weeping and praying. The people are wretchedly poor . .

Through Pollranny townland where some of the victims resided.
crowds followed the train weeping piteously.

At Achill Sound, which we reached at 2 o'clock, the whole country
round was biack with people. The' cries which rent the air, and the scene
generally was appalling. The train stopped amidst a large crowd who on
every side surrounded it. Relieving Officer Lavelle had a large number of
carts ready to convey the bodies to the cemetery. Each survivor on leaving
the train was embraced by relatives. The relatives of the vichims were
frantic with grief and rent the air with their sad cries . . .

It would be quite impossible even for the most disinterested
bystander to witness the scene unmoved. As each coffin was removed Mr.
Grey, jun. announced the name on the lid, and this was followed by a cry
of woe from the respective knots of relatives who composed the crowd.

Irish Independent records that . . .

- . . the police thought it prudent to prevent the Healys attending the
funeral to Achill at it was feared, considering the excited state of the

Black flags marked the way across the Davitt Bridge and along the route
to Kildownet Cemetery. All 28 coffins having arrived they were laid in the
graves as the prayers for the dead were read.

people, that they would not be safe in doing so. There was, however, little
necessity for the precaution, as the relatives of the deceased who attended
the inquest do not appear to attach any blame to John Healy or his
brother. A rumour has been circulated that the former, who is half owner
of the boat, the other owner being Patrick Sweeney senr., lies in a very
serious condition at the residence of Mr. Myles Staunton, James St. and it
is stated that he has been attended by a priest and a doctor."

Healy's condition was not however as serious as reported. He ‘was seized
with a fainting fit, was promptly attended by Father Macken and after about
three quarters of an hour had almost recovered,’*®

As the train arrived in Newport, a large crowd gathered on the platform
and expressed ‘great sympathy with the afflicted relatives, most of whom are
in a weak and dejected state.” ‘Old man English, who was examined at the
inquest and whose young daughter is amongst the dead had a severe fainting
fit and was in a very weakly condition. Mr. Myles Staunton of the Relief
Committee luckily had a flask of brandy of which the old man took a little.’

The train proceeded to Rosturk where the body of Honor English was
removed from the train. ‘Fathers Connolly and Fitzgerald got out of the train
and gave the poor relatives all the consolation they could.’

The Mayo News describes how as the train got under way . . .

. . . large numbers of people were on the banks — kneeling with joined
hands - evidently in prayer. Crowds followed the train, which moved
slowly, inquiring for relatives and weeping bitterly. At Molranny a vast
number of people had assembled and on the arrival of the train there was

a loud cry of sympathy with the relatives . . .
~ On reaching Tonragee, six miles from Rossturk, the coffin of Mary
' was removed for internment in the cemetery of that
neighbourhood. The sight from the train after the removal was most

A thick mist had begun to fall some time before. The brightness of the
early part of the day had been succeeded by a gloomey foggy mistiness
which tended to deepen the sadness of the scene . . . As the first shovelfuls
of earth fell upon the coffins, the wild lamentations of the people burst out
anew. Shortly afterwards the rain fell more heavily, and a fierce storm
arose and the wind shricking over the mountain sides and along the
valleys of Achill seemed to wail in sympathy with the poor sorrow-laden

Kildownet Cemetery, Achill Sound. (Photo by K. Clarke).



The bodies of Patrick Cafferkey and Joseph Cooney arrived by ‘open
carriage’ on the following Tuesday — Cafferkey to be buried at Tonragee,
while Cooney was laid to rest beside his brother and sister at Kildownet.

At Westport Quay the Victory had by now been refloated and was
berthed close to the Idle Wall. *“Westport quay has now resumed its normally
quiet aspect, and the only evidence of the late terrible disaster is the many
little torn shawls, baskets, and numerous odds and ends, which are to be seen
strewn along the pier.*?

The inquest on all 32 victims was resumed on Friday, 22 June. The
verdict was that . ..

. . we consider that the deceased were drowned abreast of Islandrue in
the county of Mayo on the 14th June, 1894, by the capsizing of the hooker
“Victory™ and which said hooker was in charge of John Healy and we
consider the capsizing took place by the passengers on board rushing to
the side of the hooker nearest to the steamship “Elm”. We consider that
the hooker was not properly ballasted when she left Achill and we
consider that the hooker was grossly overcrowded.*

Of the 126 passengers on board, 94 had been rescued.

It was not long before the shocked inhabitants of Westport were to again
assist in another sad inquest. On 1 November 1895 five children aged between
8 and 16, and the sons of Patrick Kelly and Joseph Kelly of Islandmore were
drowned while fishing in Clew Bay.

APPENDIX 1

THE ACHILL DISASTER
(Irish Weekly Independent, 23 June 1894)

.
The further investigation into the circumstances of the sorrowful Achill
fatality has not led to the disclosure of any new facts, and although the
Coroner’s inquiry has not yet terminated, its result may be anticipated with
some approach to accuracy. The boat that proved a death-trap to so many was
evidently overladen, and at a critical moment there was some
mismanagement, or error of judgment, on the part of those in charge. What is
even more appalling than the tale of death is the revelation of life on Achill
Island which the evidence discloses. The poor people who were migrating to
Scotland to gather in Scotch harvests were driven to quit their own little crafts
by what a benevolent Liberal Chief Secretary lovingly termed “the pinch of
hunger”. They should go to Scotland to earn the landlords’ rent and the seed
rate, and all the other rates that an ameliorative British government imposes
upon the very poor Irish for the benefit of British officials and the welfare of
the British Empire. Otherwise they would be evicted by due process of law,
or the bailifs would be upon them, and, in one way or another the mysterious
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thing called *the law™ — which is to the Irish peasant another name for his own
undoing — would rl‘ﬂ'*“: them in its claws, Thus young and old cross the seas to
earn by hard toil in the fields of Great Britain the wherewithal to satisfy the
demands of those who levy toll upon the peasant, and perchance to save up as
well a few extra shillings for the comfort of the old people who, being beyond
their labour have made their last trip over the water and must stav at home.
Boys of fifteen and one little girl of ten were amongst the victims of the
disaster. We say advisedly that even il landlords must go without their rack-
rents, and even if Governments be embarrassed by the consequences thereof,
this white slavery must be brought to an end. It is a barbarous, demoralising,
infamous traffic — and heavy is the responsibility that lies upon those who
should have checked it but failed to do so. For the present, however, the
survivors of the disaster and the families of those who have perished, and who
have in many cases lost the rent-earners. claim the sympathy and help of the
public. A fund has been started for the purpose of aiding those who have been
reduced to distress, and we publish to-day a letter from the High Sheriff of
Mayo inviting assistance. No words of ours are needed to commend this
timely appeal to the support of the benevolent amongst us.

An inquest was held to-day on the bodies of the thirty unfortunate
people who lost their lives through the accidental capsising of Jack Healy's
hooker in the harbour of Westport yesterday forenoon. Amoungst those
present were: Mr. J. J. Louden, Mr. Joseph McBride, Secretary Harbour
Commissioners; Capt. Horne, R.M.; District Inspector Hume. Father
Fitzgerald, C.C.; Father Nicholson, C.C. etc.

Edward Cannon, sworn and examined by the coroner, deposed that he
knew Bridget Weir and had identified her body. She was about 15 years of
age. He also identified the bodies of Joseph Weir, about 18 years of age; of
Mary Malley, Anne Malley, and Margaret Malley. aged 24, 15, and 18
respectively. Witness was a passenger on board the hooker which left Achill
about 8 o’clock on Thursday morning to come to Westport quay. and thence
to proceed to Glasgow. The day was fine. There was a nice gale. Coming over
the bar there was a dead calm. They were coming along, and had reached
about half a mile from Westport Quay, where the Glasgow sieamer was
anchored. A lot of those on board were young things who had never seen a
steamer before, and they stood up. Healy ordered them to sit down several
times, but they all pushed to one side to see the steamer. There were a
number of people down in the hold. John Healy was in charge of the hooker,
and was steering her at the time. He told them several times to sit down. They
were all standing up. He told-them to sit down, that “the boat was going 1o
gibe”. The wind was coming ahead of her. The boom of the sail brought the
boat over, and it went down in a sudden way, so that he did not know what
happened after. The boom did not carry any of the people over, but it caused

the boat to go on its side.
By a Juror — There were about 100} passengers aboard.



To the Coroner — The boat went on its side; then his feet were in the
hold, and he made his escape by catching hold of the boom. He went on the
side of the boat, and was picked up by the boats of the Glasgow steamer.

By a Juror — He did not think the boat was overlaoded when he was
leaving. The boat left from Darby’s Point. He did not know if Healy loosened
the sheet when he was going to jibe. As far as he knew nobody remarked
when they were starting that the boat was overcrowded. —

To another Juror — He was not a connection of the Healys. He could not
say if the boat would have jibed properly if it had been ballasted sufficiently.

John Gallagher, Currown, deposed that he knew Mary Patton whose
body he identified. He believed she was less than twenty years of age. He also
identified Patrick Cafferkey and Catherine Gallagher. Witness travelled by
Jack Healy's hooker. The hooker, he believed, belonged to Patrick Sweeny,
and was called the Victory. He did not know how many persons were on
board the hooker. Witness was on board the hooker when it capsized. He
believed he was rescued by some of the sailors of the Elm.

To a Juror — He paid Healy sixpence for his passage. The money was
collected about half an hour before the boat capsized. Witness did not know
who was steering the hooker while Healy was collecting the fares.

Patrick O'Donnell identified the bodies of several of the deceased, and
said he travelled by the hooker on which the accident happened. He paid
sixpence for his pasage to Healy less than half an hour before the boat
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capsized. After they passed the Glasgow steamer Healy turned the sail. and
when he was turning the sail the boat turned over. People came up from the
hold to look at the Glasgow boat. but he could not say that they went to one
side of the boat. : ]

By a Juror — They left at nine o'clock. He guessed that there was about a
hundred in the boat. Healy should have had more ballast. If he had known
Healy would have taken the number of passengers he did he would not have

gone on the boat. The people would not have stirred the same as they did if it

were not that Healy went to collect the money.

Healy did tell the people to sit down when he was going to jibe. He could
not have run direct to the quay without jibing,

By another Juror — The Glasgow boat had nothing to do with the
capsizing of the boat. Only for the assistance of the sailors of the Glasgow
boat the entire lot would have been drowned. He heard Healy's brother make
the remark that he was taking too many passengers. -

To District-Inspector Hume — None of those who came on board the
hooker left before it started.

Anthony M’Aneely deposed that he came from Achill in the third
hooker. Jack Healy's hooker was some distance before them. He did not see
the hooker when she was capsized, as the steamer Elm lay between them.
When the hooker on which he was got as far as the steamer he saw Healy's
hooker capsized. It was shouted on board the hooker on which he was that
they should all keep quiet or the same thing would happen them. They took
the sails down and passed on in the direction of the quay. The sailors on the
hooker said if they touched Healy's hooker they would knock off the people
who were clinging to the side and drown them. They saw some of the women
struggling in the water as they were passing.

To a Juror = The hooker on which he was travelling was smaller than
Healy’s. There were about three score passengers on it, but he thought there
were more on Healy's.

Frank Mulloy identified several of the bodies.

Peter Cooney, Tonragee, identified the body of Mary Cooney, who was
his sister. He identified Mary M'Farland, who belonged to Scotland. She
came to Achill last year on a visit to her grandmother at Tonragee. There was
a good deal of knocking about while the fares were being colected on board
the hooker. When Healy was going to jibe he did not lower the sail. He
hauled in the sheet. He (witness) was thrown into the water. He caught hold
of a rope first, and then managed to catch hold of the keel; he was rescued by
one of the boats of the steamer. ] _ :

Anne Macaneilla deposéd she travelled from Achill Sound in Healy's
hooker. When the boat capsized she caught hold of the gunwale. A man who
was overhead pulled her on to the side of the boat. She then jumped into John
Gibbon's boat, and was brought to the quay. ;

Martin English, Rosturk Castle, identifed the body of his daughter,
Honor English, who was aged sixteen. She left his house on Wednesday for

L)



e

the purpose of going to her uncle's house at the Sound in orderghat she might
proceed to Scotland with a first cousin of hers. Witness heard in Achill about
six o'clock last evening of the accident. He saw the body of his daughter this
morning.

James Cafferkey identified the remains of his uncle, Tom Cafferkey.
Witness travelled from Achill yesterday in Patton’s hooker, which left after
Healy's hooker. Witness was under the deck of the hooker, and on coming on
deck he saw Healy's hooker capsized and a number of people struggling in the
water and others clinging to the side. The people on Patton’s hooker were
afraid to come alongside the capsized hooker for fear they should drown the
people who were clinging to it, Patton's hooker went into Westport Quay. He
heard that the people on board the Elm shouted to those on board the hooker
not to go near the capsized hooker.

A Juror — More of them would have been drowned only for the Glasgow
steamer for all the help you gave them.

By the Coroner — There was a boat alongside going to help at the time
the hooker in which witness was passed Jack Healy's hooker.

Owen Walshe identified the remains of his sister Catherine Walsh.

Thomas Joyce identified the body of his sister, Bridget Joyce, aged about
18 years.

Patrick Lavelle identified Sibby Quinn. Healy’s hooker was so crowded
that he did not know how they got room in her. He did not know how many
people were in the boat. He heard some people saying the boat was
overcrowded. He took a boat load after that. He said he would take no more.
but he did not refuse any. If Healy had not collected the money and distrubed
the people he would have got in safely.

John Patten deposed to the identification of Catherine Molloy who, he
stated, was.a married woman. He considered 100 passengers would be the
largest number such a hooker as Healy's should carry. He considered there
should be three tons of ballast on board. On such a fine evening as the
prheuinus evening was he would not lower the sail at all in the operation of
jibbing.

James Fadden deposed that a boat belonging to him left Achill yesterday
morning with about seventy passengers. He was passing the steamer Elm
when he saw Healy's hooker capsize and a number of peole struggling in the
water, and several of them clinging on to the hull, Notwithstanding that he

passed on with his boat, but lowered his sails. He did not try to render any
assistance. He came on to the quay and discharged the passengers.

Will you explain to the jury why you did not render some assistance?
Because I had enough on board my own boat, and could not have given any
assistance. I was going about four and a half knots an hour, and I could not

stop or turn back to give assistance. Even if I had been able to stop it would

not have been safe for the passengers on my boat for me to have attem pted to
have given assistance. When I got to the quay I went back in a small boat, It
was necessary for Healy to gibe at the place he did. The way in which Healy
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gibed on the occasion was not the proper way, to allow the boom to swing
round. | |

John Gibbons, boat owner, farmer, and pilot, deposed that he resided at
Innislyre. Yesterday evening he was coming to Westpori _'m a small boat when
the accident occurred. He was about a quarter of a mile distant when the
hooker capsized. He considered that the mainsail should have been lowered
at the time of the gibing. As soon as he saw the hooker capsized he steered for
it. A boat from the steamer Elm arrived before him. Witness r:,,-:-..i:u:_'d al;:u;n_rl_
22 of the passengers in his boat. He considered that a hooker like Healy's
should carry between 70 and 80 passengers.

To a Juror = With full ballast, he considered 100 passengers too many.
With less ballast it would be still more dangerous. It would not have been
safe, in his opinion, for Fadden’s hooker to have gone to the assistance of _tha.a-
capsized hooker. The captain of the Elm did t:w:r}'th}ng requisite to save life,
and were it not for the steamer being there at the time, a great many more
lives would have been lost.

John Healy, the skipper of the hooker Victory, deposed that he left
Achill yesterday morning. He considered he huc! seventy to seventy-five
passengers on board. The fare he charged was sixpence a head, and the
amount collected was £1 15s. There were about five who did not pay. The
fares were collected when they were about four miles from Westport quay.
The most of the passengers were in the hold at this time. When coming
abreast of the steamer Elm a grey man who was on deck spoke to _1hr:
passengers. Witness did not hear what he said. The passengers at.tlhls :'IT1E
were rushing up from the hold of the hooker, and they went to the side of t ;
hooker next the steamer. He cautioned the perople several times not to rus
to the side. It was the rushing of the people to the side that caused the boal :iﬂ
capsize. The sail went to the side at the same time the hooker capsized.
Witness called to his brother to lower the peak, but he was not able 1© dﬁn sc:r
He had about 4 or 5 tons of stone ballast on board at the time, and about ha
a ton of chains and other ballast. . _

To the Jury — There was no great rush of passengers. When wl:mcss mlaj
taking in the passengers in the morning his brothers told him that they “Tnn
not take any more, and afterhis brother said that he did not take arégdmurt )
board. If there were over a hundred passengers on board witness did no E_.:‘h
the money for them. The position of the steamer Elm did nr;lt mu:]::.l‘trc 'W'I]E
the sailing of the hooker, but if the steamer had not been there - e pe::; °
would not have rushed to the side, and the hooker would not h““hm“r
capsized, There was no check as to the number of pass:enger*s the sl
should take. It was not at all over-crowded at the time, and he cou
carried more. He took one hundred and twenty passengers last ;:srﬂsrtlhn e

Patrick Healy, brother to the last witness, deposed that he 5;1;1 e e
along with John. They had about five tons of ballast and -::Argn. l]:.‘ et
form an idea of the number of passengers on board. He I;I_i{! “E;Ic‘lclfim T
brother against taking any more passengers on board. He to ;



tide was going out, and that they would do with what they had at present,
After he told his brother that he did not take another passenger on board. His
brother collected the fares inside the bar. Witness was steering at the time.
There was not a stir on board the boat while he was collecting. When they
came within a hundred yards of the Glasgow steamer the people were
crowding up to see the boat which they were going to go past. The young girls
were shouting and singing. All that could went on the side of the boat near the
steamer. It was the rush of the people to the side which caused the movement
of the sail. It was not his brother’s intention to jibe. In consequence of the
number of people who were in the boat witness was unable to lower the peak
as his brother requested. He was rescued by one of the steamer’s boats.

By a Juror — He had more people many times before on the boat, She
could carry more than they had on board at the time of the disaster.

The Coroner said the the police were not able to produce any further
witnesses before them that day, and, as the inquiry was an important one, he
thought every light that could be thrown on the affair should be brought to
bear. Unfortunately, the parties who witnessed the circumstance from the
Glasgow steamer sailed in their vessel shortly before the inquiry was opened.
He thought it would not be prudent, considering the importance of the
inquiry, and the number of lives that had been lost, that they should close it
without having all the witnesses the police could produce. If they considered
that the persons on board the Glasgow boat coud throw any light on the
matter he would suggest to them that they should adjourn the inquiry for

another day. No inconvenience could be suffered by the adoption of that
course.

The HE.’IE.!‘}',. Duagh lr"’f.".fagﬂ. Achill Island. (From a Lawrence Photograph),

The foreman said he thought they
had got quite sufficient, and that they
had enough of evidence to decide the
case.

The Coroner thought the inquiry
ought not to be shortened when it was
possible that further light could be
thrown upon the matter.

Another Juror said he would
emphatically protest against an
adjournment.

The Coroner said the police might
be in a position by the next day to
procure further evidence which would
throw additional light on the matter.

Another Juror said there had
been thirty victims of the affair, and he BTy fge
for one would not agree to have the Loading the fated Hooker
matter closed. (From a Lawrence Photograph).

The Coroner — Quite right.

Another Juror said he thought they ought to pay some recognition to the
action of Mrs. McBride and Mr. Hopkins, who had on the previous night
behaved with such disinterested nobility. They should also thank Mr.
Gibbons who had rescued 23 people in his own boat.

It was decided to adjourn the further investigation till 10 o’clock on
Friday, the 29th June.

ANOTHER INQUEST
Westport, Monday Evening.

Mr. P. J. Kelly, Coroner, held an inquest today at Westport touching the
death of Joseph Cooney and Patrick Cafferky (Patk), two more victims of the
terrible disaster in Westport Harbour on Thursday last. Amongst those
present were — Messers J. J. Louden, B.L.; A. M. O'Malley, J.P.; P. J. Kelly,
Chairman of the Board of Guardians; Joseph McBride, Secretary of the
Harbour Commissioners; Myles Staunton. The jury who heard the evidence
at the inquest on Friday last was again sworn, Mr. John Lavelie being
foreman. _

The Coroner, addressing them, said that it would be unnecessary for him
to refer to the depositions that were taken on the last occasion, as the Jurors
were already in possession of the evidence. What he now proposed to Ei.ﬂ was
to take formal evidence of the identification of the two bodies found. Since it
wis imposible for the police to-day to offer them any further evidence on the
matter, it would be necessary to have the evidence of some officials who were
on board the Glasgow steamer on the occasion, and who witnessed the
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unfortunate catastrophe taking place. They would be examined, and would

probably be able to throw some light on the occurrence. They would be
produced at the adjourned inquest on next Friday week as arranged. The
‘police would now produce witnesses to identify the two bodies lying outside,
and he proposed that they also adjourn this inquiry so that they might be in a
position to have all the facts before them when it would be resumed. -

Frank Mulloy, of Breanaskill, deposed that he knew Joseph Cooney, of
Breanaskill, Achill, whose body he had viewed and identified. Witness left
Achill on Thursday last, the 14th June, instant, at about ten o’clock a.m. and
walked round the road to Westport quay, which is a distance of 29 Irish miles.
He intended to go to England to the harvest. When he arrived at Newport he
heard of the capsizing of Jack Healy's hooker, and he then came to Westport
quay. The two brothers Joseph Cooney and Martin Cooney, and their sister,
Nancy Cooney, travelled in Healy's hooker to Westport Quay, and were all
drowned. They were going to Scotland with the object of earning the seed
rate. Nancy was about 20 years of age, Joseph about 19, and Martin 15 or 16
years. Nancy and Joseph had been to England before, but the youngest was
going over for the first time. ;

Mr. Lavelle — Am I not right in stating that some of these people were so
wretchedly poor that some of the English farmers actually sent over passages
to them? Did you hear that?

Witness — I did sir.

Mr Lavelle — Very well; that didn’t come out in evidence on Friday last,

Another Juror — The shopkeepers of Westport also gave them money for
their passages.

Witness, in reply to a Juror, said Joseph Cooney was his brother-in-law.

Patrick Cafferkey deposed that he knew the deceased Pat Cafferkey, of
Tonragee, Achill. He was 18 years of age. He left his (witness’s) house on
Thursday last about eight o’clock in the morning for the purpose of taking a
passage in Jack Healy's hooker to Westport quay, and thence to Glasgow to
earn some money. Witness did not accompany the deceased on the hooker,
There was a niece of his (witness's), who came home on a visit to him from
Scotland about two years ago, also in Jack Healy's hooker. She was on her
way home to her mother, who lives in Glasgow, and she also was drowned.
She was only ten years of age, and was going to Scotland to try to get
something to work at.

The Coroner said the police were not able to offer any further evidence.
The officials of the Glasgow steamer would be able to throw some further
light on the matter, and he thought the inquiry should be adjourned in order
that the whole matter nfight be properly investigated.

Mr. Lavelle thought, as foreman of the jury, Mr. Moran being absent,
that it was his duty to thank the Coroner for the impartial manner in which he
had conducted the inquiry to its present stage. Great credit was also due to
Sergeant Moliseed, for all those who witnessed his conduct and that of the
constables under him could not but testify to the kind and humane manner in
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which they performed the last duties to the dead. He also included Mr.
Hume, D.1., in his observations,

The Coroner acknowledged the complimentary terms in which the
foreman had referred to him. He added that he had received the greatest
assistance both from Mr. Hume and from the active a2nd efficient Sergeant
Moliseed, who was indefatigable in his exertions from the time the
catastrophe took place up to the present time. He also acknowledged the
services of Mr. Hume, and said they were greatly indebted to Mrs, McBride
for leaving her room at their disposal.

Mr. Lavelle said they should not forget the services of Mr. A. M.
O'Malley, J. P. and those of the men of the Glasgow steamboat on the
occasion.

The Coroner then adjourned the inquiry.

At about twelve o'clock noon the remains of Patrick Cafferkey and
Joseph Cooney were conveyed on cars to Ballycroy and Achill, respectively,
where the interment will take place. The funeral was attended by the
members of the Distress Fund Committee, and a large number of the
respectable inhabitants of Westport.
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THEOBALD DILLON,
A NEWCOMER IN SIXTEENTH-CENTURY MAYO
by Bernadette Cunningham

In the late sixteenth century, the Gaelic and Gaelicised inhabitants of the
recently formed county of Mayo had to come to terms with an increased
number of newcomers to their territory. By and large, prior to the
establishment of the Connacht presidency in 1569, Mayo had been beyond
the range of interest of the English in Ireland. However, by the 1580s,
newcomers to the county were present in increasing numbers. Some of these
men held office as sheriffs, justices of the peace, or even as collectors of
Composition rent. The newcomers to Mayo were a diverse group. Some were
from Old English families in the Pale, usually younger sons; others were New
Englishmen, often former soldiers in the service of the Crown of Ireland.

There were two contrasting elements in the motives which brought these
men to Mayo. One reason for establishing links with Mayo was the promotion
of the interests and objectives of the Crown through the provincial and county
administrative structures. The second reason was the pursuit of private gain,
The newcomers cannot, hewever, be divided into two distinct groups along
these lines, for in fact the two sometimes contradictory motives were often
subsumed in the same person. When the interests of the Crown coincided
with their own interests, the newcomers to Connacht played the role of loyal
subjects of Queen Elizabeth; when those interests conflicted, the distance
from London, in an age of extremely poor means of communication, could
prove very convenient indeed.

English officials who came to sixteenth-century Connacht were not
arriving to set up government in a vacuum, rather they were attempting to
super-impose a new form of government on a society which had previously
operated under its own rather different system. In practice, even where
English Crown proposals for the government of the western part of Ireland
had been worked out in -any detail, the means of implementing these
proposals had to be worked out at local level, by local officials reaching what
accommodations they could with the native population. There was both
conflict and collusion between native and newcomer. The attempt to fuse two
different political, economic, legal, social and cultural systems was not easy,
but it is around ‘this attempted fusion that the history of sixteenth century
Ireland revolves.:

. ‘\‘ I
One approach'to the analysis of the interaction between the different
communities is to examine the activities of the brokers between those
communites at local level. One man who played the role of broker between
native and newcomer in Mayo was Theobald Dillon, a younger son of a well-
connected Old English family in the Fale. A man with a legal education, but
few prospects, Dillon came to Mayo about 1580 apparently for want of

<omething better to do. He worked on behalf of the provincial presidency as
;;.}H;:::tur of Composition rent for many years, but it is clear that he also
worked on his own behalf since by the 1620s he had title to a large quantity of
land in Mayo, and hi!itl :Ii.'qll.'l_n:{i the title of Viscount Dillon.' Much of that
land had been the territory of the MacCostellos in the sixteenth century. In a
manner which few contemporaries understood clearly, the MacCostellos
became Dillon’s tenants on their own lands in the transitional period, when
legal title to the land was being l:lﬂltﬂ'-!lhln:{l under lhr:_ English system of land
tenure. Previously, under the native system, the land in the lordship had been
the property of, and shared among, the MacCostello kin group. _

In his role as Connacht President, Sir Richard Bingham was rightly
suspicious of the activities of Dillon in the barony of Costello. In 1588
Bingham reported that:

If Dillon had his nght and no more than he ought to have, he should not
have any one foot of land in all ClanCostello, for what he hath there he
hath gotten by practising, and by very indirect ways, from the inhabitants
there in the time of the collectorship, when he did what he list.*

As late as 1596, Bingham expressed ignorance of how exactly Dillon had
acquired possession of such a large territory.”

A second curiosity is that when an agreement was reached with the
native lords and freeholders of most Connacht lordships in 1385, to pay
Composition rent to the €rown in place of previous ad hoc exactions and in
return for protection, the barony of Costello was omitted. Again few officials
at the time could understafid what had happened, but they complamned that
Dillan had by ‘excellent cunning purchased the whole barony of Clancostillo .
. . [and] by his means the whole country at the time of the Composition was
omitted out of our survey’.*

The question arises over these two issues, as to whether Dillon was
engaged in underhand dealing towards the MacCostellos, or subsequently
towards the Composition commissioners appointed by the Crown, or both.
Or was there another explanation of this rather curious situation?

Fundamentally what was at issue was the question of landownership. The
system of ownership, occupation and inheritance of land was central to the
way any pre-industrial society worked, and a transformation of that system,
such as was under way in late sixteenth-century Connacht was bound to have
far reaching implications. During the period of transition which extended
over several generations, the occupiers of the land had to come to terms with
a new set of legal and economic realities. Thus, as the right to own or occupy
land gradually came to be seen to depend on adherence to the regulations of
the English legal system, then a man who wished 1o sustain himself or his
;qmlilyhgli?up had to learn to use that system, or depend on a broker to act on

15 behalf.



The MacCostellos had traditionally occupied a territory on the eastern
periphery of the lordship of MacWilliam lochtar, the barony of Costello being
the easternmost barony of the county of Mayo, bordering on Roscommon.
The Composition Commissioners in 1585 described the territory in terms of
‘the hard passage of travel thither, by means of the great bogs, woods, moors
and mountains, and other evil ways in and to the said barony’. It was ‘barren
amongst the most barren . . . standing in so discommodious a place . . . [that
it] can hardly be brought about to be peopled with civil inhabitants’.® Clearly
the territory that so interested Theobald Dillon was not every newcomer's
idea of utopia.

The connection between Dillon and Mayo begins in the early 1580s,
when there are curious reports among the records of the central
administration, to the effect that the inhabitants of the territory of
MacCostello have given Theobald Dillon a great portion of land there, along
with the castle of Castlemore. The then president of Connacht, Sir Nicholas
Malby supplied one of these reports saying:

The possessor of a large but poor territory, MacCostello, by surname
Nangle, claims to be allied to the Dillons and had called out of the English
Pale, Tibbot Dillon . . . and given him with the consent of all his kinsmen,

. as a free gift, a great portion of his land with a fair ancient castle called
Castlemore, which stands in a place the Scots must have passed when they
came from the north into MacWilliam’s country.®

Malby went on to explain that Theobald Dillon, somewhat to his cost,
had accepted the offer of land in order to promote civil government in Mayo,
rather than be idle at home. The president considered Dillon to be *honest
and valiant’ and considered his enterprise ‘most commendable and necessary
an inducement to others to do likewise’. It was clearly advantageous from the
point of view of the provincial administration, to have men like Dillon who
could be office holders in the localities, to help promote peace and stability
among the native community who had little experience of the working of
English law. Consequently Malby had no reservations about recommending
Dillen for the office of sheriff. But it was clear from the beginning that Dillon,
like most of his fellow necomers, had come to Connacht to promote his own
interests as well as those of the Crown. He expressed a wish to establish an
enterprise in Mayo which would allow his posterity a stake there, a wish
which was realised rather more successfully than he himself could have
envisaged on arrival.’

]
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Dillon’s post as collector ofghe Composition rent in Connacht would
have brought him into contact with the local elite throughout the province,
and this coupled with his Old English background and legal education, would
have ensured that he.had a thorough knowledge of both the workings of the
various Connacht lordships and the New English administration in Ireland.

To the gentlemen and freeholders of Mayo he would have been clearly
identifiable as a middleman between them and the provincial president. This
did not necessarily make life any easier for him, however. In 1583 he related
that having collected rents in Tyrawley he proceeded . . .
. . . towards the place where MacWilliam was, who met me and his wife
Grainne Ni Mhaille with all their force. and did swear they would have my
life for coming so far into their country, and specially his wife would fight
with me before she was half a mile near me.
He left apparently without collecting any rent on that occasion.®
From glimpses such as these one can appreciate the dilemma of
newcomers to Mayo in the late sixteenth century. For these men who were
not only acting as agents of the Crown in Mayo, but also intended creating a
livelihood there for themselves and their families, antagonising the native
population was no way to ensure personal advancement, or even to stay alive.
John Browne of the Neale died at the hands of the Mayo Burkes in 1589, and
another newcomer, John Newton, who described himself as one of the first
Englishmen in Connacht, had his property burned and spoiled by the native
population, even though he claimed that the land on which he settled had
previously been waste land. In times of crisis, the newcomers could be in a
vulnerable position, and indeed at the end of the century Theobald Dillon’s
property was the object of attack from various factions of the Mayo Burkes
during the course of the nine years' war.” In this context, when, for instance
one Thomas Roe Burke was slain in 1586 by a sub-sheriff in Mayo acting on
the instructions of Sir Richard Bingham, the Connacht president, and a
rebellion threatened, it was not.just the Mayo Burkes who were disturbed. It
appears that such an intervention by the president into local affairs in Mayo
was a matter of serious concern to Theobald Dillon, and to Francis Barkley,
the Provost Marshall of Connacht. Sir Richard Bingham, though-apparently a
biased observer, offered some perceptive comments on the episode:
This man thus slain was nothing missed, nor much lamented - no not even
by his own kindred - only it misliked most Francis Barkley, provost
marshall of this province, and Theobald Dillon, collector of her Majesty’s
compaosition rents, for those men had gotten in those parts horses and
hackneys and great store of land of many the lewd and ill-disposed

persons there, upon conditions to maintain them in all their causes, which
. . . they were daily in hope to augment and increase.'®

Bingham went on to explain that after some of the Burkes had gone into
rebellion, Barkley and Dillon, ‘the better to win credit with the ill-qualified
and to bring their purposes to pass’, promised ‘that they would repair to
Dublin and procure their pardons, which as they said would be easily
obtained'. The newcomers were offering their services as brokers between the
Tﬂhﬂl:& and the government. The most acceptable explanation for this, and
certainly for the reported actions of Dillon and Barkley in the aftermath of
this event, is that these two newcomers had set themselves up in the role of
Protectors of the natives of south east Mayo. They then set out to prove to the
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local population that they were worthy of their self appointed role. As 1
turned out, the lord deputy, Sir John Perrott, did not grant pardons to the
Burkes on the basis of Dillon’s and Barkley’s interventions, but the fact that
they believed he might was itself significant."’

A further aspect of Dillon’s role as broker can be discerned from a
document purporting to be a ‘True Discourse’ of the rebellion of the Burkes
in 1586. Written from the standpoint of the Mayo Burkes, but apparently

" masterminded by Dillon and Barkley, the ‘rebels’ case is presented in a
comprehensive seven page document in English. Interestingly, none of the
signatories, who included the man being chosen as MacWilliam, Edmund
Burke Mac Richard an larann, were able to sign their names to the
document. They were all illiterate. Clearly they needed an intermediary to
represent them in their dealings with the English administration, which
placed an emphasis on written documents which would not have been usual in
Gaelic Ireland."

In the case of the 1586 rebellion in Mayo, as in many other episodes,
Theobald Dillon was operating at two levels. The other element of this
episode was the antagonism between Dillon and Sir Richard Bingham.
Bingham was convinced that Dillon and Barkley would be successful in their
application to the lord deputy, ‘for that the lord deputy loved not me and
would do anything to crogs and disgrace me’."

Meanwhile, in Dublin, Henry Wallop, clearly an opponent of the Perrott
faction, considered that the lord deputy, Perrott, paid too much heed to
Barkley and Dillon, at Bingham's expense, and added ‘I think rather it is for
the evil will he beareth to Sir Richard’." There was little any one could do to
control the activities of men like Barkley and Dillon, as they played one
faction off against another. Their activities were viewed differently by
different observers. In 1581 Lord Deputy Grey reported that Theobald Dillon
was content to inhabit that ‘barbarous corner only to do good among the
savage people’."® Shortly afterwards however, it was reported that Dillon was
one of several newcomers operating in Mayo in collusion with ‘many . . . ill-
disposed persons there to maintain them in all their causes’.'® Later criticism
was even more severe with Sir Richard Bingham reporting that . . .

. . . he is as dangerous a man and as great a dissembler as any can be, a
 great extortioner, a favourer of rebels and malefactors, and one that hath
been driven to his pardon for matters of treason”."”

This description of a newcomer was offered by a man who-had earlier
advocated the establishment of Englishmen on land in Mayo, arguing that
‘the better the country is so established, the more quiet and civil it shall be’ g
When the case brought by Dillon against Sir Richard Bingham was heard,
Bingham was acquitted, an%it was deemed that he had opposed Bingham ‘for
vexation and dishke he hatffto his government there, than for any probable
just cause or matter’.'” The antagonism between Dillon and Bingham only
subsided after the departure of Perrott from the office of Lord Deputy in May
1585. . 1

Il

For the MacCostello clan, however, Theobald Dillon was the most
conveniently available broker to act on their behalf, and his negotiations with
the Composition cOMMISSIONETS when they belatedly dealt with Costello
barony in 1587, shows how shrewdly he could deal with the provincial
qdministration and the Crown. Conveniently perhaps for Dillon, Sir Richard
Bingham was temporarily absent from the province when he negotiated a deal
with the Composition CDmmiESiﬂ_nf:Im which conceded that the inhabitants
were only to be charged Composition rent on 83 of the 275 quarters of land
surveyed. Sir Richard Bingham happened to have stopped over in Chester on
his way to London when he discovered, to his great anger, that Theobald
Dillon was also in town and was on his way to court. Dillon was on his way to
seek acceptance of the revised survey of the barony, which reduced the
amount to be paid to the Crown in Composition rent by £100 per ann#m._and
which left much of the land which he held free of Composition rent. Dillon
clearly spared no effort in time or travel in implementing his plans for the
territory he claimed in Costello barony. The advantage to be gained was that
land left free of Composition rent was most attractive to potential tenants. In
this way Dillon had secured favourabie conditions not so mu::_h for those qt’
the MacCostellos who inhabited those lands, but rather for himself as their
lord, since it would have allowed him to attract new tenants to his
underpopulated territory. Tenants were a vital economic asset for the estate
he was developing in Mayo.*' : _

But in the light of this, can it be assumed that the native population had
really given away their land to him ‘as a free gift' in 1580 as Malby had
reported? And if so, what had they hoped to achieve by so doing? The Annals
of Loch Cé offer a brief glimpse of the native interpretation of this unusual
transaction. It is recorded there for the year 1586 that . . .

. Castlemore of the MacCostellos and half the lordship of the country
were given to Tibbot Dillon by MacCostello . . g

The word used in the original Irish text was ‘Tiarnas’ which would imply
lordship or dominion, or an area of jurisdiction. Under the native system a
lord exercised jurisdiction over followers rather than over a given extent of
land. Thus it would appear that it was not land but rather lordship over
people that was offered to Dillon by the MacCostellos. They had allied
themselves to Dillon so that he would act as their protector. He had also been
given the castle of Castlemore. Having acquired possession of MacCostello
property in his capacity of protector of the native population, Dillon had to be
seen to be able to fulfil that role. Hence his anxiety that he be seen to act
following incidents like the incursion of Bingham’s sub-sheriff in Mayo.
Whether or not he undermined the provincial administration in the process
was of secondary concern; his primary objective was his personal
advancement in Mayo.




There is a discrepancy of six years between the date when Dillon’s
acquisition of property in the MacCostello territory as a ‘free gift’, is noted in
the records of the central administration and its recording in the Annals of
Loch Cé. It seems plausible that the nature of the deal which had been
entered into was not fully considered by the native population until a crisis
arose. At any rate there is no record on the native side of Dillon's activitics
until 1586. In that year a controversy arose which illustrated that” the
MacCostellos had misunderstood the implications of the deal. Theobald
Dillon lodged a petition that his lands at Castlemore and Binnfada which he
held ‘by lawful and just title taking the profit thereof without disturbance’,
had been unlawfully taken over by five of the MacCostellos from Tolghay
who had dizsfossesscd Dillon’s tenants and proceeded to occupy the land
themselves.™ It seems plausible that this was land which they had previously
occupied, and that they were returning there after a period of years on other
clan lands. However, they now found that their right to occupy land they had
traditionally held, though without title in English law, was being challenged in
the English courts.

In seeking redress against the MacCostellos, Dillon was reluctant to have
the case heard before a court in Connacht pointing out that . . .

. - - . the defendants are greatly allied and countenanced by the best and
chiefest in the said shire and province of Connacht, and withal the place
being so far distant from her Majesty’s ordinary courts of common law
here at Dublin as hardly can your suppliant have jurors from thence for
trial of his case in any usual action for recovery of his said land’,*

Despite having legal title under English law, Dillon was not at all confident
that a Connacht based court or jury would uphold his right to the lands of
Costello in the face of a counter claim from the MacCostello clan. The
outcome of the case is not documented in the decrees register, which suggests
that the case had been settled prior to a final hearing. The early seventeenth-
century evidence shows, however, that Dillon retained title to the land,
though the identity of the tenants on that land cannot be precisely
ascertained.*

IV

In the long run, what was underway was a process of informal
colonisation, unplanned by the central administration in Dublin or London,
but not less effective for that. By a variety of means, and partly for economic
reasons, the pace of that colonisation process had increased by the early
seventeenth century, and by then Dillon was one of the most successful of
many Palesmen, New Englishmen, and merchants from Galway who gained
possession of large quantities. of land in Mayo. It was a development which
clearly illustrated that fortunes could be made by a few enterprising
individuals in a period of transition, where the native community got into
economic difficulties | which prevented them adapting, or were the
consquences of them not adapting, to changing circumstances.

Though a newcomer, Dillon's role among the MacCostellos is closely
paralleled by that of some of the native elite in Connacht who likewise built
up English style estates for themselves in the province. Thus the earl of
Clanricarde fulfilled a similar role as broker for his followers or tenants in the
lordship of Clanricarde, though apparentiy with rather more concern for the
welfare of his tenants. The Earl of Thomond did likewise in Thomond. and in
Mayo, Sir Theobald Burke, Tibbott na Long, achieved the same objective on
behalf of a portion of the Mayo Burkes, In many cases, in these lordships
also, the lesser families were reduced to the status of tenants, the difference
being that it was the native lord rather than a newcomer, who had adopted
the role of landlord on the English model.?* Where the native overlords were
not in a position to adapt sufficiently to changing circumstances, as was
frequently the case in Mayo, the lack of a powerful native overlord who could
act on behalf of the lesser kin groups in their dealings with the New English
administration, meant that the lesser family groups were open to
manipulation by other speculators in the province. Before the trend Besarie
widespread in Mayo, Theobald Dillon had led the way showing that one man
with political connections coupled with a little legal knowledge, and a lot of
ambition, could exert a great deal of influence on the native population and
create a handsome estate for himself and his heirs,
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KILMEENA - PART 2
by Jarlath Duffy

In addition to the Cushalogurt find mentioned in Cathair na Mart Vol. 5.
No. 1, there are four other finds which show that the area between Newport
and Westport was inhabited for thousands of vears before the Celts came to
Ireland. Mr. John Duffy of Kilmeena while digging a potato field in 1932,
uncovered a gold bracelet which belongs to the Late Bronze Age.! In 1950
Mrs. Sheridan from Westport reported on the finding of an inhumation in a
long cist grave found in a sandpit at Knockinisky, which could date as far back
as 1600 B.C.?

Mr. R. Quinn forwarded to the National Musecum in 1968 a polished
stone axe-head, which was found while digging a track beside a field bank
twenty yards from a ring fort at Rostuchy.? More recently Mr. Liam Ryder on
his lands at Banagher, has come across some beads which experts feel are
over 3,000 years old.

There is very little to be found in the written records concerning the
church and school from St. Brendan’s time until the ending of the Penal
Laws. Pdadraig O Méréin in The History of Kilmeena Parish, presumes that
the various religious establishments at Kilmeena, Moyna, Inisdaff, Clynish
and Kilmaclasser, must have had an uneasy time of it during the period of the
Viking raids.® The historian today does not go along readily with the idea of
the foreign invader plundering all before him. Indeed many may have landed
to replenish their stores of food and water and left peacefully again.

The organisation of the Church changed with the Anglo-Norman
conquest. -Knox tells that: '

Umhall had three prebends, the Archdeacon’s and Killabegs and
Faldown. The Archdeacon and the Prebe ndary of Killabegs shared tithes
in Aghagower, Oughaval, and Kilgeever. The Prebendaries of Killabegs
and Faldown shared others in Burrishoole, Kilmeena, and Kilmaclasser.
The arrangement in Kiimeena was peculiar. The Prebendaries had a fixed
charge on certain townlands payable by the incumbent who took surplus
and made good deficiency, and a proportion of other tithes. Faldown
probably was in Kilmeena where that Prebendary had so much the larger
interest, £31 to £8. in the specified townlands. Those townlands included
Kilmeena itself and Innisdaff, in which there is an old church. An old

church i : :
nrulrncnisfcslargflfgrm to have been on Clynish. Faldown should be Kilmeena

The same writer listing the emoluments
1243, quotes: g ents of the Chapter of Tuam for the year

Prebendary of Faldown: Parts of rectori i -
Kilmeena. No cure. rectories of Burrishoole, Kilmaclasser,

: E‘ebmdmy of Killabegs: Parts of rectories of Aghagower, Oughaval,
ilgeever, Kilmeena, Kilmaclasser, Burrishoole, Ballyovey, Crossboyne,
Kilmainebeg, Cong, Ballinchalla. No cure.®
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As the ancient monastic system of Ireland came to an end at the beginning of
the 13th century, the Archbishop of Tuam seems to have claimed more than
his due. To his claim to the church of Kilmeena among others, he was granted
episcopal rights only.

In Sweetman’s Calendar of Documents Relating to Ireland a list is given
of the taxation of the Diocese of Tuam:

Kilmayn (Kilmeena) £2.66
Kilmalasser ( Kilmaclasser) 667

Bodkin's Visiration, which lists parishes at the close of 1558 or early
1559, has the following entry:
Vicarage of Kyllmyna. . .usurped by Wyllyam Keighe. . .John O'Donayll
Vicar of Kyllm'clacer studies at Oxford and Ranald M'Conoyll usurps the
profits of the vicarage. . .
John son of Jonatus Prebendary of Kyllmyna who studies at Dublin about
to go to Oxford. And Edmund de Burgo brother of the Earl of Clanricard

usurps the profits of the prebend contrary to the Archbishop’s collation
and the royal letters.

Lodovicus O'Grada Vicar of Kyllmyna.®
The taxation of Benefices for the First Fruits made in 1584 show:
Vicarage of Kilmyne 10s. Od. Kilmeena.®

The lists of Benefices and Incumbents in 1591 for the Diocese of Tuam
has the following reference:

Rectory of Kilmyn Incumbent: The Queen

Rectory of Kilviclassir Incumbent Thomas O'Hubain
Prebendary of Kilmyn Incumbent Richard Pwer
Vicarage of Kylvina Incumbent Donatus O'Hubain
Vicarage of Kylviclassy Incumbent Thateus O’Hubain'®

Although very little is known of the effects of the Protestant
Reformation on the inhabitants, it probably had very little at the early stages.
In Knox's list of See Lands for 1617, the Archbishop appears as holding
the following lands: '
* Crosse cartron (Cross)

Moygowerbeg (Mayour)
Inishdaff
Kilmaclassy (Kilmaclasser)'!

In the Schedules to the first Report of the Royal Commission on

Ecclesiastical Revenue and Patronage 1833, we read, among others, for See
Lands:

; Y Acres Noles
h*ﬁ}ruur Mayour in Kilmeena Parish
Mayourbeg 1,664
“ Leganillaga Raigh in Burrishoole, a little

Roigh 5.E. of 51. Brendan's Well
and B.G. [Burial Ground]

Lands Acres Notes

Drenard / Drumard and Cross
Cross Shralieve adjoin Kilmeena'?

In The History of Kilmeena Parish, Pidraig O Mériin writes:

The rising of 1641 must have been well supported in the two parishes. Of
the landholders of 1641, all of Norman descent as we have seen and
Catholics to a man, not onc appears in possession afiter the re-distribution.
They had to make way for their co-religionists who had been banished 1o
*hell or to Connacht” and the best of their lands here and there was
marked as ‘Protestant land’.

The registration lists of 1704 contain some interesting information. In
the not too dark days of Charles I, it was not so easy for a candidate for
Holy Orders to get a bishop to ordain him.

In 1704, Eneas MacDonnell was parish priest of Kilmaclasser Parish
and Elaneden (now corrupted to Islandeady) half parish.

He was born in 1651 and was ordained at Athleague by Dr. Dominick
Burke, ‘titular bishop of Elphin’ in 1678. His sureties, bound in £50 — a
sum about equal to £1,000 at present — were Valentine Browne of Kinturk
and Myles MacDonnell of Moyower (Encas MacDonnell lived at
Derryribbin).

Denis Ginnane, of Killmina, was P.P. of Killmina Parish and
Elaneden half Parish. He was born in 1662, and was ordained in 1686 at
Gallway by Dr. James Lynch, ‘then Titular Bishop of Tuam, Archbishop’.
His securities were George Browne of Liskillin, and Myles MacDonnell of
Moyower. :

Myles MacDonnell, of Moyower, held extensive leases of lands in the
parish and elsewhere. He lived in the house now occupied by Mr. Eugene
Campbell. He had a large family, one  of whom, Bonaventure
MacDonnell, O.5.F., was Bishop of Killala Diocese from 1749 to 1760,

According to a return made for the Government in Dublin, by Dr.
Dillon, Archbishop of Tuam in 1801, Kilmeena and Kilmaclasser had
cach a parish priest without a curate, and the income of each was
estimated at £65.1

Mayour is a most interesting place and deserves an article all to itself at
some further date,
~ Father Cullen, later to be Archbishop of Dublin, busied himself in Rome
in the early part of the nineteenth century with the re-organisation of parishes
in the Irish Church.

. Padraig O Mériin is of the opinion that Kilmeena and Kilmaclasser were
ul}lt&d in 1817 when Father Thomas O’Keane became P.P. Under Fr.
O’Keane the churches at Myna and Fahy were built, and had a life-span of
130 years, 4

Tradifion places the site of the earlier church in Myna in the field
OPposite the present church, but perhaps only an excavation can verify this.
At the end of this article is given in the appendices a list of parish preists

and curates insofar as it is known for the past 200 years or so.



Fr. Sheridan’s report on the parish in the 1830s makes interesting
reading. The following is a brief summary:

There were no deserted children in the parish who would have perished
through neglect within the last three years;

The number of illegitimate children who were not supported either by
their reputed father or by their mother was nil. The mother generally
supported her offspring by begging;

Widows or orphans who had neither relatives nor means to support them,
had no alternative but begging;

While precise numbers could not be ascertained, from observation and
companson it was thought that there were more than 100 persons who,
from old age and infirmity, were incapable of work: they were usually
supported by their relatives or neighbours, no other provision was made
for them. ‘The poor here are tender of and dutiful to aged parents’,

Emigration — Very few left their dwellings in the parish, and those who did
went to England,;

Of those who emigrated, some were married men, who went in hopes to
earn the landlord’s rent; their wives and children in their absence lived on
the produce of their holdings or by begging;

Regarding the number of householders who let lodgings for strolling
beggars and the price of a night's lodging, the number of beggars at this
season of the year is comparatively few; but after the consumption of their
provisions, their number is remarkably increased in summer. Alms
usually given in provisions;

No person died from destitution in the parish within the past few years.
Strolling beggars are always lodged gratis here.'?

Fahy Church prior to 1 950s.
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mMeanwhile on the dther F-Iidc .“f the rq__'li}:-,inua-. divide, the Church of Ireland was
enjoying its strongest period in the hmmry_ of Kilmeena, because of the advent
of families whose fathers were employed in the Coastguard stations at Pigeon
Point and later at Rosmoney, and the arrival of the Rev. Giles Eyre.

The Rev. Charles Hargrove was Giles Eyre's predecessor. He was a
universal favourite in Turlough before his appointment to Kilmeena in
1832(7)."® As there was no glebe house in the parish, he resided in Westport
and thus became dissociated in some measure from his appointed sphere of
duty. However in 1835 Charles Hargrove tendered his resignation, which was
brought about over doctrinal rather than any personal difficulty. Rev. Giles
Eyre was appointed his successor. Giles Eyre had already served in
Hollymount and Athenry and brought with him a certain reputation. Bishop
Power’s letter of appointment was blunt:

My dear Eyre,

The living of Kilmeena. . .is now vacant. The succeeding incumbent
must be bonafide resident if he would be obliged to reside 1n a cabin, and
better, I fear, he will not be able to procure. . .1 offer this to you thus.

Subsequently, Mr. Eyre fitted up a cabin for himself in the principal
village in the parish — Carrowholly."

In the early part of the 1830s, the following is the state of rectories and
vicarages for Kilmeena:

Church of Ireland, Buckfield.

ar



No church. Two school-houses in different parts of the parish and
appropriated to divine service (a church is in progress of building). Divine
Service was held every Sunday during summer and alternate Sundays
during winter. The attendance at Service was about 35 persons at cach
centre and this was described as on the increase. The one rector is residing

at Westport.
At the same time there is one Roman Catholic chapel with services

on Sundays and holidays, with 1,500 to 2,000 usually attending, se rved by
two priests who officiate also at Fahy chapel in the parish of
Kilmaclasser."™

Giles Eyre, whose family were Mayors of Galway, seems to have been a
man of substance with property in Athenry and in Kilmeena — Calt Island
(Wilks family, Michael Moore, R. Gibbons), Carraholly (Thomas Browne).

Annual tithes after deduction for prebend of Faldown and Killibegs
amounted to more than £250 p.a.'® When he came to make his will in 1871, he

had much to leave:

‘I will devise and bequeath to my dearly beloved wife Dora Eyre all my
# goods and chattels of every kind soever and all my cattle and farming
stock and implements of every kind and all my household furniture plate
and plated ware china glass and delph services of every description and all
my carriages and horses as also all my railway shares in the Irish North
Western Railway and in the Great Northern and Western of Ireland
Railway Companies if not previously sold and disposed of and all and
every the several Policies of Assurance which I have effected on my life
with the Roval Exchange Assurance Company of London Accounting to
Eight hundred and fifty pounds £850 and all benefit and advantages to be
derived therefrom and all monies I may leave at my decease and all
monies which may be due and owing to me absolutely as and for her own
sole use and benefit [ also leave and bequeath to my said wife Dora (alias
Dorinda) Eyre the use for her natural life of my house offices farm and
lands of Rusheen commonly called Carraholly and my farm and lands of
Moyna with their appurtenances. . .as may hereafter be named in this my
last Will and as Richard Ormsby now deceased served me faithfully and
honestly as my Parish Clerk Schoolmaster and Steward now moreover in
recompense for such his services and in token and regard thercof 1 leave
begueath and devise to his widow Mary Ormsby the house yard offices
and garden on the aforesaid farm and lands of Rusheen which she now
occupies and enjoys with the four fields containing about four acres be the
same more or less that is to say for description Killeen tillage field and the
field nppﬁe it on the North side of the public high road Biddy Scarrys
field and the field opposite it also on the north side of the High Road. . .

and later in a mdicil:\‘ N

e

1 will and eath to my dear friend George John Marquis of Sligo his
heirs and assignees all that and those the house which I have built on the
land in F n leased by him to me and which is now used as a
schoolhouse and is licensed as a house for divine service together with the
enclosure belonging thereto in trust nevertheless for the use of the

Protestant Parishioners of Kilmina Pdrish to be used by them for the same
purpose only and I pray and trust that my dear friend will of his goodness
confirm the same unto the Parishioners forever.®
Local tradition gives the date of his church at Rusheen, Carrowholly as
1850, Writing in 1938, Martin Mannion reports that ‘the seats are still in the
church, the bell on the spire. . .(but) no Service now. . ." The school’s
measurements he gives as 30" x 15" x 12" with 2 doors and 12 windows built of
cut stone’.?’ The converted school is now the residence of Raphaelle
McCabe.
The nineteenth century saw an awakening in education in the Irish
countryside. The Commission of Public Instruction gives the following list of
schools for Kilmeena and Kilmaclasser:

Description of Sources of No. of Average  Whether the  Kind of Instruction
each school Support children on  daily average daily
the books at  attendance attendance has
the time of been
Inspection increasing,
stationary, or
diminishing,
for the last
4 5 years
KILMINA
1. Free school at £15 p.a. from the” No list From  [Increasing  Reading, writing,
Sprighill, kept by rector - produced 401050 arithmetic, and
Patrick Feeney. scripture reading.
2. Free school at £10 p.a, from the Do. About Do, - Do,
Carrohowley, kept by Society, a free 45
Henry Browne, in  house and garden
connexion with the
Tuam Diocesan
Education Society
3. School at Drungagh, Payments by the Males 37 Nto40 Diminishing Reading, writin
kept by John Geraghtychildren of Is. to  Females 11 3 and aﬁ%hmetic;g
3s. 4d. per quarter Total 48 Roman Catholic
catechism in
English and Insh
39



Description of Sources of No. of Average  Whether the  Kind of Instruction
each school Support children on  daily average daily
the books at  attendance attendance has
the time of been
ossect LY
stationary, or
diminishing,
for the last ,
5 years
4. School at Cloongen, Payments by the Males 25 Increasing Do.
kept by John Flynn - children of 1s. to Females 10
3s. per quarter  Total 3
3. School at Rassaw, kept Do. Males 35 40  Open9 months Do.
by William Walsh Females 15
Total 50
6. School at Ardkeene, Payments by the Males 40 40  Established 2 Do.
keptby Thomas children of Is. to Females 10 years.
Gallagher Js. per quarter,  Total 50 Increasing
producing about £8
per annum
7. School at Knockbuy, Payments by the No list From Open 3 months Do.
kept by John Hiland children of Is. to  produced 40 to 50
Js. per quarter
8. School at Liscluane, Do. Do. Do. < Do.
kept by Austin Mealy ' :

- 0. School at Crowshill, House from Sir  Males 57 From  Diminishing Do.

+  kept by Patrick Joyce Samuel O'Malley; Females 35 50 to 60
payments by the Total 9
children of s, to
Zs. bd. per quarter,
R amounging Lo
. about £3/£4 p.a,

. School @Drumgariff, Payments by the  No list 40 Diminishing Reading, writing

kept by Michael  childrenof Is. to  produced and arithmetic;
Mulreen 2s. 6d. per quarter Roman Catholic
: catechism in
English and Irish

- ——

* Sources of

Description of No. of Average  Whether the  Kind of Instruction
each school Support childrenon  daily  average daily
the books at  attendance attendance has
the time of been
Inspection increasing,
stationary, or
diminishing,
for the last
5 years
11. Hedge school at Do Do, 30 Stationary Do.
Innislyre Island, kept
by Peter Mealy
12. Hedge school at Payments by the Males 40 50 Open8 months Do.
Castleaffey, kept by  children of 1s to 2sFemales 20
Andrew Kane per quarter Total &0
amounting to about
£4/E5 paa.
13. Hedge school at Payments by the No list 35 Diminishing Do.
Coolborreen, kept  children of 1s to 25, produced
by James Fox 6d. per quarter
P '
Males Females Total

No. of children on the books of the Daily Schools : 134 101 335

KILLMACLASSER :

L. Slingen school, in ~ £15 p.a. from the Males 81 50 Increasing  Reading, writing,
connexion with the  former Society, andFemales 48 arithmetic, English
Tuam diocesan and  local subscription Total 120 grammar, and
Kildare St, Societies; —and books from the scripture reading
John Kirkpatrick, ~ latter Society; a
master free house and

garden
an



Description of Sources of No. of Average  Whether the Kind of Instruction
each school Support children on  daily average daily
the books at  attendance attendance has
the time of been
Inspection increasing,
stationary, or
diminishing,
for the last
3 years
2. Slingen female free  Salary to the Males S Established Reading, writing,
school, in connexion  mistress paid by theFemales 39 | month  anithmetic,
with the Tuam, Society Total 39 needlework and
Diocesan Education scripture reading
Society; Harriet Fernss,
Mstress

-
3. School at Fahey, kepy Payments by the Males 31 40to30 Increasing Reading, writing,

by Peter Carey children, from Is. Females 20 arithmetic, and the
, M.to3s. per  Total 1 R.C. catechism
quarter, producing
about £16 p.a. 2

They also report schools at Roy and Derrinaff, Brocagh, Gortnaclassough,
Buckfield, and Knocknabola.®

The following is some of the history of three schools in the parish —
Rosduane, Myna and Carrowholly.

The earliest reference to Rosduane National School is for the year 1840
when the building of the school was proposed. The Trustees were A. & G.
Clendining. The lease was for 3 lives viz. Queen Victoria, Prince Consort and
their son — later King Edward.* This ruse was used by the Irish to ensure that
the lease would have as long a life as possible. It was a good bet that the
members of royalty would outlive any of their offspring. (A similar procedure
was followed for Carrowholly National School in the year 1844). It was noted
that there were 80 males and 60 females coming to the school. Because of
tidal problems it was necessary to exercise great caution when choosing the
school site. The school was under Sir R. A. O’Donel, a fact which seems to
rankle with clergymen later in the school’s history. The school opened on 20
July 1844. In 1847 £9 salary was granted to Mary Reilly as work mistress.*
Repairs were carried out in 1855 and the average attendance, it was noted,
had fallen to 26. Teacher Thomas Gallagher is mentioned in 1856, Maura
Cusack (1857) Michael McKay, John Joyce (1859), Peter McKay (1859),
Joseph McNamara and Anthony Jordan (1861). The same year Stephen Fox,
teacher, is sent to prison for fighting with his landlord and loses his position.

a2

Further teachers were Pat McNally (1864). Thomas Cui EOY Elirs
McNamara (1869), Mark Cusack (1870), :J‘-;[uphm F'I.;m}r;u:;.]'::”j-i-E,'.jl.f".i
Kenefick (1875-81). Pat Caine (1881-90) gives. his Sl
Glenhest, and states his father taught in Derradda in ; : TE
Skirdagh 1856.%® Kate Price and Norah Keane are rttn::-.?::jrnjﬁdiri“i hl_;l];n ;TL II!]::I
Rev. B. McDermnu. Kilmeena, complains about the school in 18K7 and
mentions inter alia, the poor condition of the forms and the broken .Eh.,“-n
fences leaving the yard open to a mad bull, but this is refuted by Mr
O'Donnell who says all the allegations are false.®® Anne O'Malley ;ui}n-..lhé
staff in 1893, Martin H. O’Donnell (1899-1941) and Mary Moran (1913)

New privies were built in 1895, and a fuel store in 1905 at the cost of
£20.%* School Inspector Fenton reports in 1910 that the average attendance
was 43, the average on rolls 62.* Rev. Fr. O'Toole writing to the
Commissioners in 1912 states that he would wish to see a central school to
replace Myna and Rosduane. He is looking for suitable plots for agriculture.
Completing the roll of the teachers are Mrs. Alice Quinn, Mr. Tony Gibbons
and Mrs. Feehan for the years 1941-1969. It must be remembered that the
above list is not exhaustive. Some of those named taught only for a month,
others for years. On many occasions schools were closed ~ poor condition of
building, pupils at the harvest or teacher ill. The Principal was held
responsible for everything relating to the school - cleanliness, outer fencing.
pupils not returning after midday break. Inspectors were exacting and it must
be recorded that the educational system enjoyed today at primary and
secondary level, is largely due to the pioneers who started teaching in the
hedge schools and for most of their lives taught in poor surroundin gs a people
who were very poor.
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Site of first Myna N.S.
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The story of Myna school follows similar lines. The first teacher
mentioned is Thomas Ryder (1826).*' Frs. McManus and H. O'Connell seck
to establish Myna school in 1836.* The building is described as made of stone
and mortar and thatched. There are no desks, no seats. The school has a five-
day week, 10-4, 34 males and 27 females attending; 3 rooms in good repair
measuring 40’ x 17%' x 9'. Thomas Gallagher is the teacher mentioned.™
Supporting names for the school include the following surnames Joyce,
O'Grady, Madden, Gibbons, Walsh, Cannon, Gavin and Moran. Teacher
Pat Feeney is granted a salary of £10 in 1839.

In 1847 the inscription over the door is noted "Built by Most Rev. Dr.
McHale 1841'. The school is now crowded to excess because food is
distributed there. It is likened more to a soup kitchen than a school by
Inspector Hamill. 1850 Bridget Joyce (18 years) is mentioned. Rev. Luke
Ryan reports that the school adjoins the Church, is now 51" x 15" x 9°, has 3
tables, 9 forms and a teacher’s desk. No males (surprising) are attending, but
there are 64 females. J. Warde and P. Joyce are the teachers.

1858 Anne O'Malley is retained as a teacher with Miss McNamara. The
school now has 101 males and 83 females. Mary Geraghty joins the teaching
staff in 1868. Pat Joyce is dismissed 2 years later for having a copy of the
Fenian oath in his possession and also arms with no licence. John Warde left
the school the same year. In 1870 Thomas McKay taught in Myna but later
emigrated. John Moran and Teresa Kenefick are now mentioned in the
records with Pat Joyce as Principal! There are now 87 males and 73 females
on rolls.

1872 sees Mary Fleming and Bridget Higgins already recognised with the
attendance given as 37 males, 36 females. 1875 T. Kenefick left and £8 salary
was granted to M. Geraghty. 1883 Patrick Jordan was assistant with Mr.
Moran, Principal and Mr. O’Donnel, Monitor.™ In 1884 a report lamented
that the state of the school was very poor and that agriculture was not taught
nor was there little cramming before examinations. Kate Pryce is work
mistress. 1889 Michael Duffy is teacher until 1898; 1890 Michael Roddy and
Michael Walshe are assistant teachers with average attendance now shown as
67 males and 65 females.* Bridget Moran and Mary Geraghty are also
teaching in the school. In 1894 salary was withdrawn from Mrs. Mary
Geraghty because of insufficient numbers. Mr. M. O’Donnell was appointed
to the school in 1898 and 2 years later Michael Walshe left, one wonders was
it for Carrowholly.

1906 saw the Manager writing that he wishes to build a new school.
School Inspector Fenton reported in 1910 65 pupils on average. P. H. Moran
joined the staff in and became Principal in 1912.%" The school moved to a
new site in 1925 and the last 3 Principals have been Mr. R. Quinn (1949),
Mrs. A. Quinn (1970) and Mr. W. Cox (1982).

The story for Carrowholly is somewhat more complicated because al
times there were two schools in Carrowholly and it is difficult to decipher
which school is referred to in the early records.

44

Tradition tells that the first school in Carrowholly was built in 1834 f
the children of labourers and tenants of the Demesne and lh-.:;- 1!]Ir
employed in the Coastguard Stations at Pigeon Point.* In ;.‘-:4-I tI'r:-rr.I: :':F'T:-
relferem:t.:ﬁ to Carrowholly school which must have been the school huil:,Lh '
Giles Eyre. George Clendining and G. Hildebrand are the trustees ’I'h::
school is a cabin, 1 room, 13’ x 10" x 6’ with 2 teachers, hours 11-4 in ;'rim ~rL
10-5 summer, and there is no religious education for Roman F.‘ﬂh-alic-al'{:
point which was disputed greatly in subsequent years).* The site is “‘:
Rushc-;n: thcllr:zl.‘u: from the Marquess of Sligo was granted as at mmdﬁ'mu
for 3 l}v;rs. viz. Queen Victoria, Prince Consort and son *® There .'1Ir:: lIEllJ'
pupils in the school, and it is recorded that there is much opposition to it from
the Roman Catholic clergy. The teachers are Michael Cain. Principal and
Mgt. McGreal (20 years of age) ‘for plain work, knitting and some fulm:v
work-“In Dct‘ﬂb{’:r of that year Henry Browne (Protestant} is recorded as the
teacher and is accused of giving Protestant catechism to Roman Catholic
children. Inspector Hamill reports:

ln‘ the Mayo Teiegraph of 11 April 1849 Thomas Hardiman. Pastor of
Kilmeena wrote a letter against Rev. Giles Eyre who was then seeking
financial support for his school. Hardiman told that ‘his [Eyre's| flock di-ﬁ
not l::uml:u:r a dozen till the starvation began. . . and he énnt.inm:d

‘I wish to point out that the present teacher is apostate, that his
predecessor Kane was apostate, and his predecessor again old Ilurr:;,-
Browne an apostate, and was dismissed by the Board for teaching
Protestant Catechism to the Catholic pupils. . ." and he concluded

B

Regarding the state of the parish. . .suffice to say death from starvation is
now as. . .f:umha‘r to us here as was ever death from any epidemic that has
ever scourged this land. . "

Myna N.S. | 925-1983,
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National hm:-.', Carrowholly to 1945. Now the home of the Mullees.

1848: The attendance is given as 64 males, 64 females. 1849: John
McDermott (from Galway) is appointed. Some scholars rowed over each day
from the Quay to his school. Mary Buckley and Rachel Matthews are also
mﬂmll??mﬁ:dariy 1850s the following are reported as teachers there, M. Keane,
Timothy Tuohy, Topsie Flynn, Patrick Dermody {Prmcnpal_} and Michael
Sheridan.*2 In 1852 Rev. Giles Eyre loses a court case which he brought
against Patrick Dermody.** John Mangan was a monitor in 1856. Bridget
Dermody (23 years) joined the teaching stafi in 1859 for sewing, making
frocks, knitting and cutting out. There was a 5-day week with 5 hours per day.
The school room measured 36" x 18" and the attendance was 36 males, 28
females. She arrived at the school with a testimonial from Mrs. McDonnell of

ayour.
M ylﬂﬁﬂ sees J. Warde as substitute. P. Joyce is teacher. Four years later

i carried out in the school. :
repmlr;;?r; Dermody is given permission to cultivate the school plot for his
own use.* |

1881 Wm. Reilly is Principal with 60 pupils. -

1884 P. Dermody is pensioned and 2 years later John Greely is
appointed. Mary Joyce is moniter in the school in 1887, and 3 years iatr:tti
Bridget Dermody retired. John Greally who married a niece nf‘MCE:ﬂ‘;.-’m'I:-'s !
became principal, with Mary Greally as assistant later in 1898. Michael Wa :
from Kilmeena joined the teaching staff and he enjoyed a r_naputathg E
producing ‘great scholars’. The turn of the century saw new privies provided.

Ll;rnlﬁt;l]:::] hul;::}l:iza::lljl::,:cll*liili.u:lr:{'!;1 h.luLL‘.rL desks and bookpress perforated

AT | : ¥ their [vermin] ravages. . pupils in playground
for physical exercises. . .[but] pupils [were] more orderly than on former
occasions. . . ;

1903 saw the building ol out-houses, while in 1906 Inspector MacWilliam
reported on ‘the good condition of the building. . .the desks are new. . .

In 1909 average attendance is given as 55, and 2 vears later the Office of
Public Works recommends improvements. A side reference to the school at
Rusheen says that the school had an average attendance of 15 and was under
Rev. Hannay.

In 1912 Rev. J. O'Toole writes to the Commissioners stating that a new
school is required, but noting that the lease is near the end of its term advises
‘wait sale of property as school is not in a central place at present’.

In 1913 King Edward has died, the lease is up. Inspector Fenton
surrenders lease. Fr. Conroy, P.P. writes to the Commissioners. *

Local tradition tells that the roof was blown off the school by a great
storm in 1927. Mrs. Greally retired in 1928, Mr. Walsh in 1930, Mr. Egan
(from Castlebar), Mrs. Staunton, Eileen Daly and Nuala Moran, complete
the list of Principals who have served, and indeed are serving, the children of
Carrowholly well to the present time.

The first reference to Fahy is dated 1826 when Philip Doyle became
teacher there.*” In 1855 Norah Keane (20), James Cusack (Principal) and
Michael O'Donnell, Manager, are reported as teaching a roll of 154 in a room
40" x 14°.

Inspector Fenton reports an average of 107 in 1910.* One of the most
famous past pupils of this school was Fr. Pat Cusack who died in 1944 P.P. of
Keelogues.

Other references to local schools include Ardkeen and Claggan, that
were refused sanction in April 1840 because leases could not be effected;™
Inislyre where Mary Fleming (20 years of.age) was appointed in 1881;
Cullenmore where Inspector Fenton reported 11 average attendance with 18
on rolls in 1910; Broca established in 1831 with 46 males, 20 females, backed
with signatures which included Fr. McManus, Fr. O'Connell, Cusack,
O'Donel and Gannon, to which Thomas Joyce was appointed in 1839 in 2
room 24' x 12': Slingan, where in 1826 Patrick Judge (Prostestant) was
appointed;®™ Gorteen and Gortnaclassagh Schools reported under Kildare
Schools in 1836; and others at Coolbareen, Buckfield and Knacknabola.

The earliest reference for a school at Rosehill is to Thomas Joyce 1 o :
(a hedge school). Sir Samuel O'Malley built the first school in July 1836.7 It
is described as made of stone and mortar and slated, 22' x 16" x 12°. There
were neither desks nor seats. The school operated a five day week 10-4. There
were 60 males and 40 females on the rolls and Patrick Joyce was teacher. All
scholars made payments. Rev. P. MacManus of Westport was manager, and
the supporting signatures for the school included Fr. H. O’Connell, Gibbons,

AT
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National School, Carrowholly today.

{junnun: Garavan, Murray and Burke - all Roman ( atholic.™ Owen Maley
b "J_mlfm“'d teacher there in 1839 at the salary of £8 per annum s

Sir E'".m.““] O'Malley’s estate for the year 1846 is set out in Appendix 3
Local tradition looks upon him as a descendant of Griinne, and suggests he
was born on Clare Island and that his father was a tax gatherer for [ -'rrll:I Shgo
He was an M.P. for Mayo in Grattan's Parliament. Tradition holds that he
changed his religion and voted for the Union, and received title and financial
reward. From some of this money he bought Rose Hill Court. His aim was to
view Clew Bay and Clare Island every day of his life. But a great storm arose
on his first ”ighl in his new castle, and 1iu: rool was th'«.J-nI away. Although
repaired the same fate once more befell the castle. Sir Samuel moved to
Doonamoon, Belcarra,®

Martin O’Donnell gives a slightly different version of Sir Samuel
O'Malley.>® He attempted the building of the castle but it was never
completed. The family was most important. Sir Samuel who was son of Owen
who died about 1774, shot his mother and his son Owen shot his brother
Ruin overtook them. One of Sir Samuel's sons became a lawver and was
known as Counsellor O’'Malley and is remembered by the people.

Again there’s a reference in Sile Ni Chinnéide, *A Frenchman's Tour of
Connacht in 1791" in Journal of the Galway Archacological and Historical
Society, 1976. Coquebert De Monbret visited the Westport area in 1791 and
describes the O’Malley family gossip:

the last of them died some time ago and public opinion charged his wife.
who behaved very badly, with having poisoned him. She was acquitted by
the jury, but a few days before I arrived here she was shot by her son, ten
or twelve years of age [Sir Samuel?]. While dying she had time 1o declare
that the shooting was an accident.

During 1830 and 1831, Sir Samuel was employed by Dubiin Castle in his
capacity as one of the chief officers of the South Mayo Militia to give reports
to them about the state of the couftryside. These reports are quite general
and’ the only mention of Kilmeena is the case of the tenant assembly of
January 1831, This is that report;: ,*

[previous day quiet, so on morning of 14th]. . .1 went out again with Mr.
Fitzgerald Higgins who brought out the staff of the South Mayo [militia)
by Lord Sligo’s orders to the Bridge of Buckfield, where a large party was
expected to assemble and at which place no people were. Mr. Higgins
halted his party there and I went on to warn the Burrishoole yeomanry to
be ready to parade at a moment’s notice. . .[met a man]. . .and he asked
him who swore him and he said people who broke into his house at night
and who he did not know, he said his name was Moran and he resided in
Mr. Lewis O'Donnell’s land. I desired him to go home and he went. . .1
afterwards met several parties who all said they were sworn and going to
fulfil their oaths, and they all returned towards their homes at my desire
but said they fear their houses would be burned. . .[then at Buckfield
Bridge| they appeared on the summits of the hills and two parties formed
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continuing and the party reforming
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Charles O'Malley a licutenant of the Burr

sy | would “fil"h Lo parade the Corps at once to march them into Westport
in lht.:. cvcmng 1o receive their arms and ammunition And in the
meantume a vlurllwr lorce should be sent to | | the staff of the South
Mayo. Mr. Fitzgerald Higgins then read the riot act 1
formed on the road on the nght flank of the staff, bur they did no
disperse. He then read the riot act for the party formed on the Newpor
Road but they would not disperse either, and on his returing to the staff of
the South Mayo accompanied by | [, the Revd. Mr. Hughes the P.P. of
Newport and Burrishoole addressing the peeple formed on the Newport
Road, after he had spoken to them for some time he came up to us, and
after he saluted us, [ said 1 regretted to see such a thing: he said the
distress was very great. I told him there was no such great distress and that
the people should disperse; he said the distress was verv great and that he
could disperse them in an instant but he wished to let it come 1o that, and
seemed to wish to let it come to that, and seemed 1o wish for some kind of
parley with the people. I said it was open rebellion; he said it was not. and
I walked away. After Mr. Fitzgerald Higgins having reasoned with him for
some time, he went up to the crowd on the New port Road and spoke to
them. Mr. Charles O'Malley having just then returned with Lord Sligo's
approval of my suggestion, I called on Mr. Fitzgerald Higgins to order the
staff to clear the Newport road, and as | went in front of the staff | heard
one person say they would obey their priest but no other person. Mr.
Charles O’Malley also heard him. The party on the Newport Road then
began to disperse and also the party on the new road on the right flank of
the staff. I sent Mr. Charles O'Malley on to parade the Burrishoole Corps
| ~ Lord Sligo came up in a few minutes and the people dispersed. M
Charles O'Malley paraded 96 of the corps in ten minutes. | have had them

l"'-r'll"ll!I_' i OTps 1o | ord Slie

b L party who had

| marched in here and I have kept them in Westport tonight, and | shall
| keep their arms and ammunition here under my own care. My second
| [?son] Mr. William O'Malley who had come to give any aid he can, heard

one of the party on the Ncu?ort Road [saying] they would disperse
quietly until the next ime. . . ' '

On 9 January Sylvanus Jones, C.C. of Police and Magistrate, wrote to
Government saying:

Some hundreds of the peasantry assembled last night near the chapel of

Kilmina on the road leading to Newport for the purpose of swearing not to

pay either rent, tithes or taxes. This mob visited several villages in the

direction of this town for the same purpose and did not disperse before
| day light, it appears they had no arms with them.

Sir Samuel’s Folly, Roschill. “u

(To be continued).
50
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APPENDIX 1

PRIESTS OF KILMEENA

Parish Priests
1704 Eaneas MacDonnell, P.P. Kilmaclasser & Islandeady
1817-1832  Fr. Thomas O’Keane
1825 Fr. James Joyce
1830 Fr. Charles Kelly

1832-1836  Fr. Myles Sheridan

1837-1841  Fr. Patrick MacManus (Adm.)
1841-1850  Fr. Thomas Hardiman
1851-1861  Fr. Luke Ryan

1861-1897  Fr. Michael O'Donnell
1897-1915 Fr. J. O'Toole

1915-1928  Fr. Conroy

1929-1937  Fr. P. Brett
Fr. Eaton

Fr. James Walsh
1970  Fjy- Michael Tiernan

1970-1980  Fr. Thomas Mulloy
1980 Fr. Eamonn O'Malley

CURATES OF KILMEENA

1884 B. McDermott
1889 Wm. H. Kelly
-1894  James Heaney

Fr. Burke

1894-1896  Richard Biggins
1896-1897 Thomas Healy, Adm.

18987 Michael Hughes
1900 Ed. Walsh
1902  H. Kelly
1912-1917  B. Canavan
1914  J. Gibbons
1919  Michael Walsh

- William Walsh

Later  Michael Burke

Lk

1946 - Fr. Philibin
1947  Fr. Murphy
-.:--'-_ Mg -. :‘:. '—;:-LEEI::ITman
- Fr. Shaughnessy

— —— e

AFPENDIX 2

Will of Hunuwu_nturl: H_I:Ihunnrll. Bp. of Killala, made 691760
Archivium Hibernicum, Vol = 11913) p.240 -

[Dr. McDonnell, a Franciscan. was apnointed 7/€/174

September, 1760, (Powicke & Fryde Tn 1{11;;_‘:];‘;”:"?41 and died first half of
In the name of God, Amen. I, Boney McDonnell of Castlebar, in the county
of Mayo, gcntl::n,,‘ being of sound and perfect memory I | leave and
bequeath unto my sister Mary Garvey otherwise McDonnell the sum of £15
slelrlgng; to my sister Oner McDonnell £15 sterling; to Mr. Duffy [:-,mj._
Priest of Castlebarr £12 sterling, giving such share of that as he thinks propes
to his coadjutor; to the poorest widows of the parish of Kilmina and the parish
of Castlebarr £8 sterling; to the secular clergy and Regulars of the Diocess of
Killala and Abby of Moyn £50 sterling; which sume (is ) to be distributed to
the above Regulars and seculars by Mr. Patrick Duffy, Parish Priest of
Castlebarr, John Finan, Parish Priest of Ballina. and Hugh Kelly, Parish
Priest of Backs — all the above Legacies to be paid out of the Funds or ;umc ol
money due to me now on my brother Charles Mcdonnell and my Nephew
Frank McDonnell both of Moyover in the county of Mayo. And the
remainder of what money is due to me on my brother Charles & my nephew
Frank and others I bequeath to my nephew Frank McDonnell he paying the
foregoing legacies. To my nephew Jozeph McDonnell the residue of (or) rest
of my wordly substance, he paying all my debts and funeral expenses. 1 doe
hereby constitute and appoint my nephew Jozeph McDonnell and my
nephew Frank McDonnel and Andw. Mahon of Castlebarr to be executors of
this my last will and testament.

In witness whereof I have hereunto put my hand and seal this sixth day of
September in the year of our Lord God one thousand and seven hundred and
sixty.

Signed, sealed and declared and published in the presence of us as his last
will;

Thady McNamara.
Hugh Hopkins

(Will not proved).




APPENDIX 3

~ THE ESTATES OF SIR SAMUEL O’'MALLEY

llllll

IN THE COUNTY OF MAYO
” The Castleaffy Estate
i Tu t | Sub-Denomination Tenants’ Names
o TR Claggan North Walter McNally
o S ; Patrick Caine Sen.
kgl L Michael Burke
. Ta Charles Malley
: ~ Claggan South John Caine, Jun,

Michael Reilly

William Berry
Darby Keane

Martin Casey
Pat McHale
Pat Nolan
Austin McHale

Thomas Grady
Edward McHale

. ,Iuhn.s-.-, P. Gibbons

James Kirby

John Malley
Thady Malley

' Peter McDonagh

John Nolan
~Pﬂt Burke, Jun.

Widow Mlchacl Burke
est  Anthony McNulty

- Pat Malley, Jun.
Peter Ma]laj.r

Townland

Inishnakillew

Drumgarve

Drumgarve

Sub-Denomination
Roscahill East 3

Innishnakillew West

Innishnakillew East

Purtaghnacloy

Drumgarriff West

Drumgarriff Middle

Drumgarriff East

Tenants' Names

Mrs. McDonagh
Peter McDonagh
James Moran

Thumas Mogan
Patrick Quin
Austin Quin, Jun.
James Jordan

Michael Malley
Patrick Cowell
Thomas Jordan
Bryan Malley

Denis Keane

Martin Burke
James Joyce

Edwd. Malley Jun.

James Malley

Austin Moran
William Brown
John Sullivan

John Staunton
Charles McNally
John Malley

Michael McDonagh

JII'IIEE_




Townland
Innishcottle

Innishgowla

Collan More
& Collan Beg

Sub-Denomination

Innishgowla
West Collan North

Middle Collan North
Collan Beg North

East Collan North

Collan Middle North

Collan South

Innishgort

Knockicahalaun

Ilanaconney
Moneybeg Q

Corrigreevagh(?]

Tenants® Names

John Quinn

Pat Malley
Walter Malley
Michael Malley

William Casey
Pat [?7] Thomas Malley
Martin Malley

Pat[?] & Martin Casey
Pat Leonard

Michael Wat Purcell
James & Pat McHale

Pat & Michael Gibbons
Michael McHale, Sen.
Michael McHale, Jun.

Michael Leonard
James Casey
Michael Burke
Patrick Burke

John Casey, Jun.
James Casey

John Malley

Edmd. & Wat Malley
James Malley

Patrick Jeffers
John Scahill
Myles Burke

William Gill

I'he Castleaffy Estate is situate about 3 miles north of Westport, some of it
consisting of islands in Westport Harbour, The tenantry are numerous and
apparently very poor. The soil varies in value frim 12/- to 18/~ per acre.
There is lime on the Estate which is made but little use of, and the lands are
badly cultivated. The tenants who occupy the islands appear 1o be in better
circumstances than those on the mainland, which may be accounted for by the
ﬂd"-'agntage:: they have in collecting seaweed for manure. The eastern sides of
the islands are of very good quality, but the Western sides are too much
exposed to admit of tillage cultivation. The inhabitants of the islands devote
about half of their time to fishing and the other half to farming. The Ovyster

Beds may be made productive of profit, but it seems they have hitherto been
neglected.

THE ROSEHILL ESTATE
Townlands Sub-Denomination

Conrea

Tenants' Names

Conrea Pat Staunton, Sen.

Pat Staunton, Jun.
Thomas Powell

Money Knockinisky Thomas Caine

Thady Caine, Jun.

Martin Caine

Owen Regan

Mrs. Edward Gibbons

John Joyce

Pat McEvilly
Coolaghbaun Michael Joyce
James McDonagh
Patrick Malley
John Joyce
Rosehill Middle Edmond Staunton
Patrick Browne
James Sullivan
Peter Joyce

Rosehill East

Philip Kerrigan
John Malley
Edward Malley




Townland Sub-Denomination Tenants’ Names
Old Walls David Murray UMMARY OF THE CASTLEAFFY ESTATE
' Patrick Woods .
Patrick Casey Yearly Rent
Andrew McHale £ "SR -
Richard McHale Claggan
Myles Burke Rosmindle 6s. 15. 2%
Innishnakillew ]T:I: i:: I:Ih
Mucklagh East Muchlagh Edward Joyce Drumgarve F e
Thomas Jﬂ}"l:ﬂ, Jun. CHETIEEff}’ Hu- 1:_:
Austin Joyce Innishcuttle & Inishgowla 8 3 :
Thomas Joyce, Sen. _ , Collan More & Collan Eﬂg ]?ﬁ. I- I
Peter Joyce Innishgort 19. i8. 3
Knockicahalaun 15. 9 214
Mucklagh West & Charles Cannon Sen. 35. 9. 245
Knockasproha Thomas McNally 12 0. 8%
] Peter Gibbons - 2. 0. 8%
John Malley
Charles Cannon Jun.
Thomas Reilly SUMMARY OF THE ROSEHILL ESTATE
Martin Moore
. Anthony Moore £ 5. d.
Money 215. 14. 0
Mucklagh East Pat Joyce Mucklagh 88. 13, 1
Pat Moran
Thomas & James 4. 7.1
McNally
This Estate which is situate about 4 miles from Westport is very much
: to the sea. A good house was built ncrll thell}ighkc:?t point ;;me yaarj : GENERAL SUMMARY OF ESTATES
since, by Sir Samuel O'Malley, but it was found too bleak for a residence, an
Y8 o tn ruins, The greraterrpart of the land which is worth from 12/~ to 15/~ gla?l?el:fl{fa;gstate _ g; ; 13. 3%
per acre, is in tillag'e., and there is an abundance of lime. Rosehill Estate 304 7 ? -
Carrowmore & Cahir Estate =~ 356. 0.2
Estate near C'bar ’ 314, 8.9
Kilowcarra Estate 63. 19. 2
\ ) ; Kilboyne Estate 342. 5. 0%
: £2,840. 18. 2 l
" i
g X
- t \
A 1 [ '




ESTATE OF SIR SAMUEL O'MALLEY 1845

By the foregoing particulars it will be seen that the ESFHtEHf Sir Samue]
O’Malley Bart. contain according to the return made by his Agent ‘_iil'i[lr-“u!’.‘-1;1f::n.~5~
but that the more accurate information afforded by the Ordnance Survey
makes the aggregate quantity 9995 Statute Acres. This discrepancy might in
some measure be accounted for by the Agent’s account extending only to the
Arable pasture and Bog lands, and the Ordnance Survey including the Lakes
and Water belonging to the Estates. -

The Leases of some of the Towns are expired and on the eve of expiring,
when advances of the Rent might fairly be expected and realized, particularly
on Clare Island, which is Tithe Rent charge free, by which the Rental will be
increased to a net annual sum of £2,800 after deducting 6d. in the pound for
the Tithe Rent Charges on the Lands subject thereto, and 3d. in the pound
for the Landlord’s moiety of the Poor Rates — see the observations on Clare
Island f. 5.

There are on the Lands comprising the whole property 333 Tenants and
it appears that the Rents are paid with punctuality.

It may not be safe to calculate that a forced Sale would produce a clear
sum exceeding £60,000 but the Estate is certainly worth more than that sum,
probably taking Clare Island to fetch the amount of Lord Sligo’s offer of
£20,000[?], the whole property is certainly worth £70,000.

Messrs. Cromie who are applying on the behalf of Sir Samuel O'Malley
for the loan of £40,000 at 4%4% are very respectable and responsible persons
as well as effective and energetic Agents, and as it is understood that they are
tdgive their undertaking for the regular and punctual payment of the interest,
the security for such a Loan in Ireland may be considered as improved

thereby:

Estimated clear annual value and Rental £2 800
Interest of £40,000 at 4'/4% 1,700
£1,100

Surplus annual income

The surplus estimated minimum value is £20,000.

The various Townlands composing this property, are set forth in the 12
accompanying Maps, being the published Sheets of the Ordnance Survey,
which is probably the most accurate, useful and interesting work ever
performed by this Government, or by the Government of any other country.

The foregoing is respectfully submitted

SR > Chas. Bailey
, 5 Stratford Place

10th January 1845
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TRAITOR OR PATRIOT?
THE CASE OF EDMUND GARVEY OF ROSMINDLE
by Terence Garvey

Edmund Francis Garvey was on 14 September 1798 arrested on a charge
of High Treason, for which he was tried seven weeks later by Court Martial
sitting at Castlebar and condemned and sentenced to transportation for life;
and before November was out he had been despatched to Cork for onward
shipment to Botany Bay. His arrest had been carried out at the behest of Lord
Altament’s brother, the Right Honourable Denis Browne, a member of the
Irish Privy Council and of the Irish Parliament, and a magistrate, whe then
and throughout the ensuing eight years conducted against Edmund a
campaign of sustained hostility and malice. Edmund was arrested on the
strengih of a letter stated to have been found in the pocket of a French
uniform on the battlefield of Ballinamuck in Co. Leitrim. The battle of
Ballinamuck, fought on 8 September 1798 (six days before Edmund Garvey’s
arrest) had seen the defeat and surrender of the Franco-Irish forces under the
French General Jean-Joseph-Amable Humbert, and had been followed by
the summary execution of many of the Irish participants in the war. The
letter, declared by Denis Browne to be in the handwriting of Edmund
Garvey, and signed simply with the initials ‘E.G.’, purported to have been
addressed to Fr. Michael Gannon, an Irish priest who had joined the French.
[t contained political and practical advice for transmission to ‘the French
General’.

So far the narrative is fairly plain sailing, but from this point on
contradictions multiply. Edmund hotly denies that he is guilty of treason and,
in particular, that he wrote the letter. Denis Browne no less hotly asserts the
contrary. At the time, Edmund had the better of the argument, eventually
succeeding in turning the law on his persecutor. And in his later years, having
retired across Clew Bay to Falduff on the south shore, he seems to have
established himself there with all the appearances of a solid and respectable
citizen.

But in modern times, historizns of Ireland’s national independence
movement have been very ready to co-opt Edmund Garvey into what t
concetve 1o have been a network of local insurgent leaders engaged in
patriotic activities throughout Connacht and the midlands. That such a gro
existed is not disputed; but that Edmund was a member, let alone E
important member, is largely unsubstantiated. }

In the hope of resolving these contradictions, the present paper re-

examines the contemporary material preserved in th i

i ‘ : : ¢ State Paper
Dublin Castle. This exercise, while enabling us to dismiss sumﬂ:pempnaﬂfﬁi?nm
which have hitherto passed as historical fact, . ¥

: & ct, do - -
correspondingly to our positive knowledge of Eﬂn‘nutu“::ls Gggfrey‘saé::e B




The array of powers taken by the government of Ireland for dealing with
the rebéllion is analysed in Appendix 1 — an impressive enough collection to
all appearances, but not one affording complete protection. Its shortcomings
became apparent on 20 December 1798 when Edmund’s counsel managed a
one stroke to overturn the proceedings of the Castlebar court martial and to
frustrate Edmund's removal from Cork to the antipodes. The instrument
which worked this destruction was a writ of habeas corpus obtained by the
defence from the Lord Chief Justice, Lord Kilwarden, in the Court of King’s
Bench in Dublin. The point of law underlying this move was the inadequacy
of the Royal Prerogative to sustain the application of martial law save in
conditions of actual emergency (given that martial law by statute — whether by
way of the Rebellion Act or of the Habeas Corpus suspension Act — did not
come in until the spring of 1799).

Even with this leak plugged there were still occasional lapses, when
expiring legislation did not get renewed in time or when officialdom played a
wrong card and missed a trick. On such occasions Edmund found himself
briefly at liberty and no doubt felt that such cat-and-mouse treatment was
unworthy. In truth, however, it was illusory to suppose that Edmund had a
hand to play. Once officialdom had grasped the full potentialities of the
‘Secretary’s warrant’, the game was up, his options being reduced to
languishing in jails between Galway and Kilmainham or accepting the meagre
bounty of ‘pardon’ under the Banishment Act. In the event, there was little
choice. It must have become clear to him in the spring of 1801 that he would
be left to stew in his own juice in Galway; and ‘after being repeatedly
solicited” by his friends, Edmund consented to enter into sureties to quit the
country. An undated order (SOC 3447/1) made by the Lord Lieutenant and
council in Jun, authorised the court of King's Bench to accept bails from
eight named inmates of Kilmainham (including Edmund) on condition that
they shall quit the Kingdom under the Banishment Act.

Of his banishment we know merely that it took him to Portugal, which
was virtually the only country of continental Europe not actually under
Napoleon’s occupation. By March 1806, with Pitt dead and Charles James
Fox in power, parliament began to let the emergency powers taken during the
rebellion run out without replacement. Edmund in Lisbon evidently got the
message and was soon back, first in London, then in Dublin, testing the
strength of the ice.

The readings he took were evidently encouraging. Only the egregious
Denis Browne had the gall to have Edmund arrested on arrival and thrown
into Castlebar jail. Now, however, there were no more emergency powers. A
writ of habeas corpus meant what it said.

Born in the second half'of the 18th century, Edmund was the eldest
surviving son of the senior (Lehinch) branch of the Garvey family. Mythology
apart, the first Garvey in Mayo was Christopher (later Sir Christopher), son
of the Kilkenny man who became successively Dean of Christ Church,

Dublin, Bishop of Kilmore and Archbishop of Armagh. Christopher came to
Mayo around 1580 in the wake of John Browne of The Neale, progenitor of
the Brownes of Westport. Both men played parts in the transformation of
Connacht from a Gaelic-Irish tribal society into a settled part of Queen
Elizabeth’s dominions. Sir Christopher’s son John divided up the extensive
lands acquired by the family in Elizabeth’s and James ['s reigns between his
three elder sons, by far the best portion falling to Francis, the eldest, who
obtained the estate centred on Lehinch in the Robe valley in Kilmaine and
adjoining baronies. Though the Garveys of Lehinch lost almost every acre
they possessed during the Cromwellian transplantations in the 1650s,
Edmund’s forbears continued, for reasons which remain obscure, to use for
two generations more the style ‘of Lehinch'; Edmund’s father, another
Francis, being (according to the Genealogical Office pedigree) the first to use
the style ‘of Rosmindle’. The same source tells us that Edmund moved from
Rosmindle, and we find his son, Francis, a third of the same name, reziding in
the 1840s and 1850s at Falduff, on the south shore of Clew Bay, adjoining
Kilgeever.

Although Garveys had come to Mayo as Protestants in Reformation
times. it looks as though at least the Lehinch line had, through marriage or
otherwise, returned to the old religion. The Francis who was Edmund’s
grandfather married a Moore of Brees. His grandson James married a
Jordan, and Edmund’s father Francis married another: while Edmund
himself married a Catholic, Anastatia, daughter of Ingatius Kelly of
Castlegar. Penal Laws or no penal laws, this was not actually a very unusual
state of affairs. Edmund Garvey’s cousin, Bonadventure Garvey of Murrisk,
married a Roman Catholic lady, Margaret Merrick of Tuam. in the early
1790s which gave rise to interminable litigation. Even the Brownes who had
also of course been Jacobites were Catholics as late as 1729, and sundry
collaterals went on a good deal longer. Moreover, Catholic Relief Acts had,
from the 1780s onward, repealed many of the more distressing and
humiliating provisions of earlier enactments.

While Edmund describes himself (in Prisoners’ Petitions 1800/46) as ‘a
person of but very moderate property’, one notes that he readily put up a
recognizance of £500 for himself, and two friends — ‘esteemed and known to
be men of furtunje and high character’ — put up further sureties of £250 apiece.
These were considerable sums at the time - both absolutely, and more so still
In a cash-starved econonty, where land, the main receptacle of value, could
not, hpqause of the entailing of estates, readily be converted into cash :A.Il the
same It is clear that Edmund’s tribulations constituted a substantial economi
disaster." In the petition already quoted he tells the Lord Lieute oAbt

. ! - nant that,

before misfortunes befell him, he had established himself at his residence *
the seacoast of the west of Ireland’, in the salt-making bu'siness It o
seems, his only iron in the fire, for he says merely that it w e
‘I'."hiﬂﬂ relied’ . ds llpﬂl'l it thﬂt hﬂ

liefly re (not exclusively depended). All th :

being ‘totally dependent i i _i.Same the sy business,
p nt on his skill and attention’ had been ‘from the




moment of his first arrest, totally unproductive’. For a while it had been
» possible for Edmund’s mother (Anastatia Garvey, nee Jordan) to superintend
the salt business while Edmund was under arrest; but the distress occasioned
by her son’s imprisonment, combined with the *dissipation of his property and
the final ruin of his prospects’ had brought down the old lady’s grey hairs in
sorrow to the grave. There is however still a faint whiff of mystery about
Edmund’s economics. He comes back to the subject in an ‘address’ (SOC
3687/11) directed in February 1807 to an unnamed functionary at the Castle —
probably Joseph Trail, the under-Secretary, or possibly Thomas Kemmis, the
Crown Solicitor. ‘My great crime’ Edund writes ‘is to have a little
independent property, and mercantile connexions in England by whose
means it is probable I will be able to improve that property’. But, not perhaps
surprisingly, given that Edmund has just spent five years abroad, there have
been encroachments — ‘a part of that property has been for some time in the
hands of others, without even a pretended claim’, and ‘another part 15 NOwW
wanted’. Much that looks interesting eludes us here. What were the English
mercantile connexions? Who were the trespassers on Edmund’s property?
What was the thing about salt-making? It must either have been very lucrative
(Edmund had a shot at starting it up in Galway during an interlude of
freedom in 1800 but Denis Browne and his henchmen soon put a stop to that)
or — perish the thought — could it have been a cover for some other, more
obviously remunerative activity, like smuggling?

In the way of personal details we learn surprisingly little from so much
paper. Two points only are worth retention. A letter from Galway dated 16
July 1800 to a correspondent in Dublin Castle (filed with Prisoners’ Petitions
1800/417) records that his recent arrest (the fifth) fell when he was "on the eve
of being married’, thus inflicting on him a loss ‘which is now worse than
death’. Unfortunately we do not know whether the lady in question was the
one whom he eventually did marry — Julia, the daughter of Ignatius Kelly of
Castlegar — nor, if so, whether he managed to get her to the altar in time to
take her to Portugal with him when he went there the following year. The
second crumb of evidence relates to Edmund’s health and physique. He says,
in his petition to Lord Cornwallis in 1800, that he was never a soldier nor a
sailor but that, when the French came in 1798, he volunteered for service
against them, only to be rejected by the CO of the Newport corps of
yeomanry on the ground of the shortness of his sight. This, he was told, made
him ‘totally unfit for military duty’. Likewise, when Edmund, after his fifth
arrest, was being moved from Galway to Dublin, we find Brigadier-General
Thomas Meyrick (who otherwise emerges as a fairly clockwork brand of
senior officer) asking Dublin Castle whether he may advance the cost of
hiring a horse, since Edmund *does not seem very capable of undertaking so
long a march’. A

The Right Honourable Denis Browne, M.P., the author of Ecl_muncl
Garvey’s troubles, achieved notoriety by the zeal and brutality with which he
pursued the Mayo rebels of 1798. In his day he was Donnchadh an Rdpa

L
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Denis the Rope, and local legend remembers him as ‘Soap-the-Rope Browne'
(from his technological contribution to the increased productivity of the
hanging industry). As chairman of the Mayo bench of magistrates, he was
well placed to order arrests and to get his victims prosecuted; but it was death
sentences he was after, and his corfespondence attests alike the trouble he
would go to to be present on the grisly occasion and the perverted pleasure
which he derived from seeing the deed done. In his Westport House and the
Brownes, Denis Browne's namesake, the tenth marquess of Sligo, who
generally manages to find a good word to say for most of his forbears,
attempts no apologia. The Right Honourable Denis, he says:

.. -was an able man, but never felt that his abilities were stretched. It was

said that he was jealous of his elder brother, and even more jealous of his
nephew when he became the second Marquess. Perbaps it was over-

compensation, a wish to show his power, so typical of petty dictators, that
made him react so harshly when Humbert's invasion collapsed. He hung
[sic] arbitrarily, and without proper trial, some [sic] of the Irish who had
joined the rebellion. . .[he] abused his privileged position with a callous
disregard for the aspirations of others. (WH and the B, p. 32).
True, the rebels, on the morrow of the battle of Castlebar (i.e. 28 August)
had seized Westport and occupied both Westport House and Denis Browne's
own residence at Mount Browne. However well or badly these uninvited
guests may have behaved — there is conflicting evidence on this — both
brothers took to their heels and, though they were back before many davs had
passed, the experience cannot have endeared the rebels to either of them.

~The main obstacle to the fulfilment of Denis Browne’s hang ‘em-all
policy was the political views of Lord Cornwallis, the ‘Lord Lieutenant
General and General Governor of Ireland’, to give him his full title.
Cornwallis was a soldier-statesman whose experience encompassed the
American War of Independence (it had fallen to him to surrender the British
forces to General Washington at Yorktown in 1781), the Governor-
Generalship of India and the defeat of the Franco-Irish forces under General
Humbert. Later, he was to negotiate the Peace of Amiens with the French. in
1802, and‘ thereafter to return to India for a second spell as Viceroy. If :;ne
were to divide Ireland’s British rulers into the proponents of conciliation and
those of coercion, Cornwallis would be found unquestionably among the
concilators, as indeed would be his Prime Minister, William Pitt the Younger
who resigned in 1801 when he failed to carry Catholic Emancipation. So glsu
would other members of the team, the young Castlereagh as Chief S‘ﬁ:[,e‘[a
(into whose soul the iron — very conspicuous in later life — had not t
entered), Elllmu as under-secretary, and — in the judiciary — Lord Kilw rcf :
as Lord Chy:l" Justice. Cornwallis let it be known to the presiding offi : Er;
courts martial, and to the civil courts, that he wished to see the dfath i ln
reserved to extreme cases of treachery and brutality: if it were Enlagltmyt

necessary to put offenders out of harm’s w i
: ay, Lh :
transportation overseas. Y. the primary remedy lay in




Denis Browne regarded Cornwallis and his policy — to borrow a term
from a later age — as ‘wet’ through and through, and could never forgive him.
Here is Browne sounding off on the subject in a letter to“Alexander Marsden
in Dublin Castle on 18 May 1800 (Rebellion Papers 620/57/16):

I had him [Edmund Garvey] taken, and prosecuted him before a court
martial for the fact. He was conviced to the satisfaction of every person.
But the mercy of the court, chiming with the feelings of Lord Cornwallis,
sentences Mr. Garvey to transportation for life, instead of Death which
his crime well meritted. [Underlining added].

Seven years and two lords licutenant later (for Cornwallis had resigned
with Pitt in 1801 and died in India in 1805}, we find him at it again in a letter
to.Marsden’s successor Joseph Trail on 26 February 1807 (SOC 3687/18):

Edmund Garvey. . .was convicted of high treason by a court martial and,

in pursuance of the mild maxims of Lord Cornwallis, was transported for
life, instead of being hanged as he well deserved. [Underlining added].

and, referring in the same letter to Edmund’s release by Lord Kilwarden,

Denis Browne goes on:
In those strange times it was not uncommon to see the Publick Safety
sacrificed to Vanity and to a wish for Popularity, which took in more than
one object.

For him, repression was more than a mere reaction to the rebellion.
Psychologists no doubt have a name for his obsessive preoccupation with
capital punishment. But there is ideology here as well. Richard Hayes, in The
Last Invasion of Ireland, quotes at page 16 a report which Browne submitted
to the Castle as early as 1794 — the doctrines of liberty and equality had
«‘permeated the lower classes’ in his constituency; the works of Thomas Paine”
were widely read and, if a landing of French troops took place, they would be
joined by the main body of the people. Here we have an early glimpse of
Denis Browne the ideologue, who ran an intelligence network financed by
Secret Service funds, and established himself as Dublin Castle’s homme de
confiance and principal informant in Mayo.

Browne had a hand in most of the prosecutions that followed the
rebellion in Mayo; but for Edmund Garvey he seems to have had a special rod
in pickle:

Previous to the invasion of the French of Mayo, I had information that
Mr. Garvey was a seditious person and as such had him watched; but by
the system of watchfulness of the traytors of that time, and by the

cleverness of Mr. Garvey, he evaded my enquiry and pursued his mischief
unmolested (6205/57/16).

Seven years on (Browne to Trail, 12 February 1807, 3687/10) Edmund's
devilish cunning is still uppermost in his tormentors mind:

Mr. Garvey is an educated man of very superior ability. He engaged early
in the conspiracy of the United Irishmen and carried on his practices in
such a way that [ could not come at him. But he did infinite mischief with
great ability. He endeavoured to disorganise everything, to prevent the

¥

credit of the National Bank paper - then the only circulating medium, to
prevent conviction by juries and to unite all in detestation of the
Government and the English connexion.

But, in the end, persistence had its reward:

In 1798 I had the good fortune to catch him. I got hold of a letter of his to
the French Generil, through the medium of a rebel with him® advising
with as much ability as wickedness the mode and means of conquering this
island and connecting it with France. I caused him to be arrested and
convicted him to the satisfaction of the court and the whole country of
H15,h Treason. He was condemned to transportation beyond seas for life;
and it was a sentence of great lenity.
The authenticity of the letter, which Browne describes as being ‘of the
greatest atrocity’, written by ‘a most dangerous person’, is examined in detail
below. Here we are concerned rather with the motivation of Browne’s
vendetta against Edmund. ‘I have’, he concludes (Rebellion Papers 620/57/
16) ‘done more than my duty respecting this person. My conduct has more the
appearance of persecution than precaution, yet [ am unwilling to say all that I
think and feel on this business’. Since reticence in relation to the offences of
‘traytors’ was wholly alien to Denis Browne’s style of behaviour during these
years, his remark last quoted raises an enquiring eyebrow. Oddly enough we
find Denis Browne's elder brother, Lord Altamont, writing, apparently out of
the blue, to Cornwallis (State Prisoners 21, May 1799) enquiring whether
Edmund could not be allowed to transport himself voluntarily to America.
(We see Lord Altamont’s letter being sent on from Phoenix Park to the Castle
— private secretary to private secretary — with request for advice: but no more is
revealed). What on earth can be going on here? Could there in fact have been
some personal reason? — a woman? a debt? a piece of land? rivalry in
business? childhood or boyhood hatred? — which fuelled and intensified
Browne's itch to do Edmund down, and moved his brother to try and get
cllidrf'mnd out of the country. Such an hypothesis can be neither confirmed or
enied on evidence currently available.

In one of the final salvoes fired by Denis B 3
fﬂliﬂwing p[ﬂm of E'hraPI]EI: Y Dems Browne 1n 1807 we find the

In Connaught the return of such & man as Mr Garvey | 1

: ! IS particul
dangerous In its example, when the resident farmers ar}tr: mgstl;c;f z:l;g
class description and religion of Mr. Garvey, where there are few resident
gentry to control or interfere with the influence of these middle men over
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€ case. . .In my mind he in an incurable rebel and
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slipped back in the 17th and the first half of the 18th centuries into the faith of
their ancestors, thereafter began one by one to ‘conform’ to the beliefs of the
Church of Ireland by law established. As for ‘class description’, the ancestors
of both men — John Browne of the Neale and Christopher Garvey of Lehinch
— there was not much to choose between them. They had come to Mayo
together. They were both, for better or worse, gentry, though the Brownes
had played for higher stakes, got (and eventually managed to hold on to)
more land, become richer and got ennobled, while Edmund’s holding of land
in Rosmindle was minuscule in comparison. Still, Browne’s attempt to dress
up his prejudices in the language of sociology is not persuasive; nor is it
entirely easy to reconcile the ‘middle man' farmer with the earlier
characterisation of Edmund as ‘an educated man, of very superior ability’.
We may conclude that Denis Browne was merely trying to be nasty and, as
often, his personal qualities were ensuring success.

This said, an attempt must now be made to assess whether Edmund
Garvey was guilty or innocent of the charge of high treason. The lapse of
nearly two centuries lends a certain perspective, but makes the discovery of
further evidence unlikely.

Of the proceedings of the Court Martial at Castlebar, no record has been
found save the sentence, of which a copy is preserved at SOC 3687/3. It is

undated.
Sentence passed on Edmund Garvey, tried by Court Martial at Castlebar.
The Court having considered the Evidence for the prosecution as well as
that offered by the prisoner in his defence, do find him guilty of the Crime
laid to his charge and do therefore sentence him to be transported for life.

G. JACKSON
Colonel and President.®

' This tells us little that we do not already know, though it disposes of
Hayes’s statement (The Last Invasion of Ireland, p.309) that Edmund
‘received a sentence of death which was commuted by Lord Cornwallis to
penal servitude for life’. For an account of what actually passed at the trial we
are thus driven back to the statements by Denis Browne already quoted
above, and to the meandering but reasonably concrete and coherent story
related by Edmund in his petition to Cornwallis of July 29 (or 31) 1800
(Prisoners’ Petitions 1800/416).

Though Denis Browne's writings are full of assertions, as we have seen,
of Edmund’s wickedness and disloyalty, and the danger which he represented
to society, it appears that the prosecution chose to rest their case solely upon
the evidence of the letter (here reproduced at Appendix 2), and on the
testimony of two witnesses who swore that the handwriting was Edmund’s,
no evidence being offered impugning his loyalty and good character.
Accordingly, Edmund explains, the defence was content to demolish the
allegation that he was the writer. The two prosecution witnesses admitted
under cross-examination that they had not seen Edmund write anything for

upwards of two years ‘and then but once’; and one of them acknowledged
having been ‘for a long time at law and on bad terms’ with him. By contrast,
the defence called *five gentlemen of respectability and known loyalty’, who
swore, each of them, to an accurate knowledge of Edmund’s handwriting,
that the letter in question bore no similitude thereto, and that positively it was
not in Edmund’s handwriting. Having thus shot the prosecution’s case down
in flames, Edmund’s counsel decided not to importune the court with
character evidence. It was not, of course, the sort of court that they were used
to, nor perhaps would it have done any good if they had. At a later stage, as
Edmund mentions at the end of his petition, ‘many more witnesses' came
forward ‘to disprove the said letter’. They included in particular a Mr.
Dominick Blake, who would not merely testify that the handwriting is not
Edmund’s, but *will also prove that it is the handwriting of one Miles Jordan,
who was shot at Ballinamuck’. Both Blakes and Jordans were good families of
Mayo gentry at the time. Edmund’s mother had been a Jordan. It seems likely
that all of them, including Edmund, were Catholics. On present information
there is no identification of a Miles or a Dominick, ;

But if the need for evidence of good character had been discounted at the
;‘:ﬂut:t I".:*Iartrlal,-nt became, with Edmund in and out of jail and petitioning for a
fresh trial, a commodity of the first importance. He was, he said, not short of
it; only the opportunity to bring it to bear was lacking. He offered to produce
gentlemen who during the rebellion had resided in the same barony with him
and had been eyewitnesses of his ‘correct and loyal conduct’: |

If allowed the benefit of a trial by due course of law or if Your Excellency
pleases by a court martial, vour petitioner could fully establish his
Innocence or, if discharged on his former recognizances could. if deemed
necessary, obtain certificates of his loyalty and general good conduct from
the entire barony in which he resided, and from the most respectable
gentleman in the whole country, [Underlining added)].
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Ilterent language: as he notes in the same petition ‘his arrest was occasioned

by the enmity and hatred of some
e persons of rank and -
where vour Petitioner fﬂrmgﬂ:‘r resided’. n } property in the county

Now, to the letter. It is unda i
: 3 ted. No place of origin is giv it i
: = ‘ en, and
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Crillon. His master went into exile after the revolution and Gannon returned
to Mayo, where in 1798 he joined Humbert. On the run, and with a price on
his head, he was captured in November 1799, sentenced to transportation,
but escaped and after some years as a priest in France, died in Lille as a
chaplain to the French army.

The message of the letter can be distilled into five propositions:

— ‘suspected persons’ (i.e. loyalists, adherents of the old regime in
Connacht) must be put where they will be safe from personal violence,
but will be unable either to pass intelligence or to spread alarm and
despondency. There can be no question of keeping any of them in
public positions.

— in granting Commissions, take good care that no one group is favoured
over others, or you will have grave trouble over jealousies.

— native Irish troops should be tried out in small operations before they
are allowed to get into major engagements: they will be more reliable
on foot than on horseback.

— British soldiers should receive a warm invitation to come over to the
rebel side, but should be ‘trusted with caution’ if they come.

— but yeomen (i.¢ local Irish) who join the rebel cause have their heart in
the right place; and a sure way to it is the offer of land when the victory
15 won.

In substance this is not bad advice to offer provided that the recipient is
assumed to be quite unfamiliar with the political situation in Mayo. But the
language inewhich it is expressed cannot fail to strike the reader as odd. In the
other examples of his style which we have, Edmund writes a resonably clear
and distinct brand of prose. Here the writer, as though made nervous by the
solemnity of the occasion, waffles on dreadfully, like Polonius, his text
studded with maxims (‘the natives, I conceive, should be tried in Skirmishes
or marches to different places. . .”) and generalisations (‘*habit produces
courage. . .', ‘the courage of one often communicates itself to others. . .’
‘Fear is epidemical’). And then there are the gallicisms — ‘He is arrived at the
moment the most favourable’ (? il est arrivé au moment le plus propice); the
former governing class appear as ‘the suspect persons’, which means nothing
much in English but becomes clear enough when we go into French. Les
suspects were the target of the notorious Loi des suspects passed by the
Convention on 17 September 1793, on the basis of which almost anyone could
be classified as an enemy of the revolution. All in all, the letter is a peculiar
missive for anyone to address to Father Michael Gannon, whom Edmund
(supposing he wrote it) must, as a Catholic, have known pretty well and who
had, it appears, spent the best part of the preceding seven years in and around
his native Louisburgh, engaged in assessing the prospects for mass rebellion.

Though much of the advice it tenders is sensible and indeed sensitive, the
letter is perfectly plainly treasonable from the viewpoint not merely of ‘ultras
like Denis Browne, but from that of anyone seeking to govern Ireland and

defend it against the French. Who wrote it? Denis Browne insisted thal
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Edmund did, arguing that ‘E.G.’ was obviously Edmund Garvey and seeking
to prove without much success, that the handwriting was his. It does not seem
to have occurred to anyone that ‘E.G." might as easily have been Edmund
Gibbons, elder son of John Gibbons of Westport, a landowner and agent to
Lord Altamont. This Edmund was captured, court-martialled and ordered to
be hanged; but his sentence was commuted and he escaped from a ship bound
for Botany Bay, joined the Irish Legion in France and died in Boulogne.
And, as already noted, Dominick Blake was prepared to swear that the
handwriting was that of Miles Jordan. Finally noone, not even Denis Browne,
seems to have been prepared, once the original court-martial finding had
been overturned, to bring the question of authorship of the letter to an issue
in the courts of common law.

In his book The Last Invasion of Ireland Richard Hayes (at p. 308)
classified Edmund Garvey as one of the ‘local insurgent leaders’, interesting
mainiy because of the fact that he ‘belonged to the landed gentry’, added that
Edmund ‘joined the French forces on their arrival’. Hayes offers no crumb of
collateral for this last statement which, were it a matter of fact, would with
reasonable certainty have been picked up and used without mercy by Denis
Browne in his prosecution. Nor again do any of the Crown lawyers who time
and again sifted the case against Edmund come up with any suggestion that he
‘joined the French forces’. And, for what it is worth, we have Edmund’s
statement that he was as blind as a bat and was found totally unfit for military
service when he offered his services to the British. In fact this seems to be a
third careless error committed by Hayes in his treatment of Edmund, who is
as an actor of less than the first rank, swept up in an appendix the labelling r.::i"'
which has gone wrong.

An ironical consequence of this state of affairs is that the modest but
honourable place that Hayes — and other students of 1798 — have accorded to
Edml:md Garvey in the Pantheon of Irish revolutionary patriots appears
definitely less than secure. He may indeed — and such views were by no means
unknown in the class to which he belonged — have felt an affinity with th
largely Catholic, or ‘closet’ Catholic, taridowners around Clew Ba}' and hﬂ
had ample grounds for hating and fedring the Brownes. He may ln{}}rl';,avf: h g
his emotions stirred by the French revolution and have read Tom Pain l::-al
E%gl‘r; ’;swnﬂ-:} lfjulg-lgﬂﬂig:e thathhfl was a United Irishman (had there bl:e: L ttlf;
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(Gibbonses, MacDonnells, Prendergasts, Sweeneys and the like) live rough
among the rocks of Connemara and try to escape to France? Not a bit of it.
He continued to sit in Rosmindle making salt until Denis Browne came to get
him. Surely had Edmund really been a ‘traytor’, he would have been
delighted that the court martial had been fools enough to let him off with
transportation for life, and would have accepted his fate in the expectation
that, like many others, he would slip away to France and fight again? His
behaviour, be it said in all seriousness, will not sustain the burden of glory
which historians have tried to thrust upon it, much as they have sought to
magnify and romanticise that other unheroic figure ‘President” John Moore.
To their credit, the judiciary throughout jibbed at convicting him, and his
persecutor, Denis Browne, took good care not to let Edmund’s case come
before a court of common law. Let us then apply the rules of evidence, acquit
him of treason and let him retire quietly from the hall of fame.

APPENDIX 1

Emergency Powers

The response of authority to the rebellion of the United Irishmen
unfolded by several stages as the needs of the moment changed and
developed.

Initially, the firm hand was all-important: the outbreak in Leinster on 23
May 1798 was answered on the following day by the proclamation of martial
Jaw. In proclaiming it the Lord Lieutenant, Lord Camden, relied, as he was
“entitfed to do, upon the Royal Prerogative as his warrant — in the face of
manifest armed insurrection — for ousting the normal jurisdiction of the
Courts. Lord Camden’s martial law was still in force when the French landed
on 22 August, and was made ample use of in the reprisals taken against their
Irish allies after General Humbert’s surrender on 8 September.

But once the initial blood-letting was over, the Government's prime need
was for getting off its hands the numerous rebels, many of them in truth of
relatively minor importance, who had been rounded up and confessed their
guilt. To execute these people in cold blood would contribute nothing to the
pacification of the country: besides, Lord Camden had been succeeded as
Lord Lieutenant by Lord Cornwallis, whose experience as a statesman and a
man of the world strongly predisposed him against avoidable killing. The
solution adopted was the enactment on 6 October 1798 of the statute (38 Geo
111 78) generally referred to as The Banishment Act. It provided for thff
‘pardon’ of named rebels on conditjon that they got out, and I:'.ta_yed out, 0
British territory, but did not go to countries at war with Britain. Sureties
could be required for the performance of these conditions, the penalty fﬂ[
breach of which was death or transportation for life. Some 90 prisoners ar
listed by name, and there is provision both in the Act itself and in the
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supplementary Act passed on 7 May 1799 (39 Geo III ¢.36) for others,
including persons not yet sentenced, but who qualified for “pardon’, to be
disposed of by the same process.

As noted above, Martial Law, ‘by Prerogative' was considered to be
wholly appropriate in emergency conditions of open insurrection. But once
the French had surrendered, and the Courts of Common Law had resumed
functioning, courts martial could not be retained without legislative sanction
{: mar:m]l law by statute’) granted (and renewable) only for short periods of
time. With several well-known ‘traitors’ still at large and on the run, the
government could not afford to let this power go by default; and the
Suppression of Rebellion Act (the Rebellion Act for short) -39 Geo Il ¢ 1 -
became law on 25 March 1799, empowering the Lord Lieuterant to authorise
trial by court martial for all offences committed in furtherance of the
rebellion. No proceedings under martial law were to be challenged in the
courts of common law; and the Crown’s certificate that they were taken in
accordance with the Rebellion Act was to be conclusive, and a sufficient
return to a writ of habeas corpus.

This dismantling of the habeas corpus safeguard was made more explicit
and extensive in an Act passed three weeks later (*. . .to empower the Lord
Lmut?nrant. . .to app;‘chend and detain such persons as he. . .shall suspect for
conspiring against His Majesty’s person and government’ - 40 Geo 11 ¢ 18 of
10 April 1800, generally referred to as the Habeas Corpus Suspension Act. It
instituted a super-warrant (the ‘secretary’s warrant’ signed personally by the
Chief Secretary, or the Lord Lieutenant himself, or six members of the Privy
Council) under which anyone detained for ‘high treason, suspicion of high
l;eg;sr;:-l] ?r 1r¢afr.:-nahlr.- practices’ was to be kept in custody, without bail or
avil tnal, any law or statute to the contrary notwi 1
until Zhﬁ March 1801 and was renewable. 2 e T -Aﬂ £

The Rebellion Act and the Habeas Corpus Suspension Act w
renewed by the Irish Parliament in 1800, ;Etd su'nn:r.l::::-:]u»‘{:ntI'_»,r ;lmlcfl:;c]:lﬂ::
Westminster as statutes of the United Kingdom. Following Robert Emmet's
rising in Dublin on 29 July 1803, a new Rebellion Act (43 Geo 111 ¢ 116) and a
new Habeas Corpus Suspension Act (43 Geo III ¢ 117) were renewed at
intervals, finally running out on 8 March 1806.

APPENDIX 2
EDMUND GARVEY: '
THE LETTER FOUND ON THE FIELD OF BALLINAMUCK

Following is full text of the copy of the letter i

preserved in the St
Office under ref. SOC 3687/14. 1 have punctuated and paragra;hm: ti": rna[:i?;
Interests of comprehensibility, but have made no other addition: and 1 have

included two passages which Richard Have ' : e
appearing at page 309 of The Last Invasion of ?r'gﬁr;mm his transcription




To CITIZEN GANNON,
COMMISSARY TO THE FRENCH AT CASTLEBAR.

[no date]

[no place of origin]

My dear Friend,

Amidst the hurry of business in which from your present situation you
are involved, and which I have no doubt you will discharge with fidelity and
honour, I trust you will forgive my taking up your time by communicating my
Ideas to you, and through you to the French General, at this Important
Period.

He is arrived at the moment the most favourable when the Government,
as if excited by some supernatural Impulse, accelerate their own destruction.
After Exciting animosity amongst the people, armed a part to massacre the
rest and proclaimed a religious war, this Religious Prejudice — policy requires
— should be fed and encouraged: but humanity requires it should not be
permitted to go to the length of taking away life in every Town.

The General should, in my mind, place the Suspected persons in a state
as to be perfectly secure from Personal Violence, and yet not have it in their
power to injure the common cause either by communicating Intelligence to
the enemy, or fabricating reports to damp or chill the Public Spirit; but above
aM that they should not be permitted to hold any kind of Employment at this
Crisis — the Effect it would have on the Multitude is inconceivable.

The General will not, I trust, be led to make any particular distribution
of Commissions to any particular set of Men so as to Excite Jealousy amongst
the rest: though only weak Minds could feel any in so great a cause, yet even
this has ruined Ireland in a former period.

The Natives, I conceive, should be tried in Skirmishes or Marches to
different places before they engage in a General Action. Habit produces
courage, or insensibility of danger which produces the same effect. Suppose
an attack on Sligo, if the General thinks the Army could be divided with
safety there — they would be recruited by Thousands of Enthusiasts, and the
habit and pride of Conquest would recruit their courage, and the main army
might easily prevent their being attacked from Athlone.

The example of the yeomanry shews, and the conduct of the Cavalry in
the engagement at Castlebar proves, how dangerous it is to trust on
Horseback any but Experienced Soldiers. Many, seized by an impulse
sometimes Irresistable, run on horseback, who would fight well on foot. The
courage of one often communicates itself to others. But fear is Epidemical:
the flight of one'often brings that of a whole Regiment.

The Su!diﬂré.kshnﬁld be invited to come over with warmth, but trusted

with Caution,
\ N
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Of the Yeomen who join, their fidelity is Unquestionable. They all like
the Cause.

But above all, my friend, the Men should be roused. Encouraged,
animated. They should be told they fight for their God, their country and
themselves. The principle of the Partition of Lands amongst them should be
Inculcated, as I think by the French General. This would be Speaking at once
to their feelings and Understandings. This Doctrine, once Inculcated, would
shake the old Government to its centre. It will communicate thro’ the
Kingdom like an Electrick Spark. It will spread dismay and distrust thro’ the
Ranks of our Enemies, may cause such Desertion among the Military
particuiarly the Militia, that the Government may fall without a Struggle an{i
die without a blow,

The Expectation of our friends, the fears of our Enemies, are Realized
by _the Victory at Castlebar. The courage of French Soldiers, the Talents of
their Commanders is established by the suspected persons — I mean those
favoured by the old Government and those against whom the Public
Indignation is Excited.

I remain your attached friend

E.G.




Noles

1. We do not know how much land Edmund owned, nor indeed whether he actually
owned Rosmindle. The fact that Rosmindle townland amgunted to a mere 86
acres, suggests that Edmund may have held it in conjuction with neighbouring
townlands backing on the tidal basin of Castleaffy Strand which, taken as a unit,
may have had some relevance to the salt-making business. By the same token, the
Ordnance survey Namebooks (cited by J. Duffy in Cathair na Mart Vol. 5 No. 1)
show it as held in 1838, along with six contiguous townlands, by Sir Samuel
O'Malley, Bart. The nature of Sir Samuel’s tenure requires closer definition. For
purposes of comparison, the Falduff property to which Edmund moved when he
left Rosmindle, amounted in 1855 to 515 acres.

2. Pamne (1737-1809), an Englishman, had taken a minor part in both the American
and French revolutions. His writing, including The Rights of Man (1791/2) and
The Age of Reason (1793) became the bible of contemporary radicalism. But one
may wonder how many readers it found in the Mayo countryside.

3. The meaning of this passage, though not instantly clear, is that the letter was
addressed to General Humbert through the intermediary of the ‘rebel with him’;
not that Browne got hold of it through the ‘rebel’. We know from RP 620/57/16
that Browne received the ‘parcel of letters from different traytors of Mayo' from
the Sheriff of Co. Leitrim, who had received them from Ballinamuck. The letters
are stated in the same passage to have been addressed to ‘La Roche, the French
interpreter’. (Actually, according to Hayes, Last Invasion p.299, La Roche, who
came from France as Humbert's ADC, was an Irishman called Byrne from a
family in the linen trade in Lisburn and Dundalk). Edmund’s purported letter,
however, is to Father Michael Gannon, not La Roche, and pace Hayes (p. 308)
there was only one letter (not ‘letters’) purporting to be from Edmund.

Ed. by Eileen O'Byrne, published 1981 by the Irish MSS Commuission.
There may well have been more that one Colonel Jackson around, but one such, a
colonel of yeomanry from Tireragh, came from a Cromwellian family and, where

& Tebels’ were concerned, had the name of being quick with the rope. If this be he,
it says something that he let Edmund go alive (cf. Hayes, pp 24, 262, 274, 284).

6. As already noted, the letter was unsigned and concluded merely with the ininals
‘E.G.°

7. He is' almost certainly the same Father Michael Gannon who marned
Bonadventure Garvey and Margaret Merrick at Murrisk Abbey in 1793 or carly

1794, whereby hangs another tale.

SIR TERENCE GARVEY: M.A. (Oxford). Born Dublin 1915 of the
Murrisk Abbey family which was related to Edmund Garvey, and now lives in
Thallabaun, Louisburgh. Sometime British ambassador in Peking, Belgrade
and Moscow. Author of Bones of Contention, and enguiry into east-wes!

relations (London, 1978).
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SAINT MARCAN’S LOCH AND EARLY ECCLESIASTICAL RUINS AT
ROSSCLAVE'
by Rev. P. J. Gullane, Newport.

The Loch is now the head of the Rossclave Inlet, but it was once a fresh
water lake, cut off from the sea by a ridge which connected with the south
shore even in historical times.

Beginning from the west, we first find the ruins of Saint Marcan's®
Church, of which only a fragment of the west wall now remains. This church
was 15 feet long by 10 feet wide, and lay N.W. by 5.E. The south gable
abutted on the shore and was awash at high tide. The projection from the
north gable no longer exists.

The church was called Teampall Marcain, and the adjoining plot of
ground was called Garrdha an Teampaill.

_ About 50 yards S.E. of this church is the Children’s Burial Ground in
which there still seems to be evidence of a small church that was built around
an ancient dolmen, as at Holywell, Ballyhaunis. This site at Rossclave was
[:-rrr;nvl::-zltflj.r used t'nr' pagan worship and burials in prehistoric times. It is now
called “The Green’. At least one ancient relic still remains intact. It is a large,
ﬂ;::, whltte smn;::, lll'in::lasuru*.‘Fgﬂl ?’ x4’ x2V2" (called An Alt6ir). It may have been

capstone of a dolmen, Altdir Todhail (idols). It is still

Rock of the Penal Times. [ ] B

Where the tide now runs into Loch Marcain there once stood a heap of
large stones, around which pilgrims walked and prayed as they performed the
usual stations on Saint Marcan's Day, 1st August. This Leacht of stones is
marked C on the Ordnance Survey Map.

" Ahnu'_t 20 yards to N.N.E. of An Aitéir is Saint Marcan’s Well, on the
shore at high water mark. It is dry at low tide. Water from this well had a
E;?ja:hrapwutz;:mn as a cattle cure. Stations were performed around the Altéir

€ Well every year on the Eighth D i 1
Day ot Nm-.rpnrl.ry y g ay of June, which was the great Fair

It was usual also to swim sick cattle and ho
‘ : : TSES across
1nvnI:hthE Intercession of Saint Marcan for their cure S A and

out 100 yards east of the well, another Leacht n.f sto i
‘ » Al nes marks th
E:aarga Tgﬁnt ?:Iran?ﬁg - r]11uw called Caiseal Marcain. It is possible that ;::111?:

la ce dwell on this cranndg, too. i 1

wsmg only at very low tide, : = mkneticeiet e
n the ridge to the north of this point i i

SafLi P T point 1s an ancient earthwo i
pl:'ehlsmnc Ring Fort, about 37 feet in diameter, which gives Furt::r el
that fﬁfn settled here permanently very long ago progt

€ ruins of a small ch I Sai 1o :
Ki!bride graveyard beside tl:e lrlnrgl:n ‘ifif;-;ff t;c;ﬁ::m o, stll stand.in
Brigid of Kildare was the original foundress, R S chabsiyeatt
adopted her name. Local legend carries a st
between a Saint Brigid of Kilbride and our S
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are told of other saints too. Theware simply embellishments invented by local

story tellers.

First Day of August, the Feast of Saint Marcan.

1.

# & 6 )

The traditional ‘stations’ as performed at Rossclave, Newport, on the
3

First go barefoot to the ‘Monument’ (the Leacht of stones).

Kneel facing the east, and say seven Paters, Aves and Glorias.

Next walk ‘deiseal’ (sunwise) around the ‘Monument’ seven times, and
repeat the seven Paters, Aves and Glorias en route.

Then return to the starting point. Kneel and offer seven more Paters,
Aves and Glorias. Finish with the Apostles’ Creed.

After this proceed to ‘The Green’ and kneel at the "Altoir’ to repeat the
seven Paters, Aves and Glorias, while facing east.

Then walk ‘deiseal’ around the mound on which the ‘Altéir’ is resting,
seven times, repeating the seven Paters, Aves, and Glorias en route, as
before.

Kneel again at the ‘Altar Stone’ facing east, and repeat the seven Paters,
Aves, and Glorias as before. Finish with Creed.

Finally, it is also the custom to perform a similar station at Saint Marcan’s
Well. Kneel, pray, and walk around as before. Here, too, according to
one's personal devotion, it is usual to include some suitable prayers for
the souls in Purgatory. Finish this station also by reciting the Apostles’

Creed.

The above traditional stations are often performed on other days in the
year; most particularly on the Eigth of June, which is the Great Fair Day

of Newport.
On this day people pray for a successful live-stock market.

‘A simple method of keeping tally of one’s ‘rounds’ is to pick up the exact

number of pebbles needed and drop one at the end of each ‘round’. This
can be repeated for each ‘station’. Obviously this method of tally is of

.very ancient origin.

Fragment of wall of Saint Marcan’s Church
On Rossclave Inlet, near Newport, Co. Mayo.

g Ahqr Stone at Children's Burial Ground
lose to Saint Marcan's Church. near Newport, Co. Mavo
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N h i on a paper by Hubert T. Knox which was read to the Royal THE l;} AA[; N['IIEF:“ES{S; EEAPL*F;IE}I;SD%[?J g:'S'I'LE
As5c L i i - 1 i - 4 ; -
ks ;;T;ii? ﬂ;ﬁiﬁ:iﬂq;.ﬁ]ﬁ;s of Ireland on 30 April 1918 and printed in their Journal for h}r 3% 1ath Duffy

rear 1919, : . e .
2 ESIIE i;;:can lived 500-550 A.D. He was the first missionary to live permanently

here as the Apostle of Burrishoole. His name derives from Marcach, horseman

odern, Ryder). 2
3 .E?;?;cere thenks are due to Mrs. Nora Lavelle, an old resident

In this article an account will be given of one Pat A. Heneghan from
Dooncastle, three miles south of Westport, born a short time after the
of Rossclave, who Famine, who became a brave and dauntless hero in the cause of Irish

: : : ' ditional ‘stations’. To quote freedom. Around 1870 he left for the U.S.A. where he worked at the trade of
very kindly EUPELmd : wrltm:jll:'?::if:g?:iﬁiézi:ﬂﬂihlﬁmcain: this is how 1 heard it coachbuilder. On Christmas Day 1884 he arrived in London from America. If
e w?éds, Tlhes::'n}cli?ﬁv years ago’. This account was written in 1984, and is little is known of Pat Heneghan's life up to 2 February 1885, the same is not
E;Tdu;i ?he I:fac:il?lli:nn of the local inhabitants for over a hundred ycarj:-':,h The E’%‘:’r true from that date forth.
version given below is based on that given by Mrs. Nora Lavelle. Throug In his own words he tells us:

St s thuts history. : . .
ood offices it is now on record as a contribution to locaE 4 [ was only a few months in London when one evening a few detectives
4. %llus!raliﬂnﬁ from Journal of the Royal Society of Antiquaries of Ireland, vol. 49 called to my rooms. They examined all my property, and shook the dust
(1919). out of one of my boxes and took charge of it. They questioned me as to
how I came from America; what business brought me. They had no
warrant for my arrest, but they asked me to go with them to Scotland
: - MAYO. Yard and repeat my statements. This I did; and from that day I was a
ST. MARCAN'S LOUGH AND RUINS, CO. M - prisoner. They produced the dust before the Inspector, an-:lyafter an
examination he threw it into the dust-bin. It was not dynamite! I was kept
there for three days, and each day I was brought intc the yard and
paraded before a number of people to see if any of them would identify
me as being connected with the explosions. This they were unable to do. |
was then brought up in Bow Street Police Court and was remanded day
after day for eleven or twelve weeks. Finally a True Bill was found against

TEenC IMOYE me and I was sent forward for trial at the Old Bailey the following May,
P e before Judge Hawkins — the mild and merciful(?). In all it was four
'\\\_/ months from the day 1 was first arrested until T stood in the dock in the
\2 Old Bailey. While being detained in Clerkenwell prison previous to the
5 (o trial, the prison authorities came and asked me to allow them to have my

+~ photograph taken, for purposes of identification later on, I believe. |

refused. They then said they would have it.in spite of me. T said the
would not and they did not. The following day, I was brought into the vard
and the photoghrapher was there. Two of the warders caught hold of my
arms, 1wo more caught me by the legs, and the Deputy-Governor caught
me by the neck, but I resisted. and with so0 much effect that the
photograph was not taken. This was repeated but without success. The
Deputy-Governor was so enraged at his failure, that he pressed his thumb
;:m the ball of my throat until he stopped my breathing. My throat was sore
ora week. It was only a ‘mockery of a trial’ - a farce The indictment read
out by the gentle Judge Hawkins charged me with ‘making war

'0 :ﬁ.ﬂd fﬂfﬁr‘! i
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g o TR against
.L!l Her Majesty’s subjects’. There were over a hundred witnesses pmﬁmam
Ll for the Crown, and not one of them was able to point to a single fact th
ij:l i“"- | - ; would incriminate me. One of them swore that he saw Lo 2
i REV. P. J. GULLANE: Has served as curate in Westport and Kilmeena. the time I was in New York. Another witness for the C:E:.- et
E'TE"E_I' also f;i G'laggnw Co. Galway and other areas in Co. Mayo. In 1974 he bcca{“}'ﬁ :'E “’ﬂﬁ ﬂd!:? rurer, that I was not in London at that time Innaﬂrrﬁvmﬁigth: t
s At : i 1 en Tt i . :
" Parish Priest of Moore, Co. Roscommon, and now lives in retirem H‘;,im‘,’ me“;‘n"f*w’,fi’;h“:';““' said there was nothing whatever va.ret[;
Hhi - ey could send me 1o The
Newport. \ 3 prison, Attorney-




General, in addressing the jury, said: ‘Gentlemep we don’t know but this
man belongs to a secret organisation in London; that he is at the head of
an organisation for making war against the Crown of England’. Judge
Hawkins in charging the jury said: ‘Gentlemen, you must have no doubt
on your mind that this is the man’. The jury thenTttired and after a few
minutes returned with a verdict of *Guilty’. There was no need for them to
retire at all. Judge Hawkins was in high delight at the verdict, and with
much smirking and smacking of the lips he said, with grim emphasis, ‘I
will give you penal servitude for life’. I was three days in Newgate and
then brought to Chatham.'

Between the years 1881 and 1885 many were convicted of various
offences in connection with the manufacture, possession and use of dynamite,
James McKevitt and James McGrath were convicted at the Liverpool Assizes
in July 1881, for causing a dynamite explosion with intent to blow up the
Town Hall.

Thomas Gallagher, Albert George Whitehead, Henry Hammond-
Wilson and John Curtin, were convicted at the Central Criminal Court in May
1883 on charges in connection with dynamite explosions in Liverpool.
Timothy Featherstone, Patrick Flanagan and Henry Dalton, were convicted
at the Liverpool Assizes in July 1883 for manufacturing dynamite in Cork and
bringing it to Liverpool. James McCulloch, Thomas Devanney, Peter
Callaghan, Henry McCann and Terence McDermott, were convicted in
Edinburgh in December 1883 in connection with explosions at Glasgow. John
Daly (later Mayor Limerick City) and James Francis Egan were convicted at
the Warwick Assizes in July 1884, for conspiracy and possession of dynamite
and bombs about the time of the explosion at Victoria Station. Thomas
Callan and Michael Hawkins were convicted at the Central Criminal Court in
January 1888, for the possession of dynamite in London in the autumn of
1887 with the supposed intention of causing an explosion at the House of
Commons, John Duff was charged with the alleged murder of a political
associate. All of these were Pat A. Heneghan's fellow prisoners at Chatham.

Tradition would add one more to that list — the name of Thomas Clarke,
the oldest signatory of the 1916 Proclamation. In 1880 Tom Clarke reached
London where he was soon arrested. He had been followed from New York
by Henri Le Caron a British spy. On 14 June 1883 at the Old Bailey he was,
with three others, sentenced to penal servitude for life.?

At the Old Bailey Pat A. Heneghan and James E. Gilbert were charged
with being connected with explosions at the Victoria Station, Scotland Yard,
the Junior Charlton Club, the Metropolitan Railway and the Tower of
London. They both received life sentences.

During the next fifteen years in the prisons of Chatham and Portland, Pa!
A. Heneghan and comrades endured without flinching an incessant attemp!
to deprive them of their lives and reasons. In his prime, Pat Heneghan 15
described as a man of fine physique, full of strength and activity, and equal 10
any amount of work. In Chatham Prison for six years he found the treatment

84

very harsh, the f-:mdr insqfﬁuicnl and the imposed work extremely hard. He
worked at carpentry in prison and enfeebled in health by the confinement . the
want of nourishing food, and long hours of labour, his constitution was n*;uch
weakened and he suffered much from varicose veins and weak lungs. He was
removed to Portland in 1891 where the treatment was a shade less severe
Twa of his mmradt_::-'. were unable to withstand the regime and were réleasaﬁ
in 1896 hopelessly insane.” Thomas Clarke was released in 1896. but Pat A
Heneghan remained on in despair with little hope of survival. l '
In order to protect his reiatives back home Pat A. Heneghan had used
‘Henry Burton® as an alias from the time of his arrest, and it is as Henry
Burton enquiries were made to the local police in Westport in May 1898. The
};:ulll];mtmsl; filt h{:,r ::HE ?Tmﬂ the neighbourhood of Westport and that he I;ad a
rother a baker. They felt Burt : 1 1
Drofhier A DakGE I 1:; ot on was not his true name and wondered did he
Thomas Clarke, Sergeant, set to work but cou
the prison authorities. A breakthrough uccurredl?nnﬁta:ltﬁﬂyfggga“i‘f:;?
Matthew Hen:;ghan of Westport sought an order to visit Henry Burton From
the Home Office came urgent enquiries as to whom this Matthew Heﬁeghan
!mght be. The Sergeant on this occasion was able to make the connection:
“There was no Matlhew‘Heneghan living in Westport’, he reported, ‘but thﬂl‘l:;
:‘s A‘nthng};‘ Ha:n-:gh:an living in Bridge Street, Westport, who is a!baker and
Has a pu 1f:~hnusﬂ. The secret was out, Anthony’s brother was Matthias
Benegh@n ‘who holds a small farm at a place called Dooncastle. Hen
agu;t;: ::EI:IE [t::{?ihf:r and h::‘:.| -:Eurrclfl name is Pat Heneghan. About 25 Ftarrg
2o merica and for the past 15 years they had not heard f
him'. The Sergeant explains that friends in Ameri 4 told Matthin
Heneghan about Henry Burton in jail. He f;ﬁed TEHE:E s e e
| : : L. family details and
continues ‘Anthony the baker is married and has FE{LhiEI::Ire T by
g:}nﬂ:}gﬂgltlnglglrcumstances. He told me if his brother was n:leasg:i itlfI:;[t Ilfﬂﬂwn::lyuig
o) ﬂkwe with thcm_and perhaps sometime go to America, There is
& Known to the discredit of the other members of iy’
coreliak rs of the family’, he
The Weekly Independent of Februa
pe _ Druary 1899 reported as fo mit
E:;cng. tll'llii :;nl}fhrﬁmalnlng Irish political prisoner in Portland J:;:?E.i[:ldelnag
Buﬂun}rhad I:-::L :;;iie.c‘llt wzlintlll;z ﬁhrsr. time since he was sentenced that r
Brital?r:“?_,];.ts Case was now ,:iak-::ngupwt?; l::f:nrzl Trgit:];:i r::;siéiﬁai'n“ C‘I%{g 2
Sy 10N in
that month the Home Office announced that Pat A Henegll-faar:

would be
released. A month later Burton was thrust out amongst cold callous

available, but he succeeded in i i
: making his way
:;I;Sdmzd by, among others, members of theyﬁr{;n t
et he him an enthusiastic reception, The po e
o L nchrpcemmn was ‘rather cool’ and that on
Is way to Westport, Pat Heneghan complained bit




P. Heneghan newphew of
P. A. Heneghan (Burton).

de on release for
1 ing been sold, and the £1.80 offer t_hat he was ma
m::\%:t];;wtﬁls, trinkets etc. Although it was increased to £5: he v.%ngld qg; E:;
ilenced : The Freeman’s Journal commented that no Elll'“rrllf <
5Englisihuﬁm:n could be without feeling ashamed of the latest instance o

meanness and vindictiveness with which the British Government i1s wont 10 |

v 5
1 litical prisoners’. : _ 1 -
matPI;:EiWHenegtin spoke from the tﬂ;‘:j miduw of ]hlS :r:;léez :1 E:;lrt:::t
in Bri 1 . Later a larg

house in Bridge Street to cheering crowds ‘ .
meeting was hgld at Aughagower to give him a céad mile failte home «
The most whole-hearted enthusiasm prevailed, and as H;. HEI:E&EW:
drove up the scene of enthusiasm was almost z?descnhablig.L Fﬁ“{}ﬁm
. i e s i, 5
D.C.: Thomas Duffy, D.C.; Hug alley, D.C.; n M S

: i 3 D.C.; Thomas Grimes, L.\
Thomas Gibbons, D.C.; John Tunney, : & it
‘ i : Heneghan, Westpori;
Michael Sheridan, D.C.; Anthony SR e e
n, Dooncastle (brothers); Anthony Waters;
"Ii'ii'r:m'g.lr::auph Gilboy, T.C.; and a Ial:-gel cgqtmgmg E:T:ﬂmw;‘;?;i:ﬁ:;murﬂ
o I X taken by Mr. Michael Gnmes, D.C., bl
of m?ﬁtzj;::ezh drssglribad the treatment Mr. Hencgl:;m received!
i 15 i eration.
prison, as well as the causes wl:u:h led up to his incarc

Mr. Waters, Hon. Sec, Aughagower Branch, U.L.L, read an address
of welcome to Mr, Heneghan. Mr. Heneghan, on coming forward to
speak in reply to the address, was loudly cheered again and again. He said
that words failed him to give expression to his feelings of thankfulness for
the kind welcome given to him by his old schoolboys and parishioners,
with whom he was associated nearly thirty years ago. Many changes had
come over the country since then. but he was glad to say the greater
number of them were for the betterment of the condition of the people.
There was no chance of their grievances being redressed unless they kept
up a good strong agitation, and it was not necessary for him to tell them
that agitation would be useless unless unity prevailed amongst the people
(cheers). Their only hope was united action, and with that weapon the
Irish people would be able by constitutional means to wring from England
their long lost rights. The only thing that would keep back the cause. for
which so many sacrifices were made in the past, would be quarrelling
amongst themselves, but he was proud to observe that the differences of
the past were healed up in Connaught, and that they were working
harmoniously together (cheers). He was in entire sympathy with their new
movement, and would use his best efforts in the good work of getting the
tand for the people (cheers). He again thanked them for the kind
reception given to him, and retired amidst a hurricane of cheers.

Mr Joseph Conroy, Hon. Sec. Turlough Branch United Irish League,
next spoke, and advised all present to support the principles of the new
organisation — the United Irish League.

After further speeches the meeting then dispersed cheering loudly for
Mr. Heneghan'.®

Little is known of Burton after this. He returned to America, and died
there it is thought in the 1930s and is buried in Connecticut. Many of his
relatives live and work in the Westport area. His nephew Paddv later joined
him in America, and served in the American Army in the First World War
where he saw action in France. Back in Doon he launched the dance-hall
under the slogan ‘Do vour Dancing at Doon’ where the famous Albert
operated his shows after the Second World War. A grand-nephew of Pat
Burton Heneghan is Séamus Hawkshaw, Carrowholly, whose mother Delia
(R.I.P.) was one of the 12 children referred to by the thorough Sergeant of
the local police, Anthony Heneghan's pub became a frequented place of the
Black and Tans some Iwenty years after the release of Pat, A Heneghan, but
secretly much information was passed on to the men on the run regarding the
plans of the enemy, which was gathered from soldiers or police who said too
much when the drink was in. A great-grandniece of Pat A Heneghan is the
:nl-;ufe of Neil Armstrong who placed the Tricolour with the Stars and Stripes on

€ moon,

In 1899 Pat A, Heneghan, talking about being free, said “getti
liberty is like getting out of hell and in%ﬂ Heaven’, ﬁe had t:::m e
from Dooncastle. He. 0o, made a step for mankind.
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| '».[:[iumi S MAJOR JOHN MacBRIDE
= wx, 11 March, 8 Apnil, 6 May . : J by Owae :
ﬂf;ﬁ:j t(;':\.‘:lﬂilluulah:ﬁn, H-’J'::-r;- Mountainy Men Have Sown (1965), pp 181-2, y Owen Hughes

Ihid. One of the first effects of the 1916 Rising was the creation of a political
Public Record Office, CBS 18971/S. revolution which, under the Sinn Féin organisation, gave an overwhelming
Ibid. il. 6 May 1899 ~ majority to nationalist ln:Ian_u:I in the General Election of 1918 for self-
Mayo News, 11 March, 8 April, 6 May . determination, which led to withdrawal from the British House of Commons
and the setting up of the First Diil. The British had promised Home Rule
since the eighties of the last century, and did, in fact, pass an Act granting us
Heneghan'’s Public House — now the Shoe Shop Home Rule in 1914, but ‘hung it up’ for the duration of World War I, which
_ - began that year, while they launched a recruiting campaign to cajole the
’ i Sy ' youth of Ireland to go out and fight for “The Freedom of Small Nations. Yet,
: b 1w o o : in 1919, when the country had spoken in the 1918 Election. they sent the
! Black and Tans, and so began the War of Independence,
{ There is no doubt but the man who most inspired the West Mayo Flying
Column was Major John MacBride. Born at Westport Quay in 1868, he was
son of Captain Patrick MacBride, a native of Co. Antrim, the owner of a
merchant ship trading into Westport, where he married Honoria Gil and
settled down as a merchant. They had five sons: Joseph, elected the first Sinn
Féin T.D. for West Mayo in 1918; Patrick, who inherited the family business;
Anthony, County Surgeon until the middle thirties: Francis, emigrated to
Australia and John, the youngest. John was born in the vear that fellowed the
Fenian Rising of 1867 and in the shadow of the Auxilary Workhouse, which,
but twenty years earlier, housed thousands of victims of the Famine, which so
ravaged the Westport area and of which sad and bitter memories were still
fresh in the minds of his family and neighbours. Twenty five years before his
birth, the Constitutional Movement under O'Connell for the repeal of the
Act of Union had failed, but before the chagrin of the failure and the clouds
of the Famine had risen from a mortally wounded nation, the flame of
and freedom burst forth anew in the Young Irelanders’ Rising of 1848 —
, reasserting afresh the separatist idea of '98 and Ireland’s right to nationhood.
In his early "teens in the late seventies and early eighties, he witnessed the
struggle of the National Land League to break the power of landlordism with
its concomitant evils of eviction and famine. He heard of ‘The New
Departure’ negotiated by Davitt and Parnell, as a result of which the Fenians
threw in their weight behind the social and economic struggle for the land.
In his middle "teens he was apprenticed as a draper's assistant in the
drapery store of John Fitzgibbon in Castlerea, Co. Roscommon. During his
apprenticeship years he was very active organising the Brotherhood. After
the death of Parnell (1891) he went to work in Dublin, where he became an
active member of the Young Ireland League and the Celtic Literary Society in
1892, 1893 and 1894. Those societies, consisting as they did, of youth who
sided with Parnell, helped to keep the separatist idea alive by organising visits
to the graves of Wolfe Tone in Bodenstown and Owen Roe O'Neill in Cavan
and by visiting scenes of the '98 Rebellion r
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o . svival of the Irish language by P“—'”’“'}% tor t}?u
1 _l‘he].: :;u.fﬁ::ii;dp:}:;'c;;nlr's in the Training Colleges, and prcb:?,t:.ﬁcl;]t‘:f::
appmmlrl]f:ﬂ .stablish libraries throughout the country. The mos A
i tr:}f‘r’u-un. Ireland League were Arthur Griffith, Henry 2 n{
wﬁrkﬂg ,'{' % ‘:;:md j{}ghn MacBride. Indeed, it may well be said the:t “hwilé :?n
LIEI_I'I. u_na; of the Young Ireland League, half secret, half a:-p:.i:n, 21 b
thew, m|cﬂ[;?§elics after the death of Parnell, iq the stuffy bac [;'-DDI'I'IL
Eﬁhtlriir }trhﬂt ideas of future rebellion and revolution were nurtured.
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In 15895 MacBride emigrated to South Africa. Two vears later he was
joined by Arthur Griffith who received a warm welcome from him.

In 1898, the commemoration ceremonies in Ireland. in London, and in
the U.S.A. of the 1798 Rising, which resulted in the healing of the Parnellite
Split by the formation of the United Irish League, gave Griffith and
MacBride an opportunity of uniting the Irish in South Africa. The hatred
between the British and the Boers had now reached fever point. They set to
work energetically to organise a commemoration ceremony in Johannesburg.
They gave lectures on the '98 Rebellion. spoke at meeting and organised
publicity through two papers owned by a Boer friend.

~ A huge parade took place through the principal streets of Johannesburg
carrying the Irish flag and singing national songs, so that for the first time the
great international gathering of onlookers realised that the Irish were not
British and had a distinct national philosophy.

The celebrations ended with a function presided over by the
Burgomaster at which a community of friendship was formed between the
Boers and the Irish and at which, before the breakup, Die Folkslied and God
Save Ireland were sung,

Griffith returned to Ireland in October 1898 to take up the editorship of a
newly founded national paper, The United Irishman, and a year later, his
friend, John MacBride, was elected a leader of the Irish Transvaal Brigade
and commissioned a major in the Boer Army,

Nationalist sympathy in Ireland at the time of the Boer War lay on the
side of the Boers and the formation of the Transvaal Brigade was greeted with
much enthusiasm. As proof of this the Transvaal Committee was formed in
Dublin with Maude Gonne as its first president, and including Arthur
Griffith, James Connolly and the old Fenian. John O’Leary. It held anti-
recruiting meetings, published anti-recruiting posters, and had its meetings
broken up by the police and many of its members arrested including James
Connolly.

. Arthur Griffith was later to write of the Irish Brigade in the United
!:nshma:-::— ‘They have chosen the side of the weak, the side of right and
liberty in the present war, but primarily they have gone out to battle for
Ireland, to strike at and 'weaken her oppressor’. That was how leading

nationalist opinion saw it - a war which might weaken the ti :
s0 help towards Irish freedom. g ¢n the ties of Empire and

_ The Transvaal Irish Brigade rendered a

Iy. They took part in about twe

good account of themselves by
Colenso, Spion Kop and Lad ysmith,

nty battles altogether including
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Maude Gonne, the daughter of an English officer of Irish descent and an
English mother, was brought up in Dublin, and educated in France. She
travelled widely with her father who held various dipolamtic appointments
until his death. A woman of remarkable beauty, popular in many European
capitals, she used her influence on behalf of many of the Irish treason — felony
prisoners and was instrumental in securing their release. She was noted for
her work in the Land League days as a founder of women'’s organisations,
particularly in north-west Mayo and in Co. Donegal. She became a prominent
Irish revolutionary and was active in all phases of the national struggle.

Her son, Sedn MacBride, has shed further lustre on the MacBride name.
As Secretary General of the International Commission of Jurists, as
Chairman of Amnesty International, he has won the Nobel Peace Prize and
the Lenin Peace Prize and has been honoured with Doctorates from the
Universities of the Old World, the New World and the Third World.

A constitutional lawyer of worldwide renown, he was elected by the
General Assembly of the United Nations to the post of Commissioner for
Namibia in South West africa with the rank of Assistant Secretary-General of
the United Nations.

Major MacBride returned to Dublin in 1904 after the General Amnesty
in 1903. His friends secured him a small post under Dublin Corporation,
During the following twelve years to 1916, he spent his spare time organising
the Irish Republican Brotherhood, addressing anti-recruiting meetings, and
lecturing on the United Irishmen’s movement and the Manchester Martyrs. It
is worthy of note thatfat an historic meeting held on 9 September 1914, in the
library of the Gaelic League Headquarters at 25 Parnell Square, to which
Eamonn Ceannt invited Arthur Griffith and James Connolly, that the other

members present were P, H. Pearse, Thomas MacDonagh, Sean T. O
Ceallaigh, Joseph Plunkett, Major John MacBride, Eamonn Ceannt and

William O’Brien (Labour).

That meeting made two important decisions:-
1. That there would be a Rising

(a) If the Germans invaded Ireland.

(b) If Conscription was pressed.

(c) If the end of the war was in sight without a Rising
2. That Ireland would seek to be represented at the Post-War Peace

Conference.

It was further decided to use all open national movements to forward and
strengthen the propaganda for freedom, and to further strengthen the secret
military movement of the I.R.B. Among the long list of suspects listed by Sir
Mathew Nathan shortly after his arrival in Ireland as Under Secretary in lat®
1914, were:- Thomas J. Clarke, whose shop at 75 Parnell St. was receiving
daily attention from the police, Major John MacBride, Thomas Ashe, James
Larkin, James Connolly, Bulmer. Hobson, Arthur Griffith, John T. Kelly,
Francis Sheefy-Skeffington, P. H. Pearse and others. These were whal
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Nathan described as ‘the small knot of violent men’.

Inlhis ;?ddr-::;s on the Manchester Martyrs in November, 1914, Major
MacBride gives us the Fenian Credo of separation when he said:

No man can claim authority to barter away the immutable rights of
Nationhood; for Irishmen have fought, suffered, and died in defence of
those rights. And, thank God, Irishmen will always be found to snatch up
the lu1rc]1 from the slumbering fire, to hold it aloft as a guiding light, and to
hand it on, blazing afresh, to the succeeding generation.

He was at 41 Parnell Square on Easter Sunday morning when the shock
of MHCNﬂI”'E_i countermand of the mobilisation ordered for that day by Pearse
occurred. LIt is known that Sedn MacDermott wrote ‘a most urgent message’
to MacBride on E:;stﬁr Monday morning. An account quotes the late John
M{ac]}nnagh as having asked his brother, Thomas, ‘who is the man in the blue
suit?” when MacBride appeared at the head of Jacob’s Garrison as they
marched from their mobilisation point in Stephen’s Green to the Factory.
‘Th?t‘é I:ul-'{[ajﬂr ]I'ﬂaé:Bﬁde’* Commandant MacDonagh is reported to have
replied. ‘He walked out to me and said, “her if I’ i
course, I'm delighted to have him.’ e R

After fortifying the factory, outposts were placed by MacBride, who also
supervised the placing of snipers on roofs. With these aids on the f:il:lt of the
Rebels, the enemy found it safer to move under cover of darkness in the
streets near the factory. Volunteer Pédraig O Ceallaigh, a member of the
garrison in Jacob’s Factory, describing the fighting there during Easter Week
said in an account published in the Capuchin Annual of 1966:- *Commandant
MacDonagh sent small batches of Volunteers on frequent forays to
reconnoitre or establish an outpost in case the enemy should attempt to cree
up on us sF-::retly = Major John MacBride personnally led some of lht‘.&];
expeditions’, In the 1916 number of the Irish weely, Inniu, Earnan d
Blaghad, describing his aquaintance with the 1916 reader statﬂsl'- :

I once met a soldier who was not one 1 1

; ] of the signato
Proclamation, Major John MacBride. He came to Beli‘asgtI:u gir::sa ][::I::t::]:*:
to the small club we had there — an event of which we were proud. He wa
particularly brave, his ideas and example had a great inﬂur:,m:r; an th:

young generation, and 1 thi :
changed Ireland. e e Ehm_ﬂﬂ be named with the seven who

Father ﬁ]u&rsqu O.FM. Ca i
. y sl p. has told that when h
oo i Persssurender order, ajor MacBride
: empt were made to counsel surrend ‘
with all the strength he could com : rrencer he would oppose it
: mand.’ A fearless and ¢ ol
ﬁ‘;ﬂfﬁ; ﬂ{lltfi‘;'-l and the last man. After the surrender Magg;%:c: e
nd Barracks where he was tried by Court Martial on 4 M s taken to




We had great respect for him but remembering his ‘history” we had little I(_

hope of his being reprieved. He had fought bravely against the English in : '
the Boer War and that was something we felt would not be forgotten. The
enemy would be glad to even the score.

We stayed watching out on the Barrack Square until MacBride and |
his companions returned and where should they be marched to but nght
under our window. I raised the lower half of the window and [ spoke to
them, especially to John MacBride and | enquired if he were tried yet. He |
confirmed that he had been. I then asked if they were told the result. He
replied ‘No, but we are to be told later to-night. But in my own case |
know very well what the judgement will be.’ Then, speaking very e
seriously, he pointed his index finger in the direction of his heart and H
said:- ‘1 will get it here in the morning.’ | Win@asce Meat ey e WaLs

‘Oh! don’t say that John', I said. ‘God is strong, You don't know yet
what could happen to save you'.

‘Nothing will save me, Sedn T." he replied. ‘This is the end.
Remember that this is the second time that I have sinned against them’,

After a few more words an officer came along, pointed a revolver at
me and ordered me to shut the window, which I did.

As they were marched off, MacBride locked his hands and raised

-them up as if he were bidding us a final farewell.”
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Very soon after he bade farewell to Sein T., MacBride was taken to
Imainham Jail, He was attended there by Father Augustine, O.F.M. Cap.

who wrote:

Friday morning, May 5. 1916. After two o’clock this morning a loud
- knocking was heard at the Bowe St. gate of the Friary. I went down and a
soldier told me that I had been asked for by one of the prisoners at

Kilmainham. I went at once.
On reaching the prison I was immediately shown to a cell and on it

being opened, I gripped the hand of Major MacBride. He was guiet and

natural as ever. His very first words expressed sorrow for the surrender,

and then he went on quickly to say that on his asking for water to have a

wash, a soldier had brought him a cupful. ‘I suppose’, he added with a

smile ‘they think I could wash myself with that much.” He then emptied

his pockets of whatever silver and coppers he had and asked me to giveit |
© to the poor.

Finally, placing his Rosary tenderly in my hand, he uttered a little
sentence that thrilled me: *And give that to my mother.” Then, he began
his Conifession with the simplicity and humility of a child. After a fe¥
minutes I gave him Holy Communion and we spent some while together

e iﬂ .pl'ﬂ]fqr_. A . |

aaral b ~ Itold him I would be with him to the last and that I would anoint him l

| when he fell. |
2l /hen the time was up a soldier knocked on the door and we wen!
~ down together to the passage where final preparations were made. He
=PRI agled Ht}r-"n’c‘:hlo have his hands bound and promised to remain

rﬁf'."'_ - ‘



“Sorry Sir,’ the soldier answered, ‘but these are orders.” Then he
requested not to be blindfolded and a similar answer was given.

Turning slightly aside, he said to me, quite naturally in a soft voice:
“You know, Father Augustine, 1've often looked down their guns before.’

Later, a piece of white paper is pinned above his heart, and, inspired
by the Holy Spirit, I whisper into his ear: “We are all sinners. Offer up
your life for any faults or sins of the past.’

And this brave man, fearless of death, responds like a child, yet
firmly: ‘I'm glad you told me that, Father, I will." The two soldiers and
myself now move along the corridor, turn to the left and enter the yard

where the firing squad of twelve is already waiting with loaded nfles.
Six now kneel on one knee and behind them six stand. He faces them

about fifty feet from the guns, two or three feet from the wall.
The two soldiers withdraw to the left, near the Governor and Doctor,

and I, oblivious of all but him, stand close at his right in prayer.
The officer approaches, takes me gently by the arm and leads me to a

position below himself on the right.
He speaks a word. The prisoner stiffens and expands his chest.

Then quickly, a silent signal, a loud volley, and the body collapses in

a heap.
I moved forward quickly and anointed him.

Major Blackadder, who presided at the Court Martial had this to say:
‘All the men behaved well, but the one who stands out as the most soldierly
was dohn MacBride. He, on entering, stood to attention facing us and in his
eyes I could read: “You are soldiers. I am one. You have won. 1 have lost. Do

your worst.™

Finally, he is named with three of the signatories to the Proclamation in
the immortal poem — Easter 1916 — by W. B. Yealts.

‘We know their dreams, enough
To know they dreamed and are dead;
~ And what if excess of love
Bewildered them till they died?
I write it out in verse -
MacDonagh and MacBride,
And Connolly and Pearse,
Now and in time to be,
Wherever green is worn,
Are changed, changed utterly,
A terrible beguty is born.
‘|

MAJOR JOHN MacBRIDE

A BALLAD

Hurrah for Major John MacBride,
For him we give three cheers.

For Ireland’s grand old cause he died.
With the Dublin Volunteers.

He fought the English ten to one,
And tamed their Saxon pride,

But now our gallant chief is gone,
Brave Major MacBride.

With Kruger and the fearless Boers,
He fought for liberty,

And when he sought the Irish shores,
He came to set us free.

For this he laboured day and night,
For this he fought and died,

A martyr for our country’s right,
Brave Major MacBride.

Poor crimeless Eirinn droops her head,
And mourns with blood and tears,

Her faithful sons in battle dead,

Brave Insh volunteers.

When will the red stream cease to flow?
When will her tears be dried?

And who will raise the flag laid low,
With Major John MacBride?

(Air - “Who fear to speak of '98").
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THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE POOR LAW IN MAYO, 1838-1898
by Christine Kinealy

State intervention in social welfare was unknown in Ireland until 1838,
The 1838 Poor Law, therefore, which introduced the workhouse system into
the country, marked a radical departure in Irish social history. It's aim,
however, was not so much to reduce Irish poverty at large but rather to
relieve the most destitute elements of it. Although some studies have been
made of the administration of the Irish Poor Law, they have tended to be one-
sided, and its operation has been seen through the eyes of its central
administrators rather than its local ones. However, many of the forces which
shaped the Poor Law emerged as a result of local factors, and this meant that
the workhouse system was subject to wide regional diversities. Because of
this, the standardised system of poor relief which the central administrators
desired, was far removed from what actually evolved in the unions.’

This paper on the Poor Law in Mayo, examines the relationship between
the local Guardians and the central administrators, and looks at how this
affected the provision of relief within the county. Although the Poor Law was
operative in Ireland until 1923 - in the Six Counties until 1948 — 1 have chosen
1898 as the finishing point of this paper, because this year marks the
introduction of urban and rural district councils which took over many of the
duties of the Boards of Guardians.

The Irish Poor Law was to a large extent modelled on the ‘new’ English
Poor Law of 1834, although the former was intended to be more stringent
than its English counterpart. In both England and Ireland, however, poverty
and destitution were commonly regarded as the fault of the individual who, it
was believed, could change his or her situation through exertion and self-
help. The type of Poor Law introduced in 1838 reflected this, and was also
shaped by the fear that even a limited system of outdoor relief in Ireland
would eventually bankrupt the country. The Irish Poor Law, therefore, was
based on a strict adherence to the ‘workhouse test’, which meant that the only
form of relief allowed was that which was given within the confines of the
workhouse. At the same time, destitution rather than poverty, was made the
only criterion necessary to quality for relief.

To facilitate the introduction of the Poor Law, the country was divided
into 130 new administrative units known as unions. These unions consisted of

a number of electoral divisions which were, in turn, made up of townlands.
Each union was to have its own workhouse which was to be governed by an
elected Board of Guardians, who were also responsible for the levying of
rates to pay for the maintenance of the local poor. The task of dividing the
country'up in this way and of establishing the administrative machinery of the
Poor Law, fell\glmost exclusively on the eight Assistant Poor La¥
Commissieners who were to provide the vital link between the centrdl

Ccmmissk:TJeﬁ in Dublin and the local Boards.?
A
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In County Mayo, five unions were formed in Ballina, Ballinrobe,
Castlelrar, Swinford and Westport. During the Famine, however, it was
found necessary to increase this to nine and so, in 1849, additional unions
were established in Belmullet, Claremorris, Killala and Newport. The size of
the unions was far from uniform, with the ones along the western seaboard
being much bigger than those on the east coast, whilst the smallest ones were
in the north-east. The size of the workhouse also varied, although they were
usually made large enough to accommodate 1-1%:% of the local population. In
Mayo, the workhouses were fairly large, with Castlebar and Swinford having
sufficient room for 700 paupers each, Ballinrobe for 800 paupers, Westport
for 1,000 paupers and Ballina for 1,200 paupers.

The qualifications of the elected Guardians depended on the
circumstances of each area, with an average minimum property qualification
of £30. However, in recognition of the scarcity of people occupying this
amount of property in some of the western unions, the qualifications were
reduced to £10. The Assistant Poor Law Commissioner in Connemara, feared
that the consequences of such low qualifications would be nefficient
administration and a preponderance of shopkeepers and tradesman acting as
Guardians. These apprehensions proved to be unfounded though, and whilst
the professional classes were numerically dominant on the Mayo Boards, the
chairman, vice-chairman and deputy vice-chairman, were invariably local
nobility and landed gentry.> This situation did not change until 1880 when, at
the height of the Land League agitation, many Boards of Guardians came
totally under the control of tenant farmers.* This was made possible by the
fact that the franchise for the election of Guardians was very broad, every
rate-payer having the right to vote. Although some irregularities did occur,
especially during the early elections after this date, the vast majority of
Boards worked well together and fighting within the Board-room was
uncommon.” J

Because the Poor Law only permitted indoor relief to be given, the
system was inoperative until the workhouses were opened. The central
Commissioners were therefore anxious that this stage should be completed as
quickly as possible. To achieve this, the Assistant Commissioners were
despatched to Cork, Limerick, Belfast, Dublin and Londonderry — areas
where the least difficulties were anticipated in establishing the Law.® The

ed with which the Poor Law system was introduced, can be judged from
the fact that, within six months of the Act being passed, Boards of Guardians
had been elected in eighteen unions, and by 1842, 81 of the workhouses were
admitting paupers. By the beginning of 1845, 118 workhouses were open for
relief.” In general, the workhouses in Connemara were the last ones to be
ready to admit paupers.

When the Assistant Commissioners had decided upon the parameters of
a union, a public meeting was convened at which they made their suggestions
and explained the basic tenets of the Poor Law to the local population. Thes¢
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meetings were generally '.:-LEIE attended and the proposed system of poor relief
met wqh Ilmie opposition.” Mayo was no exception to this; the local Assistant
Commissioner describing the public meeting in Castlebar as, ‘one of the most
numerous and respctable which I have yet attended’ — the Earl of Lucan, Sir
William Br_ahﬂmn and Sir Samuel O’Malley being amongst the local gentry
present at il. ~ ;

The function of the workhouses was both 1o test and relieve destitution,
and as such, rtl‘{f.:y were the foundation of the Irish Poor Law. Relief could
unlyl be apmnmamred within the confines of the workhouse and to whole
family units. An effective workhouse was considered to be one which
dFtErl‘Ed F'EHI_]]':_ fﬂ}'m applying for relief, whilst ensuring that those who did,
did not remain inside for any protracted period. Physically, the workhouses
were to embody this ‘deterrent’ principle, and the architect was directed to
make them uniform and cheap, durable and unattractive. Conditions within
the workhouse were to be based on the principle of ‘less eligibility’, that is,
conditions inside were to be less preferable to life outside. Because of the
greal poverty in some parts of Ireland though, the Commissioners realised
that in areas such as Mayo it would be impossible to make the workhouse diet
inferior to that of independent labourers; therefore, life within the workhouse
was to be based upon the principles of order, classification and discipline.
This strict regimentation, together with the loss of liberty, were to constitute
the basis of the Irish workhouse ‘test’.!®

The cost of building each workhouse was to be a charge on the local
rates, although it was initially paid for by a loan from the Treasury. The cost
of repaying these loans was unpopular with many Boards of Guardians,
including the Mayo ones, who were vociferous on the issue, and in 1844 the
Government reluctantly reduced the amount to be repaid.'" Despite this,
even as early as 1842, unions throughout the country were experiencing
financial problems. This was primarily because, although poor rates had been
struck in most unions, they were actually being collected in very few. This
problem was most acute in Mayo where many of the poorest unions were
situated. In the Ballina, Swinford and Castlebar unions, by 1843, no rates
were h:alr_lg paid and the Guardians were without funds. The E-:-::al? Assistant
Commissioner feared that these workhouses might be forced to close down
The Ballinrobe Guardians actually discharged 40 paupers from their
:ﬁl&-ilél:ﬁ:;a{hggqm t?e_-:ausa of their inability to collect rates. The Guardians

1s inability to the fact that the rau:]—'payﬁrs. especi_a]ly the s_wgil
unsympathetic, and they continually urged the dzjald;;i?ml?mmm b
Eﬂ”ﬂm!ﬁ: even more vigorously with all the legal means availel.ll:uﬁ:rgﬁ :ll::e '.ra:e

Gealm ok ; e
s0. Ihe Mayo Guardians in particular. doubted their ability to Eﬂllﬂﬂ“:m;l’

rates and resented the C e :
: ommi ’
e ssloners’ nterference and lack of




the part of the central administrators,

et legal action on : -
Despite thredts of leg Ballina union, for

idespread. In the
the opposition became even more wi i I .
exam plpe three of the rate collectors were assaulted and severely beaten. The

Guardians felt that unless a Stipendiary Milglﬁlfﬂ:tﬂ “mt'l.;:lwj r:;.]r:::lll;it:}:
reinforcements were sent to the areas, no money would be €o ?c ;d : th‘:
workhouse would have to close. A E:Iﬂltﬂr fear was e:-.plgn_,ss ntii l.IiI'I!'
Ballinrobe and Westport Guardians. As a result E-t' this co S :
resistance. in 1844 the Poor Relief Act was modified and r-..-:r:-gmtp:l}ln W ;1 1 1.-;
iven to the inability of certain groups to pay rates, by c:-:ﬂmptmgfa m::j t[ E:ﬁ:_
valued under £4 from them. Instead, this charge was now traq_s erlrr: ]E.
landlords. ¥ The effect of this Act in Mayo was to :.n‘lnu r;qneuu.q !3;
disenfranchise over half of the rate-payers. Also, as most of the land in :;lmiﬁ !
of the country was subdivided or of poor quality, it greatly mn:r;aspn thL
burden on the landowners. The full impact of this became obvious uré g the
latter part of the Famine when the pressure of poor rates hankrugtte mn;c
landlords, whilst at the same tiﬁe their failure to pay the rates often made
] f public censure. £
Ihth‘;ﬁgﬂi; tt]:e introduction of this Act most of the opposition to lEc
payment of rates in Mayo came to an end, resistance continuing nEﬂy in t e
Ballinrobe union. The Commissioners dealt with this by sending a Stlpm!dmt?
Magistrate and military to the area. But continuing financial pr_::-hlr:m; hm the
Castlerea union resulted in the Guardians refusing to open their wor mculgc,
and in fact, only did so reluctantly, when the Commussioners issued a
mandamus against them."” As a result of this, by 1844 only a very small I_‘IlEll:l
of the rate remained uncollected, which meant that, despite this trouble, the

- - 8
poor rates in Ireland were being better paid then in England.'

In the vears following the introduction of the Poor Law of Ireland, the
weather w:s. panicularl}rg harsh and wet. June, July and Augustﬂ T;ir;
traditionally the ‘hunger’ months, but in every year between 1838 and
extraordinary distress was reported in some parts of the country. This dlﬂlﬂfi--]‘r&
was most intense in the summers of 1839 and 18412;.‘ and it was _ﬂ:&pecmhy
severe in parts of the south and west including Mayo." However, initially, the
government regarded these reports of scarcity with reservation. Because no
workhouses were open, and no relief could be administered outside of thengl.
the question was whether the Poor Law should be ﬂ?}lﬁnﬂﬂd or whether lI
should be by-passed in favour of other forms of relief. The lt‘.'.‘ia::ﬂwm'm]::.'n‘:l"I
decided though, to keep this additional relief totally separate from the Foo

Law which meant that, in distressed areas such as Mayo, alternative reliel

operations were established. Government aid was to be given in these arﬂﬂ:
enly if it was met by equal donations from private quarters, with only a f:m
exceptions being made. The Government feared that if lhlin plan was
adhered to, se[f-rei;iam:c within Mayo would be undermined. The
In 1842 there was again extraordinary distress throughout Mﬂ}'ﬂ: i
government adopted the same policy that it had in 1839 and again refuse
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let the Poor Law be extended, despite appeals from the Guardians to do s0.*!
The rigid refusal of the Poor Law Commissioners, even during times of
exceptional distress, to deviate from the principles of the 1838 Poor Law Act,
arose from their fear that, if outdoor relief was provided, even on a
temporary basis, it would afterwards be impossible to return to the usual
system of relief, and this, in turn, would ultimately break down the whole
system of Poor Relief in Ireland.?

The potato blight which first appeared in Ireland in 1845, was to put a
great strain on the Poor Law, especially after 1847, when it became the main
vehicle for the provision of relief. Initially, however, the Government
decided to by-pass it in favour of other forms of relief as they had done in
1839 and 1842. This was because in the early stages, this distress was regarded
as only a temporary failure. This meant that the country was poorly prepared
for the crisis which it was to undergo. In many unions the Boards of
Guardians had to stretch their limited resources in order to supplement the
inadequate relief measures. The re-appearance of the blight in 1846, meant
that the distress could no longer be regarded as short-term and all the relief
measure had to be reviewed. The dramatic increase in distress resulted in a
more permanent system of relief being introduced in 1847. one which
recognised the Poor Law as being the main provider of relief.2

'One of the main limitations of the Poor Law was its inability to provide
sufficiently relief during a period of acute distress or famine. The amount of
relief provided by the Poor Law was governed by the fact that the workhouses
nationally could provide accomodation for only 100,000 paupers, whilst in
Mayo, the workhouses had only sufficient accommodation for 4.400 inmates
Attempts to meet additional distress through the provision of outdoor reljef
Was not possible under the terms of the 1838 Act,

[n 1845, themfn_r-.?.. as in_ previous years, the government decided to meet

established. The role of the Poor Law, however, was not to be extended in
potato blight on the Mayo workhouses

l'!h? Same month,
1 reliet becayse their
» the unions Were in trouble. The

! -000 respective| t
Ing paid for by the Eay| of Ll.l-‘.r;r:lag
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By the beginning of 1847, the Westport Guardians were also totally without
funds and the workhouse was being kept open by private donations from the
Marquis of Sligo.*® In these and other similar cases the Commissioners were
generally unsympathetic to the situation of the Guardians, merely exh}]rtinu
them to use all of their legal powers to collect as high a rate as possible,
However, after two years of extensive blight in Mayo, this was almost
impossible. The Swinford Guardians pointed out that the small occupiers in
their unions were unable to pay high rates because the cost of food was so
high. The Westport Guardians, whilst agreeing to strike a rate of ten shillings
in the pound, simultaneously disclaimed responsibility for their anticipated
inability to collect it. In a similar way, the Ballinrobe Guardians stated that
they wished to absolve themselves from any liability for the rate-collection
and instead put it on to the Government.*®
Not surprisingly, conditions within the Mayo unions were deteriorating,
Repeatedly, the pauper inmates of the Swinford, Westport and Ballina
workhouses were faced with eviction, and although some Government grants
were given to the unions, frequently they kept open due to the personal
generosity of the Guardians.*' Although the Guardians received little public
sympathy from the Poor Law Commissioners, privately both the
Commissioners and the Government agreed that there existed a crisis In parts
of Ireland which was beyond the power of the local authorities to meet.*
Early in 1847, the British Government decided that new relief measures
were necessary to meet the prolonged distress. This was because they feared
that sustained interference by them in the relief operations would demoralise
the Irish people and reduce them to ‘helpless dependence’. Instead, the
Government decided to give more emphasis to the local union structures,
arguing that, as the potato failure was essentially local, its cure should come
from local sources. This meant that the cost of funding the relief was now to
be rocognised as a local rather than an Imperial charge.* To achieve this, all
relief was to be provided through the machinery of the Poor Law and the
responsibility for financing it was to be borne by the local union rates. For the
first time, outdoor relief was to be permitted, although it was to be subject 10
tight central control. Inevitably, as a result of these extra burdens, many of
the local Poor Law unions. fell into severe financial difficulties. Within a few
months, twenty-two of them had been officially designated ‘distressed’ and
had to be given aid from the Government. All of the Mayo unions fell it
this category. The country’s continuing economic problems therefore, force
the Government to play a much wider role than it had envisaged for itself i

the provision of relief.

The change over to Poor Law relief in August 1847 came at a time whe?
over three million people were in receipt of aid. Inevitably in Mayo, this ne®
legislation stretched the resources of the unions to their limit. An example
this occured in the Ballina union where the Guardians gave 260 paupef
whom they were unable to admit to the workhouse, a week’s supply of
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provisions cach, even though outdoor relief had not been authorised in their
union. A few weeks later, on one day alone, 2,000 paupers applied for relief.
Althnqgh the workhouse was full and they were unable to be admitted, the
Guﬂrdfﬂﬂﬂ provided each of them with a meal.* At the same time the Ballina
Guaﬂjiﬂﬁ were in dire financial straits. They complained that the poor rates
were now so high tih'tit they were absorbing the whole produce of the land and
ruining many occupiers. They therefore asked that more Government funds
be given to the union.™ In the Ballinrobe union, the Sheriff of Mayo actually
seized the property of the workhouse and put it up for auction, because the
union was in so much debt. Because of the disease-ridden state of the
workhouse, however, no offers were made to buy the goods.>

The Cﬂmmisgiunem used the financial difficulties of the Mayo Guardians
as an excuse to dismiss them and appoint paid officers in their place whom
they hoped, would be able to reduce the administrative costs of the Poor Law.
The substitute, or ‘Vice’ Guardians soon found themselves in a similar
predicament to the elected Guardians. When, for example, the Castlebar
Vice-Guardians took up duty, they found themselves without the resources to
relieve what they described as, ‘the wretched mass of human misery’ which
confronted them. The Vice-Guardians in the Ballinrobe union attributed the
slowness of the rates coming in to a genuine inability to pay them rather than
any dishonesty by the rate-payers.*” As a result of these financial problems
the Government was again forced to intervene in the provision of relief. ‘

The impact which the successive years of potato blight had on the
country was uneven. Following the 1848 harvest, the worst of the Famine was
over in Ulster, whilst a year later, the demarcation between recovery and
deterioration became even more marked. In Mayo, in common with the rest
of the western seaboard, the demand for relief after 1849, showed no signs of
ahatmg. The local rates were now at their highest level ever. and the Vice-
Guardians experienced the same problems’ as their predecessors in trying to
ﬂull-.?ct the ra}es,:“ The situation in the local unions had been made worse by
the introduction of the Quarter Acre Clause in 1847, which had decreed tha{:- '
Ell:!}’rpﬂt‘snl'l In possession of more than a quarter of an acre of land was not
mg:]l;lﬁ to receive relief.* Within the Mayo unions, this Act caused many
Pthr:t ems If{it' the local administrators. The Inspector in Castlebar reported
WET}F]:hE?P iﬁWllhkmﬂre' than a quarter of an acre of land were trying
i h:ngdin make their claim for relief valid. Some, people for example
St & over their land to their relatives or even voluntarily

g to their landlords for this reason. On Clare Island, the local

bailiff sy
s d‘:f:di'::gi?] ﬂ;ﬂyﬂf fraud for pretending that some people had
the Ballinobe WRIISL, In fact, they were continuing to occupy it. In

= unio inci
being allowed n also, there were incidences of many small occupiers

{0 reoccupy their surrendered land as caretakers or lodgers.*,

There is no doypt
it St that this Act was a_hﬂrsh piece of legislation, and although

ntly amended to permit the families of people occupying more
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than a quarter of an acre of land to receive relief, it continued to be a much

ated law.*! |
= At the beginning of 1849, the Chief Poor Law Commissioner reported
that, whilst the situation generally had improved in Ireland, in Mayo,
Galway, Clare and parts of Kerry, distress was greater than it had been in any
previous year.*? The Commissioners insisted that every effort be made to
collect the poor-rates in these areas. Inevitably, this pruuw:d to be difficult and
exiernal financial assistance continued to be necessary.™ The Government, in
a further attempt to reduce its role, introduced a national rate known as the
Rate-in Aid which, it was hoped, would shift the financial burdn_:n fm."' the
local rates to a national one. This Law was introduced with the intention of
forcing the wealthier unions to susidise the poorer ones, thus reducing the
amount contibuted by the Imperial Treasury.

By 1850, some signs of recovery were visible in Mayo. In both 1849 and
1850 a large potato crop was sown and in the following year this was only
partially affected by the blight. The pressure on the Mayo workhouses was
also eased by four new ones being opened in Belmullet, Killala, Claremorris
and Newport. Mayo’s recovery from the Famine was faster than even the
Poor Law Commissioners hoped for. Unions which had previously been
dependent on external funds quickly became self-supporting, even though
their rates continued to be high. Within the space of two years, the decrease
in the number receiving relief in the Belmullet and Westport unions was as
high as 80%. This resulted from an increased demand for labour, partly
caused by the drain of emigration. But although the worst of the Famine was
over in Mayo, its legacy was obvious. The example of the Belmullet union is
fairly typical. Since 1845, 29% of the population had disappeared and much
of the land lay waste. Also, the amount of disease, mortality and emigration
was still considerable throughout the whole of the county. Despite the vanous
changes, however, the structure of landholding and the deEpdt?nce on
potatoes by the local population did not change as much as it did in other
parts of the country.* Although the poor-rates in Mayo continued to be high
for many years, the Poor Law as a whole had survived this period uf
unprecedented distress and enterd the second half of the nineteenth century

in an even stronger position than before.

The demographic changes which resulted from the Famine, meant thatin
post-Famine years relief to the able-bodied ceased to be significant and
instead, relief to the old, the infirm, and the young became more important.
Because of this, the workhouses were increasingly used as centres for mcdn:ail
relief rather than poor relief. Poor relief also became more closely
amalgamated with public health and the local Guardians were m?t‘]"i
responsible for the Nuisance Removal Acts of 1848 and 1849, the hjlf:dl.fﬂ
Charities Act of 1852, the Burial Grounds Act of 1856 and the Vac-::mahﬂ
Acts of 1858 and 1863.* Following the introduction of the Local Gqu(nmﬂl?E
Act in 1872, the duties of the Guardians were further extended, whilst |

Artisan Dwelling Acts and the Seeds Provisions Acts were also put under the
jurisdiction of the Guardians.*

By 1859, the number of people receiving poor relief in Irelnd was at its
lowest level since before the Famine and, with the exception of a few years,
continued to fall. However, although the standard of living in Ireland as a
whole may have risen in the latter part of the nineteenth century, for a large
part of the Mayo population, these were years of subsistence. Although a
sustained famine such as existed between 1845 and 1852 did not recur, a bad
harvest meant that large portions of the Mayo population became
immediately dependent on poor relief. This occured during the years 1859-62
and 1879-80, when large scale distress clearly exposed the vulnerability of the
local people.

The distress in both 1859 and 1879 was caused by the reappearance of the
potato blight in Ireland. Along the western seaboard this had disastrous
consequences, as a large portion of the population still depended on the
potato as their staple food and this did not change until the end of the
century.”” The Great Famine had had less impact on land ownership in the
west than in the rest of the country. And so in Mayo the majority of the
people continued to live on very small holdings, that is, land valued under £4
per year. Between 1879 and 1880 Land League agitation was at its height and,
f}sr.l Ir;c?:c: T;tu:i}:zs have Sh::m:n, some of the distress in these years resulted not

: potato Ehght but also from landlord activities and its
dCCOmMpanying evictions.

During both of these periods of distress the Poor Law Commissioners
used its powers to make outdoor relief more widely available, although on
both occasions it was made very clear that this form of relief sﬁnuld only be
given with extreme caution. Despite this some of the Mayo unions a::-l:!l'f t
financial trouble, the Belmullet one, for example, in 1880 was £3 ﬂﬂﬂg d"llz'.tu
some of the defaulters being Guardians.*® In the ;ame ear, th G -I:II! o
the Belmullet, Swinford and Newport unions were dissirlv S e
Vice-Guardi . rtu 1 ed and replaced by
enous :foﬂ rf;ﬂt!'; :;:I?a:ﬁh[he Cummmﬁmners believed they were not making

10U ect the rates. ¢ impact of the distr ied
within Mayo, the unions which had the e LAty
being the most aff St tumber of small-holders
periods of distress, t?lzt?ciu?‘FLgEanigg 'fﬂllll;re'il Repeatedly, during these
largely attributable to the way in h'lhse  Pour Lo difficulties, This was
system of supporting the v ! which the Poor Law was financed. The
& e poor of each electoral division out of the local rates

_ nuitfiem. Elspt?l:ia]]y in unions such as
distr €re valued under £4.52, Iy ¢

whf,:isf,;aghﬁ';ffﬂma the Poor Law foundered because it tri£ed 1o lft;:lm’is 2
Throughout the remainder of e Lor 1 the Support of its local poor.
. ; ' of the ninetee :
solated cases of distress in Mayo, usually ngzﬂm?ﬁgt:?a therﬂi ot
result -

failure of the potat
he O crop. Because
seasonal migration bEcan?& e of the general Poverty of the areg
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income. In the poorer unions, such as _
Emigration Committees under the auspices
established.®® The Government
area who wanted to emigrate.®*

1886 the Newport Union, which had a very
amalgamated with the
The periodic inability
brought them into conflict with
1898 — all periods of high distress — various
all of these years the distress was caused by
sufficiently large scale for the Governmen
work to the area.”” However,
authorities were confident that
affected were getting smaller. This they at
on the potato by the local population,

Ireland was decreasing. In 1891 the Govern
works to 23 unions, in 1895 to 14 unions, in 189
5 unions needed external assistance. However,
were in Mayo, that is, Belmu
coincided with the districts w
widely used.® This continuing depen
that as Mayo entered the twentieth century,

—

the Belmullet and Newport ones,
of the Guardians were

also gave financial aid to poor families in the

the Mayo unions remained precarious and in
low waluation, was re-
Westport one in order to extend its area of taxation,*
of the Mayo Guardians to collect rates, however,
the Commissioners, and in 1880, 1885 and
Mayo Boards were dissolved.®® In
potato blight, which occurred on a
t to intervene and introduce relief
by the end of the century, the central

despite these periods of distress, the areas
tributed to a reduced dependence

Financially the situation of

By the end of the nineteenth century it was obvious that distress in
ment had had to provide relief

& to 11 unions and in 19035 only
of these 5 unions, 2 of them
llet and Westport. To a large extent, this
here land was still sub-divided and potatoes
dence on external help though, showed
for many of her population, the

« line between subsistence and distress was still a narrow one.
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FAMINE AND THE LAND WAR:
RELIEF AND DISTRESS IN MAYO, 1879-81,
PART II
by Gerard P. Moran

I

~ Imitially the cries of famine from Ir¢land were brushed aside by the
British press as merely an attempt by the Land League to generate support
for its cause. English opinion, at this stage, was prejudiced against Irish
distress because of the agressive tone of the speakers at meetings, coupled
with the general acceleration of crime levels which co-incided with the
‘dgltﬂltlﬂn-'. The severity of the problem only gained tacit recognition when
English correspondents, such as J. H. Tuke, verified that conditions in
Ireland were indeed serious, and were approaching the magnitude of 1847,
especially along the western seaboard. The government's approach to the
distress reflected the sentiments of the population; characterised by general
caution about the extent of the distress. It was aware of the situation in the
country in July when it became obvious that the potato crop was badly
diseased. The officials in London and Dublin had been informed of the extent
of the problem through the resolutions passed by the local elected bodies in
the country. At the same time the Lord Lieutenant was exhorted by the
;i::iga{mns Lr!:rm all gver the country to sanction remunerative employment
¢ more distressed areas of t : ]
e e s rce he country. Nevertheless, the governments’s
There was a general reluctance to admit the gravity of the problem until
an official survey was carried out. As it was, the government was slow in
carrying out this report. The local government board’s Inspectors were onl
ordered to compile information on the harvest prospects in each count witﬁ
particular reference to the potato crop, on 5 September 1879. By this gt‘age a
;gr:-:zex:;:;[g nwuar;:l;{ﬂjr ;rfx :{I;e f,enferal Ifu.lhvli-:ha:-; well as individuals with a vested
. usly for the authorities to announce some remedial
measures to combat the problem. Thus, six crucial week i
when some basic form ' asur et
131‘1'1:1':!13 cnhﬂm:se areas mgsft riillfcé:‘fdsures S el ¢ Bl
¥ the time the gove 1 its re
!hﬂ diseased p:}tamgm};ﬂ T::? ; I;r::ﬁw:;jmgzlmeprﬁg;ﬁt ot v,
imcreasing number of people were turning in de:-;pn:rati::: -‘:nmumeﬁ, e
and the Poor Law Guardijdns for help. The gove e e e
crop would be deficient in quantity inferi el s orned
than half the ave il s vy Juality and would not be Seed
rage crop. While this was cont di 2
radictary to the general

opinion }
ﬂElraﬂrdﬁirf':r;ﬁzglimﬁli;;ﬁﬁ::.ﬂdrﬁgr::,ggrtat:;ﬁ' the report did state that no
, ired as normal relief’
OvVercom 2 : : Il me
e the distress.? The underlying implication was that S:S;LEFE'ﬂEhrmﬂu][:‘
; 0

Ireland, and as 3 result
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earlier, they would probably have cushioned the people against the Tull effect
of the distress when it reached its height in the spring of 1880. The
government was refusing to rcognise the imminence of the famine, although i
had been informed that the staple diet of the people in the west of Ireland had
been practically annihilated. It was overlooking the fact that other economic
factors had exacerbated the problem. The government’s negative approach to
the existence of a famine was very much resented by leaders of the nationalist
movement. By the time the government did involve itself in measures to
counteract the famine, it would prove to be too little too late.

It was to_be the Poor Law unions who would be at the forefront in
attempts to combat the distress, but few additional powers were to be granted
and no extra finance given. The Guardians were being asked to combat the
problem with the limited resources they possessed, although these had proved
to be seriously inneffective even during the relative prosperous years. With
the potato crop diseased and remittances from seasonal migration at an all-
time low, it was imperative that some practical legislation be enacted to ward

off distress.
A supplementary measure was eventually passed; the Seed Supply Act

came into being on 1 March 1880 funded by the money of the disestablished
church. This provided the Guardians with interest free loans for the purchase
of seed potatoes for distribution amongst those tenants who did not have the
means to acquire them. It was an important measure in that the government
recognised the serious position in the west of Ireland, where the tenants had
been forced to eat their seed potatoes because of a shortage of alternative
foods: In tHis the government was following the lead set by the private relief
committees, notably the Land League and the Duchess of Marlborough
Relief Committee, in distributing seed potatoes. The Guardians only
distributed the seed potatoes to those farmers with valuations under £10. and
those with valuations under £4 were given enough seed potatoes to plant one
quarter of their holdings. However the private charities placed no restrictions
on recipients, acknowledging the fact that all groups were experiencing great
difficulties. The tenants were required to repay the Guardians their loans in
two instalments to the local government board by August 1882.

The government was attempting to avert a recurrence of the famine in
the following autumn, as the tenants were at this stage without seed potatocs
for planting. Claremorris was the first Mayo union to avail of the proposals
applying for £8,000 for seed potatoes.® The new legislation appeared to be 3
genuine attempt to ensure the tenants would not have to face famine the
following autumn. However, there were many defects in the remedid
measures, the principle one being that of finance. The first instalment of the
loan had to be repaid by the tenants by November 1880, but nobody took int?
consideration that the distress might possibly continue beyond this period:
The government’s measure' had lacked insight in recognising that many of
those destitute tenants were already in debt to the shopkeepers and the
landlord, and would consequently be unable to meet these commitments, n°!

112 | »

to mention those of the Guardians. This resulted in many unions failing to
repay the first instalment of the seed loan to the local government board.

The problem was exacerbated by the fact that many tenants had also to
pay increased Poor Law rates as a result of the distress. Many of these unions
were on the verge of bankruptey as it became increasingly clear that the
tenants were unable to meet their dues. Many unions, such as Castlebar,
petitioned the local government board to rescind the first instalment of the
loan. The only electoral divisions of the Castlebar unions that were eventually
exempted from repaying the first instalment were Addergoole and
Ballingoraher, for they had been given inferior seed potatoes.?

The Guardians planned to supply the tenants with Champion seed
potatoes, for it was generally agreed that this potato variety was the most
resistent to blight. However, success would depend on a steady supply. As a
resuit, all groups attempted to distribute these seed potatoes, and
consequently the Champion became the most important variety sown in the
county. In 1880, 91.9 per cent of the land of Mayo planted with Champions
remained blight free, this being a much higher proportion than the traditional
varieties. Even areas such as Newport, Belmullet and Ballaghaderreen,
Incahpes which had repeatedly succumbed to the ravages of blight, reported
that in the main the Champion potato was undiseased.s The tenants
themselves wated 1o change their potatoes, and there were reports from
Mayo of people waiting at the railway station for the Champion seed potatoes
o be distributed.® In some cases the demand exceeded supply and when the
Guardians were unable to procure an adequate supply of Champion seed
potatoes, they were forced to distribute varietjes which were very much prone
to blight. In some cases such as Addergoole,” this only exaterbatelé th
famine problem when the cop eventually succumbed to disease. | :
;?gfs:tz{;f?;m tahardam: in September 1880, that the people wcrr.a i:I ;;i?
bt crnp.ﬂ“ they had been the PTEVIOUS year, because of the failure of the
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landowners did not play any major role in the relief operations up to the end
of 1879. Eventually, they could not fail to be aware of the widespread nature
of the potato failure and many of them did become actively involved through
force of circumstance in relief operations. Their attendance at relief meetings
in this period was looked upon with suspicion by certain sections. Indeed it
provoked outspoken criticism from the Land League representatives, who
maintained that the destitution was a direct consequence of the landlords’
own agrarian policies. Such an occurrence took place at Castlebar anq it
resulted in the landlord representatives withdrawing from the relief meeting.
It became difficult for the landlord to participate benevolently in the public
relief operations, when an accusing finger was being pointed at them by their
fellow members of the relief committees. Some landlords did avail of the
opportunity to punish those tenants who were involved in the Land League ,‘?3'
refusing them relief. Therefore while Lord Lucan and the Earl of Arran did
provide relief works on their estates, only those who had stayed outside of the
land agitation were employed. One tenant informed the Bessborough
Commission that his landlord, Sir Roger Palmer, had withheld relief from
him because he had attended a Land League meeting in 1879.7 There was
little doubt that some landlords hoped to curtail the agrarian activities of their
tenants by imposing such penalties, utilising the present distress of the tenants
to forestall these very tenants in any future unrest.

« Many landlords did aid their tenants by granting them rent abatements of
up to 30 per cent. By doing this they were acknowledging the existence of
distress. but such philantrophy had little bearing on the tenants’ individual
situation,as it was the total financial structures that needed to be reformed. A
rent abatement of 30 per cent meant only a 3 per cent real saving for the
tenants. Therefore, while the reduction was a welcome help, it made little
impact in combating the distress. Most landlords who held small estates, were
unable to provide reductions as they themselves were experiencing
difficulties, and any cut back in their income would have exacerbated their
problems. Both landlord and tenant were finding themselves unwitting
victims of an archaic economic system in the process of collapse.

There were also those landowners, particularly those who were non-
resident in Ireland, who contributed little to the relief of distress on their
estates. J. H. Tuke pointed out that distress was greatest on those estates
where the landlord was an absentee.'® While the evils of absenteeism were
always apparent,! they became more overt during periods of distress and the
links between distress and absenteeism were marked. The annual rental
siphoned from Mayo by absentee landlords was £100,000, an amount eqqai 1o
that spent on the relief of distress in the county from 1879-81. It was poinie
out that landlords who were resident on their estates, as in Ballina, combine
effectively to keep down destitution, compared to those who were absentes
as in the Swinford-Claremorris Tegions.

The situation deteriorated badly as 1879 progressed. In November "'E
government introduced measures to help ward off the distress, but they W
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limited in their extent, terminating on 31 January 1880, and costing a paltry
£31.892. The government was putting the onus on the landlords to provide
relief by giving employment to their distressed tenants. The government was
offering the landlords a loan, the first instalment of which had to be paid after
two years, and the repayments had to be made within twenty-four and thirty-
seven years, the interest rate being one per cent.'* Major government
assistance was required at this stage, as the shopkeepers were no longer able
to extend credit to the tenants. However the government’s involvment was
limited to land improvements and the landlords opted out, as they considered
the repayments to be too high. The government was still not prepared to
concede that anything like a serious famine was in evidence, as was seen from
this short term measure. It was clear the authorities were not in possession of
the full facts, since no provisions were being made for relief works when the
potato crop would be consumed. It was only when the Registrar General
issued his findings on the harvest prospects, warning that the potato crop
would be scarce in most areas after Christmas, that the authorities admitted
the widespread nature of the distress in the country.'

It was evident at this point that the government’s faith in the landlords®
ability to help ward off the distress had been misplaced. Nevertheless, it
remained their intention to utilise the Guardians and the landowners as the
primary means of channelling the relief. At the beginning of January the
Treasury sanctioned £5 millions for the landlords and sanitary authorities to
combat the distress. When one considers that up to one million people were
in need of help it meant that only 10/~ per person was being made available for
a period of thirty weeks. The new potato crop was not due for harvesting till
August. On of the more promising aspects of the measure was that the
ﬂ?;::;ﬂm were rgcu:llﬁﬂd andﬂl}hu interest rate lowered, a point which the
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only other measures the government carried out were a limited number of
relief works.

The government was aware that the landlords were not involving
themselves wholeheartedly in the relief operations. Despite the fact that it
was generally agreed that this limited approach was a total failure, the
authorities refused to give the Guardians any major additional powers,
although they comprised the only body which had the expertise and the know-
how to implement changes. The only additional measure that was
implemented, was the opening of baronial works in January 1880, with the
object of stimulating employment amongst the poorer classes, in particular
for the labourers. It had been envisaged that this would lead to a decline in
pauperism and also in the Poor Law expenditure, as this group would no
longer be chargeable on the rates. Despite this, there were only a few people
paying the rates and they were also the people who would have to pay the
loans for the baronial works.

Special baronial presentment sessions were to take place to determine
the amount of relief work which would be allocated to each area, and these
applications would then be submitted to the local government board for
consideration. If authorised, the first of fifteen annual instalments of the loan
would have to be repaid after two years, and the interest rate was set at one
per cent.'® All of the Mayo baronies quickly applied to the sessions for loans:
ranging from £52,000 in Costello to £25,000 in Carra. However, those groups
that were to be relieved, such as the labourers, were dissatisified with the
proposed renumeration, as the weekly wage in Claremorris was set at 9/-, a 25
per cent reduction on the normal rate.'® In general there was little opposition
to the wages to be paid, for the people were only too happy to be employed.
On some of the private schemes, such as the Earl of Arran’s, the wages were

set at a lower level than normal.

There were aspects regarding the relief works which greatly curtailed
their effectiveness. The works contracts were given out to private individuals,
often related to members of the grand juries, and they were more r.:nnccr_nf:d
with the quick profit that could be obtained than with the primary objective,
the relief of distress. In consequence the numbers employed on the works
never reached the targets which the governemnt had envisaged. Then the
landlords were not entirely happy with the prospect of an additional financial
handicap being placed on them, as they would have to repay the loans for the
works. As happened with the Poor Law repayments, the financial burden
would fall on them and not on the general public. Therefore they wert
determined to keep the'loans down to a minimum. Their attitude was t:.rpmﬂd
- by the remarks made by the chairman of the County sessions:

To pass for that amount [£23,000] was wholly out of the question, unle*
they wanted to plunge their heads under water altogether, with no hope ©

ever rising again. |

As a result of the landlord’s actions, the effectiveness of the proposed
plans was very much curtailed. A resident landowner in Turlough, P. Daly,
nppn:l:.;:d all the works, despite the fact that 300 families were destitute in the
area.”” Eventually only £3,122 was approved of by the Carra presentment
sessions. Similar, occurrences were repeated all over the county with many
landlords opposing the measures.
~ There were other factors which militated against the government works,
in particular the attitude of the local government board inspectors. Although
the baronial sessions had reduced the amounts considerably, the officials only
approved of loans which they felt would be of benefit to the regions. This
occurred despite the fact that the officials in many instances were
unacquainted with the districts and the extent of the distress. The entire sum
sought by the Ballinrobe sessions was rejected, and only £250 of the £867
applied for by the Newport works was issued. In Claremorris £2,409 was
sought for works but only £920 was issued.'® The Freeman's Journal criticised

the ineptness of the works and called for a real syst ' :
stem of public works
the puupie over the crisis,'? ¥ P rks to tide

There is little doubt but that the people regarded the works as one of the
few avenues of safety from the distress. It was reported that women and
children accompanied the men to the works in an attempt to obtain money. In
many instances the people regarded these operations as substitutes for rthe
private charities which by the spring of 1880 were experiencing difficulties in
coping with the distress, as the numbers requesting help had continued to
iinifrﬁizset.h'gh;g;:rafsaﬂ:s_ﬂ the }:-mblf;m, aﬁ had occurred with the public works
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there is little doubt that locally the priests were still regarded as the leaders
within the community, looking after the temporal, as well as the spiritual
well-being of their flock. It was the clergy who were primarily responsible for
organising relief meetings, and in many instances these ultimately resulted in
the formation of local relief committees. In January 1880 the parish priest of
the Neale, Fr. John O'Malley, convened a meeting to establish a relief
committee and to distribute any relief that was forthcoming for the regions,
"From those attending the meeting a deputation was formed to wait on the
Ballinrobe Guardians to seek remedial works for the parish.?' Very often
these meetings organised by the clergy formed the basis for the establishmeny
of Land League branches in the area. A demonstration, convened ip
Castlebar in January 1880 by the local clergy, was used by James Daly to cal|
for the formation of a tenants defence association in the town.?* It resulted ip
the establishment of a Land League branch in the town at the end of January,
about the same time as a local relief committee was formed. Both these
organisations had the parish priest, Canon Magee, at the helm. Similar
situations were witnessed throughout the country with the clergy to the fore ip
both the relief activities and the Land League. In all, over 1,400 priests were
involved nationally in the 840 relief committees, > and over 1.200 of these
participated directly with the Mansion House Relief Committee.

The Catholic clergy were not alone in their relief activities. As had
occurred with the distress of 1860-62, Catholic priests did co-operate with
clergy of other denominations in fighting the distress. In many areas the
formation of the relief committees was the direct consequence of a joint
approach in initiating relief committees. In January 1880 the Catholic bishop
of Killala, the Rector and the Presbyterian minister were responsible for
convening a meeting of influential and wealthy people in Ballina, with the
expressed object of relieving the growing distress in the town.** At the same
time there were instances, such as in Connemara, where there was no
apparent attempt to have any concerted effort to alleviate the problem by the

* local religious leaders. This was evidently the legacy of the proselytising
campaigns of the 1850s in the region.

The role of the priests during this great crisis, was primarily to supervise
the distribution of food and fuel from the private relief organisations and
whatever was supplied by the Guardians. In addition, they monitored the
extent of the problem, being in many cases the only group who gave objective
assessments of the distress. They were also openly critical of the private and
public measures, and they were especially vocal regarding the inadequacies of
the relief. In Claremorris they considered the two stone of meal distributed by
the Guardians as insufficient to meet the peple’s requirements. They wer
overwhelmed with requests for food but they were unable to help. When the
people had depleted their own resources, they invariably turned to thelf
priest as their last hope of obtaining assistance. One priest informed the
Mansion House Relief Committee that hundreds of destitute ﬂeuplﬂ daily
visited him in search of food but he was powerless to help them.= They wer

(urning to the prir'ﬁ-::a as the only sympathetic person whom they had access to,
for after the landlord, the cleric was the only person in the community who
had the power to seek aid. Throughout this period the amount of aid being
received was minimal compared to the distress; in many cases only one stone
of Indian meal per family being provided. At Kilbeaty, near Charlestown, a
large crowd assembled at the chapel in search of food, yet over two hundred
starving families had to return home empty-handed, although they were as
destitute and deserving as those relieved,*®

While the clergy did participate in the distribution of meal, they viewed
this measure as being merely of a temporary nature. It should only be
implemented as a backup to the outdoor relief granted, since it clearly
reduced a proud people to the demoralising role of beggers. Nevertheless
while such relief was required, the priests were prepared to co-operate in its
distribution. Their role was important because they were one of the few
groups whose reputation remained untarnished. In contrast, the accusing
finger of misappropriating funds was often cast at the local Land League
branches. As the local relief committees contained focal clergymen, who
controlled the destination of the relief funds, such charges were never made
against them. Consequently they were an important component in the
administration of relief.

. Asfor the Land League, it had never wanted to become actively involved
in the relief of distress. Circumstances, rather than its own deep convictions,
forced it to become involved in measures to help ward off famine. In the
initial stages, the central executive of the Land League went out of its way to
inform the branches that it was not an agency for the relief of distress.
Huwevqr. its attitude changed quickly, as it was given little option but to
engage itself in the relief process, due to continuous appeals from its own
strnng:hﬂlﬁs. such as Mayo. It was when Parnell and John Dillon went to
America in January 1880, that large amounts of money were collected for the
relief of distress. Initially this tour was to be used to collect funds for the land
agitation, for the League leaders felt it was the government's dut i
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at the same time, at a period when all regions in the west sought aid as the
potato supply diminished. All of the Dublin relief organisations were
experiencing difficulties by May 1880, as the numbers looking for relief
increased, putting further pressure on their meagre resources.

While the local relief organisations did possess the infrastructure to come
to grips with the distress, they did not have the funds. The problem was
exacerbated by the bitteness that existed amongst the Dublin relief
organisations, in particular the jealousy between the Land League and the
Mansion House Relief Committee. Instead of uniting in an attempt to combat
the famine, the Land League attacked the Mansion House organisation for
allowing landlords make up its executive. When Davitt went to Paris to
collect funds, he became embroiled in this bitterness with P. J. Smyth, M.P.,
who was there on the same mission for the Mansion House Relief Committee.

In the long term, the distribution of relief. despite its adverse effects, did
prove beneficial for the Land League. As has recently been shown, the relief
efforts allowed the League gain a foothold in a number of areas, and it helped
bring in money from America for its political campaign.®® Otherwise there is
little doubt that it would not have been able to sustain the agitation.
Neverthless the Land League did not consider itself as primarily a relief
organisation, unlike the other major relief organisations.

The Mansion House Relief Committee and the Duchess of Marlborough
Relief Committee were the two main private relief agencies, and they
distributed over £267 000 in aid, chiefly by organising the purchase of food
and overseeing its distribution amongst the needy. This was an area in which

» many people
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relief to 106 local relief committees throughout the country.® Unlike the
Duchess of Marlborough's committee, it worked with the local committees in
each area, and this had the advantage of quickly channelling its relief to the
distress areas. While these local committees primarily obtained aid from the
Mansion House committee, they were by no means exclusively tied to that
body. When the distress was at its height in 1880 and it became increasingly
difficult to obtain relief, these local bodies sought aid from wherever possible,
indicating that their first loyalty was to the local people. It was reported from
Dugort, Achill, that families burdened by the yoke of distress, were iramping
about through the rain and storm from one committee man’s house to the
next begging for food.™ At the same time the Castlebar relief committee
attempted unsuccessfully to obtain funds from all the central relief
committees. When it eventually procured £250 from the Duchess of
Marlborough Relief Committee, it had the problem of attempting to relieve
3,300 people. Breaghwy, one of the poorest districts in the union, received
an allocation of only £4/8/-, or 5d per distressed famil;f. Eventually it was
decided to help the twenty five more destitute families.”

The Mansion House Committee had come into existence at ap
appropriate time, since the numbers in need of relief were burgeoning with
increasing rapidity, especially after January 1880 when the total potato crop
had been consumed in most parts of the west of Ireland. By March there were
350,000 people receiving relief in 690 relief areas, and the total cost up to this
point was £56,000.” Mayo and Galway were at the centre of its activities, and
over one-third of its total relief expenditure was being spent in these two
counties. 171,000, or 70 per cent of the population in Mayo, were being
relieved through 64 local relief committees who worked with the Mansion
House Committee. In Galway, 133,000 people were being relieved.* There
were variations within Mayo itself, however. Here, nearly all of the people
were being relieved, but only 40 per cent of Killala’s population were actually
suffering distress.™®

While the operations of the Mansion House Relief Committee eventually
catered for 800 districts, the Duchess of Marlborough Relief Committee
tended to concentrate its efforts on smaller areas where it could give more
help. This relief organisation was established by the wife of the Irish Chiel
Secretary. It appointed the local board of Guardians' chairman to lead its
relief committee and very often he was unsure about the extent of the distress
in those remote areas. At times there was confusion in ascertaining whether
the people were being relieved by public or private relief. The Duchess of
Marlborough Relief Committee concentrated its efforts on a few areas which
were badly off, rather than diversifying its efforts over a larger area. O
occasions it did co-operate with the Mansion House Committee to combat the
distress. In the summer of 1880 they forced the government to acknowledg
the advanced state of 'distress along the west coast of Ireland, and th
authorities did provide them with four ships to distribute food amongst ¢
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’ what would happen in the autumn, especially if the distress continued. It was settlement was required, one which was not however accepted by the political

repeatedly attempted, but unsuccessfully, {o impress upon the government leaders in the country. These were the assisted emigration schemes of 1883
the gravity of the situation if this ::rccurr::d._ Flf.lrtumltj.llylfm' all concerned, the and 1884, which were condemned by Parnell and Davitt, Nevertheless thic
potato crop was good and thus the reliel orgamisations were no longer was the only realistic alternative to the perpetual destitution on those
required. uneconomic hutdin:gs.
1LY The shortcomings of the workhouse system had been exposed once
i * Ttisclear that the acute level of the distress of 1879-81 was to rank among again, attention being focused on its inability to cope with the rigours of a
the worst experiences in Ireland during the course of the nineteenth century, large scale famine. This was especially the case in the poorer unions, where
There is little doubt but that county Mayo ravaged as it was by the disaster, large numbers of paupers pushed the unions almost to the brink of
was severely hit by its effects. In comparison with the other periods of bankruptcy. The old principle that proximity to a workhouse was the all-
distress, in the 1840s and 1860s, the level of its severity becomes very clear, Iis important factor in combating distress was negatqq once and for all. Officials
intensity was greater than that of the great famine, because all of the principal now realised that the overriding aspect had to be financial stability and a small
crops were reduced in quantity and other economic factors seriously number of rate payers could not be expected to'support a large number of
complicated the question. In contrast the great famine was entirely the dependents on the Poor Law. The union which stood out most in this respect
consequence of the failure of the subsistence crop, the potato. Fortunately was Newport and eventually it had to amalgamate with its relatively better off
the calamity of the earlier period was somewhat minimised in 1879 by the neighbour, Westport, in 1885. .
major decline in population. Even the distress of the early 1860s was not as Many Mi’-}’ﬂ'rtﬂ"a“t fi_”m“‘*_rs E'""l’-Elﬂd of the provisions of the 1881 Land
devasting as that of the following decade, as no one year was characterised by Act to have their rents judicially fixed. However the results which they
the destitution that was to be found in 1879. . anticipated, i.e. a cushn:_:n against the potato failure, failed to materialise.
It was the heroic exploits of the private relief organisations ﬁ-hu:h had Althnugh the rent ;edu-::_tmns averaged 20 per cent, they were still expected to
helped minimise the dastardly effects of the 1879 distress. There is little doubt pay their.rent during times of distress such as 1883, 1885 and 1898. This
that without their intervention the spectre of 1847 wc:ulle have once more demonstrated the_ rony which had developed during the Land League days
made an appearance. These organisations were not in existence to _ward off when people believed peasant proprietorship was the panacea to all t,hei;
the destitution of the 1840s and 1860s, and it was their exertions which saved problems. Landlord policies and spiralling rents were but minimal causal
lives in 1880. In this their task was helped by the local and national newspaper f“':‘_““; in bringing about the desperate situation which prevailed in Ireland
network which had sprung up in the 1860s and 1870s, which infp:rmad the duu:|ng the 1870s. 'I_'he real problem was a blistering symptom of a collapsin
public, both inside and outside Ireland, of the magnitude and seriousness of social and economic structure, a festering problem which eventually had to
the distress. This resulted in subscriptions being sent to Ireland from all over Fupture.
the world, especially from those Irish who had emigrated and were only too
well aware of the evils of famine. They were fortunate in that they could tapa
literate public, who were only too willing to help. s
The distress of 1879 had the effect, unlike the other cases, of precipitating
a political agitation for agrarian reform. Such was not the case in the 18405,
for the political era was on the wane because of O'Connell’s demise, or in the Nitiz
1860s because politigal activity was on the decline after the fiasco of the L sy |
independent opposition movement in parliament. However in the 1870s lh%; H.C. 1880 fﬁf; g{ﬂt‘llqg to i'l.']e relief of distress in Ireland, 1879-80, 1879-80,
were politicians prepared to utilise the agrarian situation to agiate 3. Andui m.éﬂ" i o p.3; Nation, 15 Nov. 1879
reforms. — under the ¢ local government board for Ireland, bein the ninth r
. lised local government board i g nth report
: Mayo had been very severely affected. There were many who realis® pp.45-6. + (Ireland) act, H.C, 1880, (c 2603), xxiii,
that the whole social and economic infrastructure needed overhauling, s " 3. Connaugh Telegraph, 21 Feb, 1880
was responsible for perpetuating the continuous poverty of the pc_t:g:- ;» H:u:. za_g?tp 1880, - : e ,
: : : . Ticy - _.
However there was no radical remedy which could transform their posi o ??!m . tural statistics of Ireland for the year 1880, H.C. 188]. (C 2931), xciii,

Tuke., Vi to Done

While the age old cry of land reclamation was once more aired, if W 6.
7. Connaughy Tekgmpflﬂmfﬂrguugm L 1), Rt

generally believed that this would bring no practical benefits. The m!f'r";
enlightened thinkers, like James H. Tuke, realised that a more radi®
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THE PARISH OF OUGHAVAL (WESTPORT)
A BRIEF HISTORICAL SKETCH
by Peadar O Flanagain and George O'Connell

Introduction

The present article is based on research carried out ip. 1983 as part of 4
social survey of the parish, at the request of Rev. A, King, administrator., [y
has subsequently been expanded and brought up to date by the authors, [y
deals in brief with the history of the present Catholic parish from the Patrician
period to the present day.

Qughaval -

Oughaval or Aughaval comes from the Irish An Nuachabhdil, *the new
foundation’. The English name first appears in the Ecclesiastical Taxation of
the Dioceses of Tuam, Killala and Achonry (1302) as Uchongal, and in the
Visitations of the Dioceses of Clonfert, Tuam and Kilmacduagh as Ucauayjj
(1565). In the Books of Survey and Distribution, it appears as Aghavale
(1636) and in Griffith’s Valuation as Oughaval {1855).

Patrician Roots

Situated along the southern shore of Clew Bay and including Ireland’s
Holy Mountain, Croagh Patrick, and the mid-eighteenth century town of
Westport, the parish of Oughaval traces its origins to the fifth century
visitation by St. Patrick, who traditionally founded a church at Oughaval near
the seat of the ruling family of the district at Beclare.

The Patrician foundation, of which nothing now remains, though not as
important as Aughagower, was claimed by the see of Armagh as successors to
St. Patrnick, together with Teampall Patrick on Croagh Patrick and
Gloshpatrick at Murrisk, until the 13th century, when the Papacy upheld the
claim of Tuam as having maintained these early Patrician churches.

In the seventh century an abbey of Columban monks was also established
at Oughaval under the patronage of 5t. Columcille, whose holy well is at tha
plac®. Some remains of this abbey can be seen in the parish burial ground at

| QOughaval today. This may account for the name An Nuachabhdil, ‘the new

foundation’. According to O'Donovan ‘there was a flag, or Leac Columcille,
at this church, which the people were in the habit of turning against each
other for bad luck. It was broken by order of the parish priest’.

The Medieval Period
The old Irish Annals make two direct references to the parish in the firs

half of the twelfth century. It is recorded that a thunderstorm resulted in UE
death of thirty pilgrims to Croagh Patrick on St. Patrick’s Eve in 1113 A.D.

Miille was murdered in the stone church of Oughaval in 1131 A.D. by the o
of Donal O'Dowda, but the murderer was himself killed by his own sped'

within three months ‘through the miracle of Columcille’.
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Old Church at Oughaval cemetery.

The reform of the Celtic monastic Church ;
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Murrisk Friary or ‘Abbey’.
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Friary were leased to James Garvey for 21 years, and in 1591 Owllyvally and
Knockvale were held by Christopher Garvey. The name of the vicar of the
parish in that year was Richard Ballach,

The Seventeenth Century

The siege of Kinsale 1601 ended what was left of the old Irish order and
the Queen’s writ extended to such remote parts as Oughaval. The Garveys
were confirmed in their possession of Murrisk and the church lands of
Oughaval and Gloshpatrick devolved on the Protestant archbishop of Tuam,
Except for a brief while at the time of the Confederation of Kilkenny, the
Catholic religion was not allowed in public, and church and abbey buildings
fell into decay. The friars, however, remained in the locality ministering to
the people under the patronage of the local Catholic gentry. A chalice was
donated to Murrisk by Theobald. First Viscount Mayo, the son of Griinne
Uaile in 1635, another by Friar John De Burgo in 1648, and a third by Peter
Browne of Westport in 1724,

Theobald or Tiobdid na Long was buried at Ballintubber Abbey. Friar
John De Burgo died of the plague at Murrisk, and a curious memorial to
Peter Browne exists at the ring fort of Carrownalurgan, which states “Orate
pro anima Petri Browne qui me fieri fecit 1723°. (Pray for the soul of Peter
Browne who caused me to be made 1723). Carrownalurgan was traditionally
regarded as the place of worship in the penal days and Peter Browne was the
local patron. He was the son and successor of Colonel John Browne of

Westport, an officer and iawyer in King James's army which was defeated.at
Limerick in 1691.

The Penal Laws

The aftermath of Limerick was a century of penal laws against the
Catholic religion, the public practice of which was outlawed. The bishops had
to flee and were replaced by vicar generals. The priests lived among the
people to whom they grew closer than they had ever been before. Bounty or

‘Priest Hunters' were common, none more infamous than Sedn Na Sagart
who reports in 1715:

that Patrick Duffy (a registered Popish Priest and reputed Vicar General)
is now living in Westport in the County of Mayo, and that he saw Patrick
Duify on the 13th March in Westport (old Cathair-na-Mart) in the street,
and saw great numbers of people gathering about the house of Thomas
Joyce, and Patrick Duffy came out of the house about an hour after the
multitude of people that had been there dispersed, which gave him reason
to suppose they had attended Mass there on that day.

In April 1715 it was reported to the Lords Justices of Ireland by the Mayo

Grand Jury that Teige Reilly of Oughavale Parish was dé
Gibbolane officiates in his stead. = SANsh wasighad autt thallebie

The ].'.Ill.:lhll I-'.:I.W:i remaned on t]‘“: statue l."‘l'l'uk':-'.
century, but various ways were found to

matter of property ownership. Those w

| for most of the eighteenth
circumvent them, particularly in the
ho did not wish to lose their lands




Established Church, as did John Browne in 1729, having

‘conformed’ to the .
guardians and educated in Oxford after his

being brought up by Protestant
father's death in 1724.

The Brownes of Westport :
Tohn Browne built the present Westport House in 1732 and the Church

of Ireland (Westport Demesne) in 1736. In the latter half of the eighteenth
century he demolished old Cathair-na-Mart (Westport) and built the present
town of Westport, work that was continued by his son Peter and grandson
John. The Brownes were mindful of their Catholic antecedents and promoteg

Catholic relief measures in the Irish Parliament. These Relief Acts removed
the most undesirable statutes of the penal laws which resulted in the growth of
a Catholic middle-class in the town. Westport in the 1780s had three Catholic
families of importance — the Gibbonses, the MacDonnells and the Higginses,

The parish priest of this period was Dr. Charles Lynagh (described as
Parish Priest of the Union of Oughaval and Aghagower), and in 1787 he was
given a lease by Lord Altamont for a Catholic chapel and parochial house at
Riverside. It is evident that some temporary structure was erected here on or
before this time, as the Chapel was not commenced until a quarter century

later, probably due to lack of funds.

The Rebellion of 1798
During the 1798 rebellion the West remained quiet until the landing of

the French at Killala. Westport was taken over by the insurgents and
Westport House and Mount Browne occupied for a short period.

The Gibbons family was highly involved in the rebellion and left the
country except for John Gibbons Jr., who with Friar Myles Prendergast of
Murrisk friary held out in Connemara. Gibbons was captured and hanged in

Westport and Fr. Prendergast died a natural death in 1834.

The Union
The direct result of 1798 was the Act of Union in 1801, a measure which

had the support of many of the Irish bishops who saw it as the only way of
gaining Catholic Emancipation. It was also actively supported locally by Lord
Altamont who became the Marquess of Sligo when the measure was passed.

In a report of Dr. Dillon, archbishop of Tuam, to the English
administration in that vear, we find the parish of Westport (Oughaval) listed
first after Tuam in importance, having a parish priest and two curates, withan
income of £140. It is likely that the clergy of the parish at this period wert
regulars of the Augustinian Order. There was also an Augustinian at Munﬁ

iary. One of these priests was the Rev. William Cusack who died in 18 4

aged 52 years, and to whom a later inscription

Murrisk friary — ‘Revdus Gulielmus Cusack de Aoghavale Rector Obiit AL
i

1812 Aetatis 52'.
132 1,
Ya 1

is to be found near the altar

= . ;

Memorial to Fr. Cusack in Murrisk Abbey.
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Stone in front porch of St. Mary'’s.

An interesting tablet was erected over the front porch of the church with |

the biblical inscription from Genesis, Ch. XXVIII:
This is an awful place. The House of God Erected by subscription and the
strenuous exertions of the Most Revd. Oliver Kelly aided by the

Parishioners A.D. 1813,

The ‘offending’ words were subsequently hacked off by another |

generation and the tablet has recently been re-erected in the front porch of
the present parish church.

Fr. Bernard Burke
On his appointment to the see of Tuam, Dr. Kelly retained his position

as P.P. of Westport which then had an income of £300 per annum. As he says
himself before a select committee of the Lords and Commaons (1825) ‘I did
apprehend that perhaps if I did send another priest to the place he would not
be very kindly received by cértain individuals there, and I thought that an
unpleasant difference would be avoided by taking the parish in charge
myself’. He refers to the poverty of the people at that time and requested the
priests not to be too exacting in collecting the usual dues. In fact, he himself
received less that Y5 of the revenue of the parish.

In the year 1821, he appointed Fr. Bernard Burke to administer the
parish on his behalf. Dr. Burke, a colleague and lifelong friend of Dr. Kelly,
entered into the task with zeal. He completed the church and its interior
built outlying churches at Drummin and Lecanvey. In 1824 he built the
Parochial Schoolhouse at Castlebar St., (Now Hughes's Wholesak
Warehouse). The schoolhouse had a chequered history. In the 1830s it was#
National School, and was subsequently taken over by the Sisters of Mercy If
the 1840s, to be followed by the Franciscan Brothers in the 1850s, and later b}
the Christian Brothers in 1865. The Christian Brothers remained there ff

over a century. :

i -

Catholic Emancipation
As a result of the efforts of Daniel O’Connell, Catholic Emancipation

was granted to Ireland in 1829, The occasion was marked in the parish by the
lighting of bonefires on the hills and the erection of Emancipation Crosses
One such cross remains at Thornhill, Lecanvey, on the shores of Clew H-”
crected on the lands of the MacDonnell family. : 2

Population il
The Commuission for Public Instruction gives the followirg information

about the parish of Oughaval in 1831:
633 Members of the Established Church.
13913 Roman Catholics.
17 Presbyterians.
78 Other Protestant Dissenters,
In the Roman Catholic Chapel in Westport
There were 2 Masses on Sunda}fﬁ[,} one everypwecif&{;{:]‘:;%zg:gﬂﬂsduﬂass'
and Holydays in Lecanvey and Drummin. : 2y

Dean Burke Parish Priest
Fr. Bernard Burke was elected Dean of the Chapter of Tu iti
- v a am’
whmhl he held until his death. Shortly before his deafh on a visit maiti?;nmz
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Westport. The brief of appointment from Pope Gregory XVI was found
amm]ljgst DE Kelly’s effects after his death.
ean Burke was first on the list for appointment to
: the
Tuam. but the bishops of the province decided on the appnin:?ntﬁa:tt Tﬂﬂnf
JuhnDMcfll-Iaie. Bishop of Killala. Sy
n his first visitation of the parish in 1835 he w
) as welco
Eﬁ;kfﬂe‘;l;%ﬂ I;e_hifldfrﬁ::ently transferred to Kilmeena only mﬁdﬂsgﬁg
rief of his appointment as P.P. of Westp b 1
led to appeals to Rome by the archbi wit X pﬂ-ﬂme}rﬁthe S
_ . 1shop without an
;r_as the last parish priest of Westport wh]::- was not any;rl::hb' h ke
1sters of Mercy g

In 1841, the Dean appli
! pplied to Mother McAuley. fo :
of : ey, foundress o
Ve e rom oo PR, din e ollowing yar e ssir
Cullen). The sisters resided v o 0. Paul Cullen (a sister of Card;
: ded at first in the Dean’ rdinal
Mall), while the conve 3 ¢ Dean’s house (Gallagher’s. Th
Vea nt was under constructi itat 2RNG
given by Lord Sligo. Dean B 1 5200 Lo e at Altamont Street
task of fund-raisis (e Durke contributed £200 himself and set ab
g the balance (£3 000) th o about the
ec A roughout Ire
onvent was first occupied in 1843, the schools cunstlfull?cznii ?Qflgﬂla“d'

. hool, and i
daily fo Sehool, and in the first year of the fam; :
t‘th}win; :ﬁsi‘tﬂllldren by means of a grant from mﬂ"g‘;;g'ﬂwded_m?ms
0 Westport by their agent Count Strzelecki ThE?Sni?“_latmn&

: inistere

135




. i H1 L o Iﬂ tl L ﬂl.."'l.\.'!
” h T Were [ |-|.L'l'; |l._'|' VT |t 1 Ih.'i. |'|. = '"‘LI '-i[-':- wi LLt !I"
I A WGy W SLT L Y W i b b ] ¥l I 1

‘ahernamart. . .
ned workhouse at Cahernar : ars worked h: hand wit
n.:}'ruylh_lt.i [: rochial clergy during the famine years worked hand in h: h
1€ pE ¥ - T

t Y i >v. Patrick
. - iched Church. and both Dean Burke and Rey
- clergv of the Established Church, anc _ St o
2 LlST*H lf:{-_-cl‘lar were members of the Westport Relief .{_If.illlfllll_I’tlt.::hﬁ
Pq““t Ln.nun 'md.lhc rector were all to die from the famine fever 1 ese
priest, a : 3
years.
Post Famine dominated by political questions,
The post-famine years were dominate e : :
A h]h?:-;mg John McHale and the Dean took filffi:rﬂﬂt hldL'hf':"? :ﬂ]r[:: ‘S}Pﬁ‘;{:x
=]r::~ri-:m in 1857. The archbishop’s man was George HE.I".} «d{h ' petition by
;'-I“I'I a Catholic landlord, who was elected but was unsuﬂlt_.ff I} Fi fiend n‘}
[hd ._};;in“q man, Colonel Ouseley Higgins of Westport, a life long
o v il
R S 61 a visit to Rhyll in Wales, Hig
»an Burke died on 20 July 1861 on 8t i
r::mu[i::;d:-'ﬂn: brought back to Westport by his nephew, Ft'.‘ J Tz:g:r?dd\ﬁ“::
he ex -enw of Charles McDonnell a local merchunt. [‘II'E_ Was ey
lh Lh'ph L’1|TEir of the church. The remains werc das_,lmerru Il.ﬁl' 20 L
;esun*.:tgruc‘tiﬂn of the church in 1959, and are now h"n.c_d‘ :‘{mr :ﬂ ::Lm%rrlﬁ:lntt
high altar near the entrance to the prﬂﬁenllﬁhﬁch. Thlre.ni 1-15[‘:1 zﬂ:;crm}l g
ini 40) years in Westport, - .
e Dean, who ministered ﬁrﬂr : e o
;l:!rrzﬁenl church, erected by his friend Colonel Ousley Higgins

is McHale
ﬁffhgl:h&[i;-l;:;:h {;:f Dean Burke in 1861, Westport reverted to a mensal

parish with John McHale as parish priest, a situation which has remained to

. sent time. : 1
e PE}?m::{cHaie introduced the Franciscan Brothers to run the school at

Castlebar St., but they did not remain for long in the Pﬂ.riﬁh an‘glt;r:;:fs;ﬂhfﬂ

again became a national school in 1851. _Deag B:.:{é..; I?nﬂti - T:.[f]ur'l-sh o
is will towards establishing the Christian Broth arighar

gﬁ}:;:ied[; fuhd to be used towards providing prizes for the students

i Brothers : ’
e g;r}:?rlagavanagh came as curate to Westport in 1847 and founded

i He
At by the Sisters of Mercy.
len Home at Altamont 5t., to be run o
?g:ﬁg; TI'I:E Christian Brothers to Wcstpnrt‘. and they were n;fer;?ahheai :
schoolhouse on Castlebar St., the Dean’s rr:slu_icnce ﬂl? the g
mt}nastery; and an annual stipend of £]l'33{] "I: add;l:rr;zcilﬂ itﬂ EAILI.E? ol
annu; llection in the parish. The Brothers 1 2
dﬂﬁgrt:;rﬂﬂseph White as superior, and the school opened on 8 May wit
pupils. One of the brothers was to die shortly of the fever.

Lo ; and |
Father Cavanagh was transferred as parish priest to Knock in 1867 @ |

; o
was elected Archdeacon of the Chapter of Tuam, It was during this pe
that the Apparitions took place at Knock.

TR e T S NI
T L ="y e P -

| ﬁrue Cov thlaket
VERY REV. BERNARD BURKE,

The heloved Pastor of (his Parish

And Bean of the Avehdiocese.
This bumble Tribuie is erected by Mis admiring-and devetnd Friend

COLONEL OUSELEY HICGINS.

During His Pastoraie- Distinguished for Meek ness Piely-Integrity of Life
5. % nar less for ihe wi lar Love of hie cheriched Flark,
He ndorned the Parish by ihe evertion of

THREE SPLENDID ..« COMMODIOUS CHURCHES,

andin this Town founded Institutions of reat Public Uiliny

ld"'ﬂhﬂlﬂnl o =

_ ., Tor the
RELICION, EDUCATION .4 CHARITY,
Universally revered and regretted He ealmly resigned his Pure
and Pious spirit i ihe Hands« of His Creator
an the XX 1 day af July, A.D.MDCCCLXL in the
- Lxxymr of His Age & XLIX of His Sacred Ministrey,
Dean Bernard Burke meni

Land League

Archbishop McHale during a visit to the parish in 1879 heard of a
meeting which was to take place on Sunday 6 June, in connection with the
land agitation and which would be altended by Michael Davitt and Charles
Stuart Parnell, M.P. Dr. McHale immediately wrote a public letter in the
national papers condemning the meeting and on that Sunday preached at all
Masses in St. Mary’s Church.

The meeting, however, took place and many thousands attended. and
the speeches were reported in all the papers. This meeting was to lead to the
formation of the Land League later in the same year, and following three
years of agitation the first Land Act was passed in 1881, the same year which
Was to see the death of Dr. John McHale.

Dr. McEvilly, Archbishop of Tuam 1881-1901
Dr. McEvilly, his coadjutor, succeeded him.

Louisburgh and lived until 1901 He was Succeeded by
Clonfert, :

Dr. Iéealy, Archbishop of Tuam ;
Dr. Healy was very interested in history and Iquiti

pr!lEUlHl: in!emst in the Patrician period, le:}r W o ey

ancient pilgrimage to Croagh Patrick. and he bui

of the mountain in 1906 and institut t
Pl ed the mode

He was g native of
Dr. Healy, bishop of

L and took a _
as determined to revive the

It the oratory on the summit
rm National Pilgrimage as we




He also gave an address at the opening of the Town Hall which had beep

purchased by Canon McDonnell, Adm., for £500, and a community hall wgg
built at the back of it. The building was once the town house of Charleg |

McDonnell. |
Dr. Gilmartin, Archbishop of Tuam 1918-1939

By the 1920s the original gothic building with its galleries had become tag
small for such a large parish, and Father Patterson, Adm., embarked on the
task of providing a new 5t. Mary's. He travelled to the United States to raise
funds, and as in the past, the merchants of the town and the small farmers of |

St. Mary's — today.

the parish gave generously.

The project was a major one, costing over £30,000 and took four yearsto |
build. Land was acquired at the Shambles and the new church incorporated
the old gothic facade on the Mall. The dedication took place in 1932, the year |
of the Eucharistic Congress in Dublin.

The dedication of the new St. Mary's church was performed by His
Excellency the Apostolic Nuncio, Archbishop Pascal Robinson, together with
His Grace Most Rev. Dr. Gilmartin, Archbishop of Tuam and Parish Pries
of Oughaval, and His Lordship Most Rev. Dr. Morrisroe, Bishop of
Achonry, who preached the sermon on that historic occasion, The new St,
Mary’s was the largest church in the province, and had a peal of eight bells, to
which a ninth was added from the old St. Mary's in 1961. A commemorative
booklet was issued in 1933, Fr. Michael J. Daly succeeded as administrator in :
the same year. .

; Piaeld )
) PR Dr. J[',“EE,',} "?’:lsh Archbishop of Tuam 1939-1969
. r. Waish, a native of Newport, succeeded to the see of § i
; ’ t. J
1939.[ and received a very warm welcome in the parish. et
- [_n July 1940 Dr. Walsh and Dr. Michael Browne. Bishop of Galway and
T T — twr.:l é‘;’sﬂti!’;_lﬂg" 51'1; lf:je parllsh, led the National Pilgrimage to Croagh Patrick. The
gt il iy uished prelates gave a mag g : :
T :,rﬂar]uf TheiSecond D "-g‘-"ar. ajor boost to the pilgrimage in the first
. natinwltgi? !E' DHI:I-F Was succeeded as administrator by James Canon Fergus
subsequent| ouisburgh, who was transferred to Ballinrobe as P.P., and
Burk-:l:q et ¥ dppointed to the see of Achonry. He was followed by Fr. John

In 19(;;"?5[‘”& for eleven vears as administrator., :
deHosE e .:.:; Blll:kﬁ"- was SUEEEEC!Ed by Fr. Thomas Cummins, who
Stricture. fag fmn;.‘mu_a task of completing the new St. Mary’s. The old gothic
undertaken thirg en Into disrepair, and it was decided to finish the task
with the demolition ot Tﬁgw{dhy Canon Patterson. The work started in 1957
\ - Burke were discovered dﬂ church, during which the remains of Dean

;Ili hi jitiieat construction, By 1961 . 1, "'FEI‘ the High Altar and re-interred in the pew
| LA ‘T that year a numper of 1© Tatncian year, the work was completed. Durin

LU ichael =% MAJOr ceremonies took pl t &

rOWne Blﬁhﬂp of G | place, a tEndEd h}" Mﬂs'[ RE\[_

h : diway, Most. Rev. James Fergus, Bishop of

South Mall and St. Mary’s Church (Wynne Photograph - circa 1874). Eminence Cardinal D*Alton {ﬁis?‘ﬂp o T}UET‘ cnorc e e
ative of Claremorris), who visited Croagh

1.“ »
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Patrick for the National Pilgrimage that year, The dedication was performed
by His Grace, Most Rev. Dr. Walsh in August of that year,

"~ In 1965 the Christian Brothers celebrated their centenary in the parish,
having built a new monastery, with primary and secondary schools in the

demense.

Dr. Joseph Cunnane, Archbishop of Tuam 1969

1971 saw the departure of ‘Canon Tom' from the parish. He was
succeeded by Fr. Eamon O'Malley, who commenced the refurbishing of St
Mary's after Vatican 11, with a new lay-out of the Sanctuary and High Altar
under the dome of the church. He also proposed the refurbishing of the Town
Hall, which had fallen into disrepair, as a community and sports complex for
the parish. This work was carried out under the chairmanship of Fr. King and
a local committee, and the new complex was opened in May 1973 by the
archbishop.

In the same year His Grace made an important change in the Croagh
Patrick National Pilgrimage, changing it from a night to an early morning
climb in order to stamp out abuses.

Fr. Mtﬁﬁae! Walshe, His Grace the Archbishop of Tuam,
Most Rev. Dr. Walsh, Rev. P. I. Gullane, at St. Mary's, 1961.
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In 1980 Fr. O'Malley was appointed as P.P. of Kilmeena and Fr.
Anthony King succeeded as administrator. He carried out the conversion of
the old stable-block at the rear of the presbytery, into a modern parish centre
with lecture and meeting rooms. The Centre was opened by Dr. Cunnane in

December 1983. \ .
Westport Social Services Committee, which had operated for many years

in the Town Hall, undertook the major project of providing a new centre for
their operations and, with the co-operation of the Sisters of Mercy, a new

Socia! Services Centre was opened and blessed by the archbishop on a site in
the convent grounds in May 1986.

APPENDIX 1

PARISH PRIESTS OF OUGHAVAL
Dr. Charles Lynagh (became bishop of Achonry).
Fr. Wm. Cusack (buried Murrisk Friary).
1812-1834 Dr. Oliver Kelly (became archbishop of Tuam).
1834-1861 Dean Bernard Burke (buried St. Mary’s Church).
1861-1881 Dr. John Mchale, archbishop of Tuam.
1881-1901 Dr. John McEvilly, archbishop of Tuam.
1901-1918 Dr. Healy, archbishop of Tuam.
1918-1939 Dr. Gilmartin, archbishop of Tuam.
1939-1969 Dr. Joseph Walsh, archbishop of Tuam.
1969- Dr. Joseph Cunnane, archbishop ofFTuam.

c. 1780-1803
1803-1812

APPENDIX 2
ADMINISTRATORS OF OUGHAVAL

Dean Bernard Burke.

Fr. James Ronayne.

Fr. Patrick Caulfield.

1884-1890 Fr. John J. Begley.

1890-1893 Dr. John P. Canning,.

1893-1894 Fr. Peter McGirr.

1879-1900 Fr. Thomas Healy.
1900-1910 Fr. Michael McDonald (became P.P. Burrishoole).

1910-1920 Fr. Richard Canavan (became P.P. Carnacon).
1920-1933 Fr. Patrick Patterson.

1933-1943 Fr. Michael J. Daly.
1943-1944 James Canon Fergus (became bishop of Achonry).

1821-1834
1861-1875
1875-1884

1944-1955
1955-1971
1971-1980
1980-

Fr. John Burke (became P.P. Kilgeever).

Fr. Thomas Cummins (Canon 1968, P.P. Lackagh 1971).

Fr. Eamon O'Malley (became P.P. Kilmeena).
Fr. Anthony King. :

—_—— =

1826 Fr
1831 Fr

1837 Fr. Wm. Feeney.
1845 Fr. P. Jennings, Fr. J. Waldron.
1846 Fr. T. Gibbons,
1847 Fr. Bartholomew Alovsious :
1861 Fr. Patrick Moore. S Cavdnagh (became P.P. Knock 2807
1865 Fr. Patrick Caulfield (became adminij
strat
1866 Fr. Thﬂm_ﬂs Carr (became 3 bishop in ruglrrzli?zjﬁl
1867 Fr. Francis J. McCormack (became a bishop in A trali
1869 Fr. James A. Ward. E etralia).
1872 Fr. Patrick Lynskey.
1875 Fr. John J. Begley (he admini
B Luftui v (became administrator 1884).
1884  Fr. P. Canning (became administr:
1888 Fr. Michael Diskin. it
igg{'}; Fr. Michael Higgins.
Fr. Michael McDonald (b Ini
- Er. ol (became administrator 1900).
r. Richard Cana Ini
1905 11 Jar g van (became administrator 1910).
;g?g gr, ;{hﬂmas A. Owens.
r. Patrick Patterson (became admin;
1919 Fr. Laurence Lyons (Lecanvey) IR,
Fr. John A. Burke
1920 Fr. John Gibbons
1923 Fr. John Godfrey (Lecanvey)
:ggg ll;'r. Michaﬂi F. Hanrahan
Fr. Michael J. Daly (became administrator 1933)
1934 F: }"Tﬂtkhy Gunnigan \
- John Keaven
:939 Fr. Patrick Ruanz.mcamﬂ'
940 Er. Patrick O'Grady
r. James S. Diskin |
} gi ; gr. s Jenningsfn (Lecanvey)
1944 F: ﬁi%&:ge (became administrator 1944).
1950 ]l::r. ;’I?_I’Ia‘h Carl:lnmE?lns (became administrator 1955).
r. Thomas G. Crui
;3;; ]l:r. Patrick J. Gullane. Les)
1958 i joomas C. Lynch

; APPENDIX 3
CURATES OF OUGHAVAL

. P. Tuffy, Fr. Walsh,

. T. Keaveney, Fr. T. McCaffrey,

+Joseph Scott (Lecanvey)




1962 Fr. Dominic Grealy (became administrator Tuam, P.P. Knock).
1964 Fr. Eamonn O'Malley (became administrator 1971).
1968 Fr. Christopher Kilkelly.
1969 Fr. Tadhg O Mériin (Lecanvey).
1970 Fr. Anthony King (became administrator 1980).
Fr. James Walsh (Lecanvey).
1971 Fr. Peter J. Gilroy, S.M.A. (temporary).
Fr. John Cosgrove,
1974 Fr John Loftus.
1976 Fr. John V. McHale.
1980 Fr. Tomas Treacy.
1984 Fr. Francis McMyler.
Fr. Patrick Costello (Lecanvey).
1986 Fr. Noel Forde.

PEADAR O FLANAGAIN: B.A., B.Comm. Officer in charge, Westport
Order of Malta Ambulance Corps. Local historian and lecturer. Founder
member and Vice-Chairperson of Westport Historical Society.

GEORGE (O’CONNELL: Well-known and popular Westport electrician.
Member of Westport Horse Show Society. Founder member and First

]l:rcsidem of Westport Historical Socigty. He has lectured extensively on local
istory.
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